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New 6rleans La. November the fourth.
Dear Ralph and Henen;
Just a fiew lines,to inclose with the book.

I received Hellons letter,and am glad fo know,U.B. is some better,and hope he
will be alright again socon.

I have been quite busy,lately,which I do not mind,when the weather is nice,but
- today I must go to the club,and tomarrow,to the crippled childrens home, to help
with the meiling of Holloween and Chrisimas seale,and it is a nasty day. |

To get to the Childrens Hospital, I must take the west end. bus, transfer to the
Metairie bus,then to the Louisiana bus,and finaly,to the Tchoupitouls (prounounced
Chapitulis) and it requires one hour and ten minutes,to make the trip,one way.
There are several of our members go there. and the other Groups,also send mambers.
Some of us go in the morning,and some in the afternoonsand there are members working
every day in the week,axcept Sunday.
I am able to address envelopes to the people in about four blocks of the doan~town -
district,in the three hours I work, so you can see,it is a big job.but worthye.
In Ralphs letter,he spoke of the good qualities of the Golden Age Club. It seems
that New Orleans has started something. There is a.lational orgenization, just
been completed, and NORD feceived a letter from Minneapolis,asking for instructions
as to how,best to organise a Club there.

I want to tell you folk, there are many ﬁistakes,in my book,partly because of
my inability to typr properly,and partly because of my carless spelling.
I apologize,for both,in advence. Tell U.B. I am thinking about him,and pulling,all the
time,

You lknow, I em sbsurdly healthy,and hope to stay that way,but am not taking any
chances,or exposing myself to bad weather.

Love to all, Clyde.
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* THIS IS MY LIFE *

Writen by Clyde A.Thorpe.
I am writing this story from memory, except,some of the birth dates, of
which I have a record. Consequently.there may bé some erors but.lor the most part,
I believe it to beysubstentialy correct.
I heve a remarkable memory of events that occured fer in the past,but become some-
what hazy,concerning more recent events.

Names eand places far in the past,are still very'fresh in my memory. I remember
quite well,when the location which is now,.the-Town of Conrad,was just four corners,
on the road to Marshaltown. Thére wae a cemetary on the south-west corner,that was
moved two miles west,when the Chicego end North-western Railroad came through and
established the Town of Conrade. I must heave been,four or five years old,at the time.
I have never been arrested. I have naver been called for Jury duty. I have never
been called as a witness, in a Court of law, except as an expert witness,in ceses
concerning machinery. I guess,I have been luckey.

I have never lived in & commumnity,it was not a pleasure to re-visit.

My past employers have seemed more like associates, than bosses,with very fiew
exceptions.

I can give all the names of the people who lived in the neighborhood of my childe
hood, although,most of them have passed away,long ago.

The location af places and homes,are as fresh in my mind,es though I were looking
at a diagrem of the old neighborhood.
. My work,es an Engineer,has teken me to many places, and I will endever to tell of
those places, and the things that occured,while I was there.

To those places,end the many friends I made while there, I dedicate this story.
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'The question of who I am,end where my encesters ceme from, I will answer,to the -
best of my ability. My Father,wass Monroe Thorpe ( christianed,William Monroe )

He was born in Buffalo New York,in 1835, I do not know the exact date. He was
the youngest child, of William Thorpe, end Alvira ( Hoak JThorpe. He had four
Brothers and two Sisters. The Thorpe Family ceme from England, iﬁ the early Golonial
days. My Sister Nettie, had the Femily traced to the Isle of Mamn, but I have little
faith in the findings of those concerns, who try to find all the branches of ones .
Family tree. But we do lnow,they came from England. The Hoek Family, also ceme from
England, but they came from Liverpool.

Grend Father Thorpe, was & wheelright, end the inventer of the fanning mill, a
device for cleaning grain. He was one of those.old time machanics who,if they would
build a wegon, would go into the timber, cut down hickory trees, store them in a dry
places;to season, end build his wagon the next year,or later.

My Mother,was Sersh Annett Lemmon. She was born in Sendusky City Ohio, in 1838.
Her Pather,was Uriah Blake Lemmon. He,was born in France, bul was brought to this
Country be his perants,while quite younge.

Mothers Mother, was also born in Freance, but I do not know how old she was,when
she came to this Country, I do know,however,she met Mr. Lemmon, and-ﬁﬁﬁﬁ married, in
the United States. Her Maiden name,was Mc Intush ( a French lady,with a Scotch name)

My Mother had one Sister,and three Brothers, &ll of her Brothers were lLawyers and
polititions, and her Father was a Magistrate.

Moneroe Thorpe,end Sarah Lemmon, were married,in Clyde Ohio, in 1859. Their first
child,died in infancy. There were five other children,born to Monroe and Sarsh Thorpe.

Eettie Alvire, was born in Lorene Ohio. September 17, 1861.

Nettie May, was born in Lorene Ohio, Jenuary 27th. 1863.

Clyde A. was born in Marshaltown Iowe, September 27th. 1868.

Gertrude Olive, was born in Clay Township,Grundy County Iowa, January 16th, 1877.

Urish Bleke,was born in Clay Township,Grundy County Iowa, July l4th. 1878.

Hettie and Nettie,are both deceased,and I just received word of Gertrudes death,

whieh occured, May the eighth,of this year. jo=8,
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UyBy .now lives in Grand Mound Iowa, near De Witt, and Clyde,now lives in New Orleans.

As this story has to do,with Clyde A.Thorpe,end he only, I will carry the history
of the rest of the Family no farther.

In the small,frontier Town of Marshaltown Iowe, on Church Sireet, -at the home of
Monroe end Sareh Thorpe, on September the twenty.seventh, in the year of 1868, a Son
was born. Dr. Waters said,the new arival,weighed nine pounds and six ounces.

This was their first Son, and they nemed him, Clyde Alonzo. The first neme,in
honor of the Mothers home Town, Clyde Ohio,and the second, for an older Brother of the
Father. |

This is my story;

My Father,was a professional wrestler,in his young days; He,and a friend made the
trip,from Ohio,to the new west, in a covered wagon, on either side of which,was a sign,
‘ reading, we wrestle all commers, for money chalk or marbles. This was quite a chalange,
and it was called,meny times,during the trip. They started from Ohio,with two horses,
and $50.00 each, and arived in Marsheltown iowa, with seven head of horses, and §750.00
Fether was offered 40 acres of land,on the Lake front,in.Chicago,for a horse, but
turned it down. The Chicsho, Millwaukee and S8t. Paul Railway depot, stands on the o »
spotynow. While wondering over the vergin,Jowa prairie, Father bought 80 acres of
land,for $2.50 per acres. This land wes 18 miles northfﬁzzi of Marsheltown,and 9 miles

ezl
southeeégt‘of Grundy Center, the County seat of Grundy County, and at that tlme,go
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more than a wide place,along the trail. 5Soo< 7 o T5g ﬁﬂé e E-

o
211 the prairie,around it,was covered with blue stem crass, socalled, because the

joints were & bluish color. These stemé,grew to a hight of three,to four feet,with

e cluster of leaves,or blades, at the wocts. This grass grew,on the higher land;only,

the lower sections, called sloughs,were covered with a heavy groth of course grass,

called slough grass, which was much used,later,for covering stock shelters.

T
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There were no trees,not even a bush,that grew as high as the blue stem grass.

Father returned to Chio, end the whole Family made the trip,in a covered wagon,
in the spring of 1867, and established e home in Marshaltown. Father going into the
potash business,temporarily, while meking preperations for tackeling the job, of making
a farmyon *the 80 acres hg had bought.

In the.spring of 1869,Father loaded lumber,and other building materials,in his
wagon, .and headed for the prospective farm,which he could find only, by the surveyers
stekes, which would have been.a big job,after the grass had grown, but was not so
dificult, earler- in the spring. After locating the place,he proceeded to buiid,a
cabin, which was known as the shanty, for meny years. And a sod stable, the walls of
which,were made of sod, plowed up,from the prairie,and layed up,like brick, layer =
upon layer, -and covered with poles, hauled the 16 miles,and”this,covered with slough=
.grass. At this time,there was a sod house, three miles away, that had been put.up by
snother settler, earlier that spring.

.Before returning for his Femily, he plowed a 20 foot strip,all around the buildings,
as protection,from prairie fires.. This strip,would.not stop e raging prairie fire,but
would allow the settler,to start a backefire,and by the time the two fires met, -there
would be a wide strip of burned over, land,snd the home would be saved. This menence,
occured only, after-the first frost,in the fall,and before the first snow. .

After a great amountiof work, Father,returned to Marshaltown,and loaded his family
and household goods,into the wagon, and they started. for their future home, leading
their only cow,behind. They realised, it was going to be a tough life, and they knew,
KREOHWRXX there was an emense amount of work lying before them. It required a StouZi:
hart, and a great emagination. No neighbors, no Doctor within nine miles ( soon after
they were settled,thare was a Doctor,established a hore, three miles from them, but
they did not know he was comming.) his neme was Dr. Penfield. He wrote no perscrip=
tione, for there was no place to have them filled, but carried what medicene he would

use,in his saddle bags.
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Natﬂréaly, I do not remember any of.the foregoing, but accumulated thg Iknowledde

frém my Father and Mother,end remembered it so well, becauée it seemed to me,to have
been a great adventure.

By the tlme I was old enough to know what was going on,around me,half the country
néar ue,was settled. Youmng groves of maple and box-elder, were beglnlng to appear
Ail over the prairiefand willow hedges were visable,along the farm lines. 'he groves
were planted on the north,and west of the bulldlngs, as protectlon from the winter
'blizzards. There still remained however,vaab tracts of vergin prairie,that‘had been
bought up,by eastern speculaters,who had never seen it,and probably, neve} wouid.
These tractsywere of great value to-ihejsettlers, for they could cut-the grass,and
put up hay,for which,there waé always,a ready merket,in Chicago. There seemed to be
aﬁAundérstanding smong the settlers, concerning this grass-land; If one wanted éo
meke hay,on a certaﬁn tract, he would teke his mowing machine,and mow 2 swath around
the desired section, andbno one else w;uld bother‘it. There weré'some,who wquld
preempt more than they could use, but for the mosf part,it worked,quite well.

In this néw Country, there wés a shining example,of co-operation,without ofgani—
. zation. The farmers,would help one another, exchanging work,without any thought of
Leeplng urack of the time. The idea seeming to be, you help me,and I will help you.
If one of them,became i1y, durlng plant1nv time, or any time,that delay would cause
him loss, his neighbors would gather at his home,eand his work would be brought up
to date, in short order. If his home were burned,or dlsuroyed by storm, the Naigh=
bors would be on the job,amediately, not only,tc simpathise with him, but to get the
necessary materials,; and re-build the lost ﬁome,without delay. And,while the men,were
doing the work, the ladies would gather et the nearest home, and prepeir . food, and

they all,would make a gally affalr of the whole thlng. I have often tnought of these

oca51ons, as belng the most Chrlstlan gestures, I have ever known.



In the fall of the year,it was beying time. As I have said, each farmer, hed his
patch of prairie picked out. The grass would be cut,and left on the ggouﬁd,to cure,
or‘dxy, then,it would be reked int& bunches, and stacked,on fhe spot.

After going through the sweat, it would be baled,and shipped to market; There would
be staecks of hay, &s far as the eye coula; see, by the time the haying was éompletedo
ThereAwere no choice of 1ooa£ions for the stacks, just so,the grouﬁd was a little hige
her, so the w&ter would not stand dnder them. Dﬁfing this time of:year, every one was
extrévcarefull,about fire, aﬁd oftén,there was great loss, in spite of the extra prec—
caution. T

Tﬁere were no,eétablished roads, on the prairie, just trails,where the first to
go that wey, had driven,as near a be—iine,to his destination,as the sloughs would
pernit. A stranger coﬁld follow,ﬁhat seemed to be a well £rave1ed road, fiﬂély,comm—
ing to a hay steck, onlﬁ to firdd,he had reached the end of the road.

Many,became lost, on £he prairie, especialy,at night. It was like being oht on the
ocean, wiﬁhout 8 compass. I remeﬁber,one night,I was going home,from a neighbors, and
stepped,oﬁk of the tréil,and coﬁld not locate it again; Thinking I knew where I was, I
ke§£ walking, finalg coﬁming‘to a hay stéck, and there wes & sﬁacker, by it,that I had
seeny,many times,from the trail. Thinking I knew just where the t}ail was, I stérted in
tha£ direction,and soon,came %o ahother hey steck. and?theie?ﬁéé”thé7sé&é*oid'stéﬁker,_
end knowing, when one walks‘in a circle, one is lost, I worried no more, but dug a
nest in the side of the stack,and went to sleep,until morning. When I awoke, it weas
dayiight, and Iicould sée fhe trail.plainly.

I seem to be gétting aheéd of my stor&;‘ Lets gb bect to the method of making a
homé, on the wild Iowar brairie. M

I do not suppose thereia:e mahy people, who have had experience,with the old style
breaking plow, that was used to furn over the sod, fo} the first time. There was no
moldboard, but it waé equipped with a cutting share, to which was att#ched, a fin,for
cutting the edge of the furrow, and steel bars, attached to the share, in such a way,

they would turn the furrow over,after the share and finn,had cut it loose. The sod,

was very tough, some times,there would ba & hundred feet,or more,without & b¥eak in it.



7.
It required about two years,for the sod to rot enough for a seed bed to be made in it.
To help the rotting process,thea farmer would sow flax seed over the.suiface, and .tHe
first rain,would wash it between the sods, and it would come up,in rows, shading the
groundyand keep it moist,which would cause it to rot'faster; and‘in the fall, théy
would derive a small profit. Quite often,they would drop seed potatoes in every third
furrow, and cover them,with the next furrow, and in the fall,the sod could be turned
- back,' end there were the new crop of potatoes. The size of the potatoes,as well as the
size of the crop, depending on the amount of rain,there had been during the summer.

Garden truck,must wait until the sod had rotted, or the sod stripped éff,and thé
seed bed,made in the sub-soil. The crops raised, after the soil was ready for culti-
vation, was mostly corn, but there was oats,for Horse feed, barley,to be cooked for
the hogs, alsb,wheﬁt and buck-wheat,to be taken to the grist mill, and ground into
flour, the bran and shorts,being brought home,to feed to the milch cows.

There were plenty of wild game, such as prairie chickens, which were very numerous,
and were easy to capture. We use to makevfraps,from lath, put togather like chigken
coopss They had two,trep doors in the top, made of wide shingles, hinged,near the center,
and weighted,so they would close automaticaly. A short stick, fastened to the side of
the trap,sharpened at the top, end an ear of corn stuck én it, for bait. The chickens
would endever to light on the trap,so they could pick the corn, and the trap doors
would let them through, end they could not get out. The noise they would meke, seemed
to attract others, and some times,w@hlé#gétfour or five, in one trap?“A grown prairie
chicken,will weigh four to five pounds, and are’very'good eating,except for the small
bones,in their legs. Pfairie chickens are very wild, they cannot be kept in captivity,
I have found their nests on the prairie,and takem the eggs,and set them undér a dome-
stic hen, bﬁt as soon as they would haich,they 'would run end hide, and would starve,
rather then, come out end eat. I am convinced,their extremely wild nature,is the cause

of them,not being able to survive,after the Country was settled.
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Quail,were quite numerous,end real tame. I.hawve seen them eating with the domestic
chickens,in the barn yerd, and there are quite a number of them,still in their old
haunts. Wild ducks,of various kinds, wild geese &nd brandts, were quite plentifull,
during the spring,end fall flights. There were many,cotton teil rabits, but they
were not good to eat,during the summer Months, but were quite good,during the winder,
and it was great sport, hunting them,in the snow. There were some, jack rebits, but
not meny, until one went farther west. My Brother and I were out hunting,one day,and
one of them jumped out of a bunch of grass, right in front of him. He_stood‘and wate
chad it, until it was too far away,to shoots I ask him why he did not shoot ?; gosh,
he seid, I thought it was a calf. There were great droves of sand hill cranes, that
were a great bother to the farmers. They would straddle a row of young corn,end pull
up every hill, teking one Btep,for each hill. They loved.sprouting corn. The areo-
plane reminds me of them. They must have a runway,to take off.

There were meny wild pigons, along the streams, in the timber, but they were hard
to shoot, because of their extremely swift flight. Ve use to go to the timber,in the
daytime, and locate a pigon roost ( a tree,whgre they gathered,at night),and g0 bgck,
after dark, place a smdge pot under the tree,and throw sulphur on the fire; and piek
them upyes they fell. Killing and dressing them,after ﬁe.got home.

This method,however,soon exterminated the wild pigon:
There were some,wild turkeys, but they were mostly gone,before I did much humtinge.
During themetting season,the prairie chickengfyould gather,on some smothe piece of
ground, and put on,a regular wer dence. The males,strutiing around,their wingg draging
. the ground,and the little,wing-like projections,sticking streight out from the side of
their head. They would make their peculiar mating call, like Boom Boom Booo:o,'we kids
use to cleim,they said. Demned ole fool.
They could be heared, in all directions, during the sprin% Months, every morning.

There were literaly,thousands of them,when I was a boy.
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The prairie country was infested with kyotes, some fox,but not manj; mink,weasels,
and skunks. 4ll of which,preyed on the domestic fowls The kyotes would steel little
‘pigssalso. They were sneak thieves,running in pairs. One wéuld get on the oposite .
side of the house,from the pig pen,and set up & howl,and all the doga would teke out
after him, while his partner mede & sneak,on the pig pen. The farmer,soon learned to
grab his gun,end meke for the pig pen,for well did he know,%haye was & kyote at the
pig pen,vwhile his partner entertained the dogs, if he did get one, the two of them would
fight like devils,to see who would get the first meal.

The kyote became such a pest,the County offered a bounty of $2.00, for each skelp.
The young fellows,vorganised kyote hunts,and some times, would meke quite a stake
selling the skelps. This,soon brought the pests under controle.

There were a fiew timber wolves,along the streams, snd they were quite demgerous,if
eny one were caught out,at night, but they were soon exterminated, for they would xrhﬁ
in packs, meking redes on young stock, at night, quite often pulling down a yearling,
gryeven a two year old,heifker. The settlers would meke simular raids on the wolves,
knowing they would be enjoying & long nap, efter gorging themselves on the kill,

Ground squirrels,were a great bother to the farmers, and were trapped,continuesly,
because of their digging up the planted crops.

The most dengerous thing on the prairie,was the Prairie masoga ( rattle snake)
a short,heavy set,fellow,w&%h a deadly bite,and a dispisable diséositiond There were
many other snakes. The garter snake, the green,or grass snake, the blue recer, who
kept clear of the buildings, and the bull sneke. All of which were harmeless,as far
as their bite»Was concerned, and were known to be of benéfit,around the farm buildings,
for:they killed many rodents, but,the bull snake,was a questionable charicter, he would
 just as soon have & nice young chicken, end was particularly fond of fresh eggs.
He wes a big fellow, some times,as much as 8ix feet long. he had to be gliminated.
After the groves became prominent,the screach owl made his apperance. He was &

chicken thief,alsc. The only song birds,we had origonaly,was the Meddow Lark,with his
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ile-cle =picaloo, song, bﬁi after the groves became prominent,there were many.came,
both songsters,and others. the bird we called our mdcking bird,was the brown thrush, -
who kept his everlasting song,going,the live long day. He would mimic any bird he
could hear, even the roosters crownig,end the hens cackeling. Thereswere meny hawks,
of variouskinds,and an ocasional,beld eagle.ﬁ

There wes no fruit on the prairie,except the wild straw berry, a small,but very
sweet berry, that was much prized. In the timber,however,there was a great emount of
fruit. There were plums,crab apples,grapes, and some,black berries. There were hick=
ory nuts, wall nuts, butter nuts and hasle nots, all of which,grew in great sbundance.

Several times,each year, we would peck lunch, emd the whold Family would go to the
timber, taking buckets and bags, ariving,about sun-up,and spend the whole day,gather-
ing the particular treat, that was ripe,at the time. The grapes were guite.sour,but
made exelant preserves,when sweetened. The crab apples were very sour also, and quite
hard, but improved very much, after a long stay,in the cellar, and made wonderfull,
spiced pickles. The plums were very sweet, and were & great find. Father,dug up some
of the plum trees;and treansplanted them,at home, and soon,we had plums,without going
16 miles,to get them. Most prairie farmers,bought a half acre of timber, for pole,and
fire wood supply, but the fruit that grew any place in the woods, was free,to any one
who wished to gather it, for there was enough,for all,

I remember,quite well,when the Chicago,Burlington,and Quincy Reilway ceme through
Grundy Center. The farmers were so well pleased,they put on a barbeque,with all the
trimmings, when the first pasinger train ceme in. This gave us.a.market, much nearer
‘home, and we could make a trip,every dey, instead of three trips a week,like,when we
hed to haul every thing to Marshaltown. The next summer, the Chicago and Northwestern,
came through,and established the Town of Conrad, which was only five miles from our
place,and we could meke two trips,each day.

About this time, Father bought another 80 acres,adjoining our origonal farm,on
the south, meking a square quarter section.

This eighty, had a small house,and bern on it, and Father, started the breeding of
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hambletonion troting horses. I.use to get so darned tired of exersizing embro tro;ting
colts. Driving one,three or four miles,hitched to a high whealed sulkey, unhitching
hlm,and<§stch1ng up another, day after day. Some of them turned out quite well however,
1 remenber Father selling e.sjx Months o0ld colt, for $500.00,which was a lot of money,
those days. |
As soon as the capitalests found out about the enormus crops that were berng growny .
in this new country,and the great herds of live'.stock, to be shipped, there yere raile
roads criss crossing the coontry,in every direction, which gave us a chance‘to sell
our hogs, without butchering thenm.

Before thls time, we had to butcher all our hogs,and cure the meat, before we could
sell it. %The cattle could go to market on their own feet. Stock buyere;would cone
through the country, buying up the eastre that‘were ready: for mark et, collecting great
herds of them, and drive them to Chlcago, lettlng them feed,along the way, so they
would not 1oose too much weight. But the hogs,could not make this trip, and it was too
far, to haul ﬁhem,inlfreighf Wwagons. ‘ —

Butchering 25.6r 30 head of hogs, is no small job, and when butchering time came,
whlch would be late in the fall,_ a11 the neighbors would gather at one farm, for the
oca31on, and a flew dsys later, at another farm, and so on,untill the butchering was
all finished,for that year. My Job,at butcherlng time,was to catch the hogs. I had a
dog,that would catch,any hog 1 p01nted out,to h1m, and hold it,untill the . men got a
good hold of it. He would nip,their hind leg,and when the hog turned, he w011d 31nk
his teeth astride their nose,vthe only tender spot,on a hog, and the porker would
stand and squeal, no'matér: how lgrge-it.siight be. I have seen him catoh & 400 poumd "
sow, just as easlly, as a small pig. ThlS would not have beer 80 bad, but Jack would
not work for any one,but me. The butchered pork, must be taken care ofyat once, or it
would spoil. There were no refrlgeraters,ln those days, exceptywhat nature provided,
Wnlch was the reason for déing the butchering, late in the fall.

The hams  nd shoulders would be trlmmed, the slde meat, cut into squares, and all of it,

pickled,in brine, strong enough to float a fresh egge All thé fat,#a31trimmed off



12,
even the'guis were trimmed of all fat, and enough of them:turned insideout, and the
_inner memﬁrane removed, to hold the sausage that would be sold. All the trimmingﬁ,
from the hems and shoulders were made into éausage, and what was to be kept for home
use,was fried,and packed in hot fat, layer upon layer, in five and ten gallon jars.
Thee fat,was rendered (cooked ) in large kettles, until all the moisture was gone,
lﬁwhich was determined by dipping & cotton string into it, end holding it up,end setting
" it on fire. If it burned without spluttering, it was done. ‘
Aftgr the meat was pickled,and had been in the brine,long enough to be saturated
all through with salt, it would be hung in large smbke houses and smoked with hick=-
ory wood. After the hogswere cut up, the rest of the work,was done by the women,
except the smoking. Nothing.was wasted,that could possibly be used,or sold. EQen the
fat that was‘cénsideréd uhfit for teble use, was saved, and used for making soap, which
was made,by leaching wood ashes. The leach ffombwhich,was a strong lye. This was
mixed with theAgrease (lard) and cooked,until it beceme soft soapy if it were desired
to have the soap in bars, it would be poured into iarge dripping pens,end set in the
sun,until it bacame hard enough to be cut into bars,eo cakes. The ashes were leached,
by pouring water into the tops of barrels,tﬁatﬁhadgheeﬁ filled with wood ashes,from
the stoves and fire placeg,‘during the past year. As I have said, nothing was wasted.
Once é year, we would kill a beef, This was done,after:the weather had became very
cold, so £hé meat would.freeze,when it was hung in the smoke houée. This meat,was‘the
gams a8 you now have,in your deep freezefs. Note"= the barrels that the ashes were
in,for leaching, -had small holes bored in the bottom, and were placed on a platform,so
thé iééch.would drain into vesels, plécgd ﬁﬁderrthe spouio |
If the beef ﬁas not all used,before the warmer weather came, if would be corned,
ané some of it;cut into strips,end dried. |
| The country was settleing fast. There was a settlement of Presbyterians, establie
shed, ebout three mile; from our place. .They built a Church,and established a cemet=-

ary. Theysalso had a U.S. ?ost Office,esteblished; it was called,the Allice Post

Office.
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Not fgr from ﬁhai} settlement,there were a colony_of Dunkards,settled. They als§

built a Church. These.peoble stgrted the cultivation of tobacco, and iﬁ became quite

an iﬁdustry,until the worms,became uncontrolable;'f;he Dunkards‘were a credit to the
community, bﬁi stayed pretty much t6 themselves.

Q The live stock was improving;very rapidly, bofh in numbers and quality. Théfe were
large hérdé of young ﬁaﬁtle,éollected every spring, and driven farther west,ﬁhere they
,wére pastured, on the open prairie, during the summér, and driven back,in the fall,to
be corn fed,for the Chicago merket. All the cﬁttle,must be branded,before being teaken
to the collectiﬁg yards, vhich was a iarge farm,west of our place, owned gy Mr. Ash
Barnes. I,well remember,what a job it was,sorting‘out our cattle fromvthe rest,when
they were returned,in the fall. 4

Work,on the farm,was hard. It was from four Oclock in the morning, until the cho-
fés werg done in the évening. But,ﬁe found time to play, and could seé nothing wrong
with our way of iife. Every thing we did,was fun,be it work or pley. If one wishes
to ha&e the‘thrill of seeing a job well done, oné mﬁst,first finish that job. That was
a leson we lea}ned,earley in life. Do not get the idea, all of the work was done by
the ﬁen; It was just as tough for the women, as it was for the men. A garden was
plowed end harrowed, for them in the sprlng, and from there on,it was up to the Ladies,

—to prov1de garden truck,during the summer, and to see to 1t,there were all klnds of
food preserved,for the comming winter. And I am here to tell the world, the Ladies,
made good. Tomato cénning,was one of the greatest tasks; Tomatoes,had been thought

pdiéan“uﬁﬁil”recéﬁély, My Mother told me of raising tomatoes in the garden,when she was
girl, and causioning the children,not to ﬁsuch them,or.they would be poisoned.

They were calied,love applgs. These tomatoes,were vine ripened , carefully selected,
and.seasoned. They were very good. There were no‘canning machines, not éven,the Mason
jar,ée are so familiar with. All,must be préserved in two quart,tin cans, and sealed,
by pouring hot wax;over tﬁe top. There were'cucumbers to be cured in brine, with just

enough alum, to make them crisp, freshened again, by soeking them, and pickled in

in vinegar and spices.

T
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The house §ives, made their own vinegar, from apple cider.

Green péas, lima beans ect, to say nqthing §f the fruit,that had been br§ught
from the timber, plus,goosberries, grapes and plums,that,later were gr&wn at home.
Red,white,and black currents,to be maﬁe into‘jelly. This ﬁofk was al].donéby the
Ladies,and they were often called on,t§ drive a team, during harvesq and haying time.

v
They also,did the greater pgrt of the miiking,and hadvall,the care of the milk, making
the butter, and cottage cheese ect, ﬁot only for homé use, but io be traded for goods,
at the sbores, consisting of, groceries, boots and éhoes, and cloth for meking clothes
for the whole family, and after buying the cloth, théy made the clothes. lother,always
had a due bill,at the general store, not being able to take goods for all the produce
she dellvered, consequently, no grocery blllSo
When I was quite young,the‘wire binder,made its appéarance, designed to take the
éiace of the men, doing the binding of the grain, ét harvest time. It was short 1iv-
ed, for the small pieces of wire,left in the straw,killed ﬁany cattle. Itﬁﬁés not long
however, bhefore tﬁe twine binder camé, and it wasba suécess,from %he start. This,was
the Applegee, binder, made as an attachment,to the Mc. Cormic harvertegy

Before.the self binder.cémé, all the binding of érain,was done by hend. First,
being picked up from the ground, where it had been left,by the cradelers, then,”
from where the drop-mower had left it, then,vhere the self raké had ieft it, and fina=
ly, two men, standing on a platform, on the harvesting maching;‘wﬁere the grain was
cut,and elevated to a table,before them, where they would bind it,and throw it eff,
and another man,following them,would gather up the bundles and place them 1n shocke,
to keep the weather from spoiling the grain. Father told me,of-cutzlng gra1n,w1th
the‘craile, right after the eivil Qar, for 25 cents fer day. The cradle,was made
like & sythe,with fingers attached to the snathe,to catch the grain,as it was cut,and
carry it to the 1eft, leaving it in a w1n-row,where the binders would plck it up.

There was an old cradle,around the place,but I never saw 1t,1n use. Mother had an old
spinning wheel,also, but I never saw her use it.
Noﬁ,to go back,once more, to bring up another pasé of frontiel life.

About the first political activity,was to organise a public School system.
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There was soon a School house every two miles,in each direction, located st every
.second Section line. There were four terms,every year, spring, summer, fall and winter:
The first three terms were teken over by the girls,end small boys. but the winter
term,was dominated by the big boys. The boys that were large enough to work, went to
School,when thare was nothing else to do, and during the winter,there was nothing tg do,
but the chores, and they could be done before School time,and after School,at night.

Quite often,there would be em exception to this rule, for the fire wood, fot the
next year,must be brought from the timber which,in our case,was 16 miles aWaY .

Well do I remember, getting up,at four Oclock in the morning, getting three teams ready,
and hitched to three bob-sleds, driving to the woods,sitting on the rear bob, with our
feet resting on the front roller,( there were no boxes on the sleds;Ajust stakes,to
keep the poles from falling off) the:weather ranging,ény place,from zerosto 15 or 20
degrees below, starting in time to reach the timber at, or before,sun-sise.

Ned Fox, Fathers hired man, driving the lead teem, with the second team hitched to
\the rear of his sled, and me,bringing up the rear, so I could watch for any thing thet
might fall off; Todls,ectes

Ned would cut down the trees,and I would do the best I could,irimming off,the limbs,
Eating a frozen lunch, and getting ready to start home , about sun down. This ,started
for me, when I was eight years olde We would meke three trips each week, until there
wes enough wood collected,to last until the next winter. I especialy,remenber. one .
very cold day,we made that trip. It was so cold, that Ned,walked every step of the
way home, while I was wrapped up,in blankets, atop one of the sleds.. Every little
while,ned would call me, and meke me get down,and walk,for a while, he said it would
start my blood,to circulating. One time,when he called me, I would not answer, 1 was
so sleepy, I did not went to be disturbed, but he climbed up,end pulled me off,and
cuffed me around until I wes aweke enough to walk. He probably saved my life, for

when one,gets sleepy,with the cold,and are allowed to go to sleep, they probably,.

will never wake upe.
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I was also introduced to the walking plow,when I was eight. What I mean by the

. walking blow, is the plow,that one walks behind, holding to a pair’ of hendles,try-
ing to keep the thing,right side up, in a position to turn 8 true furrow. In my case,
the handles were above my head, so I had to reach up,to grasp them, and meny times,I
. was'thrown,head over heals, when the share:struck a red-root. To meke maters worse,
my -plow was pulled,by a yoke of oxen, and if there is any thing,that will make a boy,
loose his religon, it is plowing,with & Moke of oxen. The near ox,will step out of
the furrow,which lightens the load, and well does he know it. There are no lines, the
- only way to controle them,is by word, or the bull whip,snd an eight year old Boy, is
not very proficent,with the bull whip. Do not ask me,why the right-hghd ox is called
the near ox,and the other one, the off ox, for I do not know. All I know is,that is
the bull=-whackers jorgen. I was also introdiced, at this time,to the harrow, where
the boysrides the center horse,of a three horse teem, pulling a sharp toothed harrow,
and if the boy should get sleepy,and fell off, these teeth would make short work of
hime. This has been known,to happen..

Yhen I was ten years old, I contracted inflemitory rheumetism, d4#8 was on erutches,
"nearly two years. I well remember, my dear Mother, sitting beside my bed, rubbing
my legs,with hot, salt and vinegar, trying to stop the pain, enough for me to get some
sleep. The one thing I hold against my Father, is the fact, he would hitch up a team,
to the riding plowscarry me out to it,end send me into the field,to plow. This,did
not last long however, for the lever on the plow,would strike my knee,end made me so
much worsé, I could not stay on the seat., ' My right leg, drew up,under me,so much,I
could not sit down,without sitting on my.foot.

My sickness proved to be a blessing in dnguisé, for I was able to go to School,
two summers, thet I would have missed, had I been sble wo worke

Getting back to the Schools, There was only one room,in the building, end one Teac-
her, taught the whole School. The differan{ divisiong were knowvn by the reader,the
pupil was studying,at the time, instead of grades. they - were,the first, second,

third end fourth readers, and after we finished these, we would read history.
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In erithmatic,we started woth notation and numeration. Then,to the multiplication
" tables, which we learned,farward and backward, end then,were required to give thr cor-
rect answers,at random. From there, we went to orial arithmatic, which I still think,
was the best math, training I ever had. Next,we were giﬁen,the old Reys arithﬁatic,
end believe you me, when one has mestered that book, he is a mathematician, period{/

In the reading class, we were seated on a long bench, each pupil would be calléd
on, to read a stanza,or a vérse,and the class would discuss the merits,or demerits of
the effort, the Teacher acting as referee.

The spelling class would stand along the wall, Teacher would pronounée'the word,
the pupil would pronounce it again, and endever to spell it. If the word was spelied
correctly, Teacher would pronounce the next word,to the next pupil, if it were not
spelled correctly, Teacher would simély say next, and so on,untill it was correctly
spelled, and the pupil who spelled it correctly, would advance toward the head of the
class,tb a position;'above the‘one who first,mis-gpelled the word.

Beforé the.class wes dismissed, they would number,from the head, like , first,
second, third, ect, and the one ﬁho stood at the head of the class,would take their
position.at the foot, the next class, but would get a head mark, for every time, they

were at the head,vhen the class was dismissed, and the one who had the most head,marks,
at the end of the term, was declaired the champion speller,for that term.

Periodicaly, there would a spelling contest, at the School house, These contests
were held,in the evening, and the whole neighborhood,would'attend. There would be two
pupils chosen,to choose sides,generaly, a boy and a girl. They would choose’ their
édntestants, alternately, untill the whole school were standing, on one or the other
sides of the room. Teacher,would pronounce'the words,the same as in the regular spell-
ihg class, except,when & word was missed, end the one who missed it, would teke their
seat,'and the next in line, on the other side of the room, would be given the worde
This would continue, until there was only one person standing, and that person,would

receive the coveted prize.
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ane a year,therelwould ?e a. spelling bee,at the center School, followed by an
’Nentertainment.

_The next pub;ic enterprize the settlers tackled, was a highway systems
Thgre was a board of Supervisors electgd, one)from each Township,in the County.

The?r job,wgs to supervise the congtruction,or repairs of the highway, or appoint

a Road Master, for that purpose, in the Township. Each male, past 21,was required to
pey a tax, of twq Dollars, each year, which could be paid in cash{ or worked out, on
the road. A person was allowed a:Déllar forleach daysvwork, or two Dollars,for a man
with a team. If the tax was peid in cgsh,the Money was used to buy materials for
colverts, and road scrapers. A receipt for the payment of the taxwes réquired,at
the poles, but the tax must be paid, whether or not, one voted. The roads were ogt=
ablished on every section line, and graded first, where needed most,rin the opinion of
the road Master. But,if a.settler thought he were being slightéd, he could present a
petition,to the Board of Supervisors, and e hearing would be ballgd,where'he;c§u1d
present his celeim, and any one in the Township, could present their opinion, for

or against the petitioner. And the findings of the Board,were final.

The sibcial life, was simple,and pleasant for'every one. There were no sogial
~outcasts , for reasons of poverty or riches. There seemgd to be recognised lines, deve=
iding the social groups, genmeraly, consisting of School distrigts, possibly,because of
School entertainments, where they became better aqﬁainted. Or Church activities,which
were held at the School house. The more closly associated groups, were the nearest
neighborse. There . alwa;s was a big Sunday dipner, at one of the near peighbors
homes. Some times it would be at our home, some times,at Mr. Martins, tha nexit Sunday,
.at Mr. Woods, end so on. Making it a pleasure for every one,and a hardship,on none.

- The men would get togather,and discuss 109&1 politicks, to the prospective crops.
The boys,would be chasing around the neighborhood, on horse back, chasing kyotes, or
having en ocasional horse race. The girls would gather in some secluded place,and what
they talked about, I certainly do not lmow. But, the Ladieslwould‘congregate, in the

kitchen,and what a dinner,they would produce.
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There was one thing,allcould depénﬂ on, every one would be there,at dinner time,

There were settlers whos judgment end 8bility was recogrised by everjy one, and
?hey, naturely became leaders.

~ If there wes any person who was openly,dishonest in his dealings with his ﬁeighbofs,
they would‘find‘life very unpleasant, and the best thing for them to do, was to leave,
in fact, it would become compulsary, if their perfidy continued. There were very fiew
criminals, however, among the settlers, and those who did, show up, were politely invie
ted to leave. And,in case they ignored the invitation. Well, they left, anyway. the i
latter procedure, was practiced only, after due consideration,and undeniaﬁle proof of
their guilt. There was no mob action,at any time.

There was a farmer ? thief, in the Hollend district, that plied his trade for some
times There was much stealing of pigs,and young stock, as well as, grain, and he was
not caught,untill one of the farmers,agcretely, hired =a detecfi?e,who came into the
neighborhood,as a farm hand, end played the part of a feble minded fellow. Some time
I will write a story,about him. The culpret was soon caught, in the act of stealing a
bunch of young pigs, and was sent to jail,

I think tthother boys in the neighborhood, led bretty much tha same life that I
didy In fact,there was no other way. +there were a fiew molly,qoddleq,but, ‘there was,
~ éhrocasional one. That was not the proper invironmémtdo produce them, I knew of only
one, snd I met him,ater he became a man, and he was just the seme.. His Brotherinlaw,
had appropiated most of his Fathers estate, and would not listen to his wishes ect.
Whining, instead of fighting back.

In the winter time the young folk would have parties,the highlight of which would
be a sleigh ride. The box,on the bob sled,would be filled with straw, there would be
plenty of blankets, we would,all pile in, and while the bells jingled, and the crowd
shouted end laughed, the driver would manage to iip the whole crew, into the snow, at
least once; It:was.ail for fun,and every one enjoyed it,emensly. lso,during the winter,
there would be meetiggs,at the School house. There would be,dialogues, resitations,

pre-aranged debates, and ocasionaly,there:would be a magic lantern show, which was

the fore=rumner of the motion picture shows.
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‘The School house,was also used for religous meetings. Every Sunday,there would
be Sunday School,f%liowédﬁ$ya sermon,delivered by a Free Methodest Minister, who
preached , hell fire and brimstone. The Church came,when I was about seven years old.

Most of the political arguments were held in the general store, where the farmers
would gather,ocasionaly, using cracker barrels and nail kegs,for seats, and,wo be unto
the polotition who had failed to keep his promices.

I have chronicaled the life of the people who made Iowa, and a very happy life it
was. Yes,it was tough,and the people who lived it,were‘aslo tough. Most of thém,had
lived,most of their lives: there,if net all of it, and if there was any thing better, i
they did not know of it, consequently; no yerning for a change. We young folk,‘had fiew
cares, and the sad moments were soon forgoten. Hard work, made us sppreciate the fun
we had, all the more. And,we had the satisfaction of seeing & wilderness,turn intod a
garden, knowing that we,were a part of the force,that brought that changé about.

But, there is an end,to all things.

1554 _ _
o When I was 16 years old, my Mother beceme ill, and Father decided to take her to

Ohio, where,it was thought,the Doctors were more skilled. Our farm,was rented to Mr.
Walker. I was sent,to live with my Sister Hattie,who had married Ned Fox,and lived |
on a farm,in Tame County. It was & large farm, known as the Delglish farm. My Sister
Gertrude,was also -taken by Hattie, while,my Brother , went,to live with my Sister Nettie,
who had married Winferd Hinckley, and lived on a farm, in Clinton County, near Delmar
Junction, in eastern Iowa.

I worked on the farm, until the next spring, when Father brought Mother back,with
no hopes of recovery. Mother stayed with Hattie, and Father decided to go back on the
farm. He proposed to take care of the house,and do the cooking, while I did the farm
work. I know'now,it was a foolish move, but I was so keen to get back to the old neig-
hborhood, I was willing to try any thing. I was happy to think I was going back to

" where I could be with my old associates.

I did not khow,then,that those +tlies,once broken,will never be the same again.
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I bhad six head of horses, working three in the forenoon and the 6thér three, in the
afternoon, which"gaveithe horses a chance to rest, but not me.

My old chumg,” were jus£ as kind and considerate,as ever but, somé'how, I had gotsen
out of stride. Anyway, I had no time to try and get in step again, for my work kept
me busy from sun up,to suﬂ’ﬁown, seven deys,each week. The weeds grew'fdster then I
could plow them under. Of course,the effort was a feilure, the idea of avi7 year old
boy, farming a hundred and sixty acre farm, was too foolish to mention. But,I did the
beet I could, and after I had picked what corn I did, raise,and had it in thé crib,
Father seid we would give up the whole thing, end I hed better get myself & job,and
shift for my self. |

Cold weather hed set in,by that time, most of the corn had been picked, and there
wag no other work to be done. All the clothes I had,were on my back, andFI must have
work of some kind,for I must have heavy under wear.

I found that Will Lyons, had a fiew acres,still in the field, and got the job of
picking it, at two cents per bushel, end as I could pick 80 bushel per day, I could
soon have enough, to buy myself some clothes, |

I soon had enough to buy & couple of suits of under wear, a cheap suit of clothes,
end a pair of shoes. It wﬁs ny first'dustom made suit, I had élwayé worn home meade
jeens. The shoes were my first,also, I had alweys worn boots. But, it took all my
mohey,to buy them. I did not worry too much however, for I had more corn to pick,and
could soon meke it back.

Sundsy evening,efter I had bought me clothes, I went to Town with some of the boys.
We were riding in a light wagon, and on.the way hoﬁe, another bunch of thé bdys, on
horse back, caught up with us,and of course,there had to be a race.

Will Stover passed us,and just as his h&rse entered the road,shead of us, he fell.
There wés e terable wreck, his horse wes killed, end every one vas thrown from the
wegon. Luckily, no one was badly hurt, some of the boys lost patches of skin, but,I
had my left thumb thrown out of joint. One of the boys held my wrist, while enother,

pulled my thumb,back inte place. But I was through husking corn, for that year.
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I ﬁas out of a job,and broke.

I was too proud to go to my Siste;, and finaly found a job with Mr, Sharp, who
wggva stock feeder. I was to take care of a bunch of fatening steers. Mre. Sharp had
a Son, who was to g to>School. George,was my own age, end I traded my suit and shoes,
to him,for ;sheép lined, ducking coat,a.nd a pa.:.r of’ felt boots and over—-shoes, I had
to have them,if I were going to be working in the feed lot, durlng the winter.

I thought I was set,for the winter, when George was expelled from School, and his
Father told him,if he could not go to School,he must go to work. And I was out of a
job againe. they said I could stey with them,until spring, end help George, but I knew
George needed no help, and that the offer was just a friendly gesture. I would have
none of that, eand found a job with Mr. Mast, who gave me my»choice of working for my
board end going to School. or working full time, and he woqld pay me,$4.00 per Month.

Realy, I had no choice, I had no clothes fit to wear to School,an@ no Money,with
which to buy books. So, I worked for hinm, ihree Months,end drew $12.00. It was during
my stey withVMr. Mast, thet the worst storm,in histqry, came through. It was & nicey
vorm day, too worm,for that time of year. I hitched a team to the wegon,and went
into the field,for a load of hay. I had the load partly on,when I noticed a black
cloud,in the north-west. Soon,the wind changedv;nto that direction, énd I knew,there
was trouble brewinge I jumped onto the wagon,end headed for the barn, and got there |
just in time, for the storm had stguck, and the air was filled with f;ne SNOW, thg cut
the féce,like sand. It was & large barn,thet sheltered all the stock,under onr roof.
1 I drove inside, and closed the dooys, end went to the back,and drove the stock .
that were in the back lot, ingide end closed the back doors. Then, I unhitched the =~
team,and proceeded tg do the evening choresf

-1 wes ready to go to ihe house, about five Oclock. Vhen I opened the bafn door,and
looked out, the snow zwae so thick in the air, I could not see, two feet from my face.

?here was & fence, leading from the barn,to the road,and another,leading along the
road, to the houge. But there was a sixteen foot gate, in the road fence,and I was
afraid @o try and negociate that gap, for the gate was open. I went back to the barn

end got a rope,and tied one end of it to the gate post, and held to the other end .
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until I located the other side of the gate, and so,to the house. |
That storm struck Dakota, about noon, end many School children perlshed trylng to
get home from School. Some Teachers kept the chlldren at the School house, and some of

them, weré compelled to burn the seats, after the fuel supply ha&gbeqnaekhausted,in
order to keep the children from freezing. I heagd! of one case,vwhere the Teacher had
~ to tear up;éxfart of'the floor, for fuel. But, those:were the wise ones, they sa#ed
the lives of the children, that were in their care. |

My Mothér had pdésed aﬁay, last September, and wes burried in the Beaufifull
Cemetary, at Bemen Iowa. I had notliing to keep me in the old nelghborhood, and when
_Frenk ILynn told me, he was moving to Pocahontas Cowunty, and,lf I wanted to go out there,
his Brother in law,would give me a job,on his farm. This Brother in law, lived out
there. Frank,said he could get meAa pass,‘for taking care of the stock,in route.

I excepted the offer, and once more, I was heéded for {he new frohtier, |

In the latter part of February, 1887, we loaded two‘caré, with stskk; farm mache
inery, ana house hold goods; and headed for the new west. A

Ariving‘iﬁ the small Town.of Rolf, earley in the afternoon,of a cold and rainy
day, we unloaded the stock,into thesﬁaékyard. My neﬁ boss,came to Town with extra
teams, end we loaded all the goods,into the wagons, and I was sent for the cattle.

Someone,had left the gate open,and the cattle were gone. As I have said, it wes é
cold,and reiny day, the rain freezing on the ground, and we could see the hoof marks of
the cattle,on the ice,vshowing,in which direction thay had gone. I waé sent after them,
on foot,and alone. fhey had ﬁeaded south, going with the étorm, end when I overtook
ihem,it wes nearly darﬁ. I had ﬁot séen any signs of habitation: in the whole distance
I had followed them, just,the wild end wind sweped prairie.ﬁ

The only way I coﬁld tell the direc£ion, was by the wind, and I knew thet could
chaﬁge, at any time. I waé quite sure I coﬁld £ind the ?ail Roﬁd, eand if I could
’tell which way I was from the Towﬁ, I should be Qﬁle to find the Town. I had a lot
of trouble driving them against the storm, but,after a long time, I got them back into
the stock yard,and went,to find the folk. They had gone, It was about eleven Oclocke

at night,and there was no one in sight.I walked up the Towns only street. There was
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oﬁly one light in sight,and thet was from the window of a large building, the sign in
fron t of whieh, prociaihed it to Be the Cantral House. I was cold and wet,and must
find shelter, 80,1 tried the door,and found if,nct locked; Going inside,I found only
one person there, an old gentleman, sitting in a rocklng chalr, sound asleep.

The thlng tﬁaiétiught my eye,was & large heating stove, and it was good and hot.

I honkered down behind»that stove,and proceeded to get worm; I remained thare for some
time,when an elderly Lady,came in,form the bacic. She looked et me,for & moment, gave
me & pleasant smile,and went to the ﬁan, shook him,and said. Miles,wake up,we have Com=
panye. After asking me a fiew questions, she led me into the.kitchen,where she had
buckwhet cakebeﬁtenraising, prepeiritory for for next mornings’breakfast. I do not

‘bellece I ever tasted better food,than that good Lady served me,that nlght. And then
she showed me a nice bed,and I was soon,sound asleep.

I have never forgoten Mr. and Mrs. Miles Coffln, with whom,I became ,very well
aquainted,later.. Bear in mind, I was a big,huskey boy, the gize of a men ( Pive foot,
eieven inches) weighing one hundred and eeventy fivevpounds, with a boys face. I was
any thing but soft, but enough’is a plenty, I needed rest,and got just that,throﬁgh
the kindness of those good people.

Mr. lwna arid’ Mr. lyons,came to Towm the next mornlng,and we drove the cat le to the
farm. No questlons, no excuses, I suppose they thought I found tha cattle, just back
of the stock yard. But Frank knew I had no money, and where he expected me to stay
durlng the night, I will never know. .
| 1 started to work for Mr. Lyons,the first day of March, at $18.00 per Mohth, inclu~
ding board and washing. The Family,consisted of Mr. and Mrs. Lyone, two smail boys,
the hired girl,and my self. I do not think, I ever knew,two mere lazy people,thah

Mr, end Mrs. Lyons. The hired girl and my self, did all the work,that wag done on that
farm, for the next nine.Months. But we were well treated, had plenty of good food, a
good place to sleep, and no quarling.about any thlng. OQur work waebcut out for us,and

we did it #o the best of our ability, and there was never any complaint, and we were

paid for it. Vhat more could we ask ?.
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Mrs. Lynn and Mrs. lyons,were Sisters. Mrs, Lymn,was a twin Sister of Montie
Sharp. They were the children of Mr{ and Mrs. Sharp,for whom I worked, part of the
first winter,after leaving home. The Sharps,had snother Son, who I mentioned,as being
expelled from School.

_George: yag & harum,csarum sort of a fellow,.while Montie,was a goody,goody boy.

The Sisters were telling each other,and the world, what a shame it was, that George
was such a disgrece to the Family, and wondering why he could not be more like,dear '™
Montie. He was such a lovely boy, so polite, dressed so carefully, and kept such good
compeny.

About, 20 years later, I visited the old neighborhood, and this is vwhat I learned,’
about the Sharp Femily. Mr. and Mrs. Shaerp,were quite well to do; Before he passed
away, he gave the home place to Montie, consisting of eighty acres, highly improved.

He gave George an eighty, across the road from the home place, and built a small house
and barn,on it. He gave each of the Déughters, eighty acres, deviding a smell ; amount .
of lMoney, between the four, his Wife having passed away,before he.

As I have said, about twenty years after I had finished working for Mr lLyons, I
visited the old neighborhood, going to Beman,on decoration day, to visit my Mothers
grave. Having nothing better to do, I called George,by phone,and ask if he were comm-—
ing to Town. He said he had not entended to,but for me to wait for him,at the Post
Office, and he would be right down. That rascal knew my voice, after twenty years.

I got the whole story. George had married one of the Conrad girls, they had a
large Family, mostly grown. He was living on the Mel Good place,which he had bought,
he still owned the place his Father had given him, he owned the old home plape,which
he had boughts  from Montie, and both of the places, the Father had given‘to the girlse

He told me,he was entirely out of debt.

Montie was working in a small clothing store,in bemen, and 1;ving in‘a”rentgd pome.

I learned more about the old neighborhood, from George,than I ever expected to
leayn from eny one. And,through him, I met meny old friends, 1 would)not have lknowm:

where to find, otherwise. I might add, I had = wonderfull time, thanks to George.
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Now, back to where we left off.

During the summer I worked for*Mr, Lyons, I drew $6.00, to buy overglls: cnd plow
shoes. My'contfact called for me to work,until the corn was in the crib, and I finis=
hed that job, the first of December, making just nine Months.

Mr. Lyons paid'me $156.00, which was due me,after deducting the '§$6,00, I had drawn.

There was still some corn in the field of some of the neighbors,and Mr. Lyoms told
me, in case I would like to make a little extra money, I was welcome to use one of his
teams,end husk a little corn, by the bushel. Providing,I would meke my home with them,
while doing ite I picked 2000 bushels, and left,for Marshaltown,the fore part of
Jenuary, 1888.I was 19 years old, last September,and had all the farming,I could stend,

On my way to Marshaltowm, I decided to visit me Sisters;all of whom. now lived in
or neer Berlin, in Tame County. I arived in Gladbrook, Saturday evening,to find, there
was no train going to Berlin, until the next Monday afternoon. It was only seven miles,
and I decided to walk. I arived, in Berlin,quite late, and meking inquiries, learned
where Win and Nettie lived, and went to their home,end rapped on the door. Win,came to
enswer the summons, and I noticed,he did not recognise me. I ask him,if I might be
allowed to stay all night, and he informed me,there was a Hotel,up town, but I was ready
for theat one, having lived there,I knew the reputation of the Hotel, and told him I
had been there, end did not like the looks' of the place., He seemed to agree with me,
and wentsto ask Nettie, if she could fix me a bed. She ask him,what kind of a looking
fellow it was, eand I heared him say, oh,he is a respectable looking chap, and she told
him,if I would wait, outside,until she came down and fixed me a deb on the couch, I
mighf staye.

‘After a vhile,Win came to the door, and told me I could come in,and go to bed,and left.

The next morning, Nettie sent my Brother in,to ask,if I would have breekfast with
‘them, wheh%‘j\;.:w:;? me,he jumped into bed,with me. Win,finaly ceme to the door, and
turned,to tell Nettie, That darned kid, is in bed with that fellow. I heared her say,

you derned chump, that fellow, is Clyde. I got a good wooling,but it was worth it,.
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When I arived in Marshaltown,the first thing I did,was to look for a place to beard,

an@ found it, with Mrs. Cole,on Church Street, just two blocks from where I was born.
. I was to pay, $5:50 per weeke It was a nice place,woth plenty of good food; and a
nice room. Mrs. Cole proved to be a real nice Lady,anﬁ did every thing possible to
make thingsipleasant for her boarders.

The next day,I cglled on the Marshall School of Engineering, and was informed, I
must secure a contract,with some  approvéd Machine Shop before I could enroll in the
Ehgineering class, of the School. There were three such shops,in Town, and the first
one I called on,was the Frederick and Shorthill Machine works, and discovered, the Mre
Frederick,of the firm,was an old friend of Fathers, and I had no trouble, getting to
worktfor thems I left their place, with a two years contract, as Apprintis Machinest,
and was. to get the magnificent sum, of $3.00 per week.

Thking my contract to the School, I was enroled for a two year course, paying the
full two years tuition, in advance. I had very little Money left, but I was sure of
being able to go the full two years, and would menage to finence the board problem, one
wey or another, and they could not throw me out of School, for not pajing my tuition,.

My pay,at the shop, lacked fifty cents of paying my board and room, and I soon was
compelled to get outside work, in order to make both ends meet.

I found,I could get wood,to saw, meking stove wood,out of cord wood, at fifty cents
per cord, and by sawing two cords each week, I could have a fiew cents left,after pay-
ing my board,to buy paper and pencils. Thg;e was one good thing about the School, I had
no books to buy, but I did,have to furnish my own drafting instroments, and paper.

My sawing'wood, two nights each week, made it necessary for me to burn the mid=-
night oil, to some extent, but the main thing,was to keep up with ﬁg studies, end I

did that
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My first job in the shop,was sweeping,but I was soon sent to the foundry,as moldersi
helper, and was there,nearley three Months, the last fiew"weéks 6f which, I did soﬁe,
plain moldings Then, I went to the machine shop, as machinests helper,

I progressed very rapidly,for it suited me better that any thing I had evér worked
ate Within three Months,I was operating a large lathe,turning long bars of steel,into -
shafting We had to meke two cuté,cn each bar,a'foughing cut, and a“émotheing cut, this
required about 12 hours,on a 20 foot shaft, end it looked to me,like & waste of time.

I wondered why both cuts could not be made,at the same’time, saving,nearley half the
time required,to finish a shaft.

I made a drewing of & cutting tool,with two cutfing points, end took it té the tosl
maker,and he made it Bor me. It was like a two pfong fork, end I ground dne point,for
a roughing cut ( sharp and narrow)and the other,for & smotheing cut ( wide and round=
ing) I had to set the tool just right,which took some time, but it worked perfectly.

I called for the crane to change shafts,so soon after placing the first shaft, it
attracted Alls attention , and he ceme over to my lathe,to see what hed happened.
Hé°mééuréd the sheft I had just finished, and could find nothing wrong with it, then,
he came over to my. lathe eand noticed the tool. He ask me where I got it, and I told
him, Mr. Tencena made it for me, and he went to the tool meker,and was given the draw-
ing I had given him. Comming back to me, he wanted to knowywhere I had got the idea,
and I told him,i did not like going over the same shaft twice,and weanted to see if it
would work. He watched it for a little.while, and seid he was glad sofie one was using
their head,and walked awey.

In a short time,] wes called to Mr. Fredericks Office,and after talking with me,for
some time, asking .ebout my plens for the future, he informed me that,begining the
next Monday, my pay,would be $3.00 per day, instead of $3.00 per week. This,was indeed,
good news, and I could stop sawing woods I could not, but notice the difference in the
attention I received at School,after they heared of my good luck.

$3.00 per dey,was regular mechinests pay, at that time.

It was not entirely because of the new tool. Mr. Frederick told ms he had been

watching me, for some time, and had decided to give me the raise,when my first year
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~wes out, eand the néw tool had induced him,to stert the change at once.
~All,had one made for each shafting lathe, and when I left there, they were using
“them,on the planers, boreing mills and some of the smaller lathes. They are quite
common,now, and are called,geng teois, some of them have as meny as six cutting points,
My former experience had taught me to save my Money, and when my two years was out,
I had saved,quite a nice little nest egg.
I decided to visit me folk,all of whom,now lived in,or near, Bréinard Nebraske.
Ned,was running a general store,there; in company with & partner, a Mr. Wahmhauff,
end Win and Netiie, lived on a farm, neer by.As usuel,they did not know I was comming,
-and when I went to the Fox and Wehmhauff store, and inquired for Ned, no one Imew who
I was talking ebout, but when I ask for Mr. Fox, I was told,he was at home, just back
of the store;ﬁ Ned,weas not his real name, just & nickname,and when they had moved into
Town, Hattie decided to drop the nick neme, and get into the habit of calling him by
:his proper neme, Henry. I had let the cat,out of the beg,and in a short time,every one
in Town,wes calling him Ned. And I think,he kind of liked it.-
While I was there,l made the aquaintance of Mr. Nepolion Miller,who was prepairing
40 make the trip across the plains,in covered:rwagonsyand wes looking for some one,to
drive one of the tesms. I thought it would be a wonderfull trip,end agreed to help him
get ready, and make the trip>with them. The deal was closed,and I went,to live with %
them, while we were making preperations for the trip, the starting time of which,was
only a fiew weeks off. We were in Town,one day,on foot, and on the way home,vhich was
only two miles, we were crossing a pasture, teking a short cut. - The snow was quite deep,
and when we were about a quarter of a mile from home, he fell., He could not get to
his feet, and could not stand,when I helped him up. I finaly got him on my back,and
carried him the rest of the way home,and went back to Town,for a Doctor. When the
‘ Doctor arived, he said Mr. Miller had a very bed case of pneumonia. He never got up,
Dying, a fiew days later. Hé hed been & hard drinking men, end the medicene did him
‘no goode.
He had sold his farm,-but there was quite a lot of stock,and some grain, to be

be disposed of. The man who hed bought the farm,told the Widiw she could live in the
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house until the business was concluded, so she hired a neighbor girl,to stay with her,
and hired me,to look after the stock,and help,with the business. It was not Engine

eering, but I could see no:other way.

Xlzg;The selling was slowsevery one seemed to know,she must sell,and were looking for
bargains. They seemed to think it was open season,to grab every thing in sight.

I even,caught one of her Brother in law,stealing gornjfrom the crib. It was like a
lot of buzzards,on a dead mans carcus.

1 discevereq,there were a lot of debts,some of which,were saloon debts, whether
true of falts, I did not know,but I refused to pay any-bills,that could not be proven.

Mr. Miller, had made a will, leaving every thing to the Widdow, and named her,Exece
utrix, but the relatives tried to break the will, which delayed the probate proceed=
ings. But,the Jodge,finaly threw the whole mess out of Court.

It would have been just as well, had she turned the whols business over to the
in-laws, and let them fight it out, emong them selves, for,after all the debts were paid,
there was not enough left,to even pey my salary. My short visit, had extended into
more than a year.

In the Month of May, 189N, the Widow and I,were married,and made the trip to Oregon,
not by covered wagon, but by the overland flyer, on the Union Pacific Railway.

There were some wonderfull sights along the way. The lava beds,of Idsho,were a
megnificant sight, not for their beauty, but for their grandure and extent. One could
emagine the specticle of that greét mass of hot lavy, flowing over the country side,
completely distructive. = The mica beds,were realy beautifull. The train stopped long
enough for the pasingers to obtain souviners. If being, just at sun rise one could
look toward the sun,and it seemed,thare were bilions of shining jewels.

We sighted the mountains, just before sun-down,eand werevdisapointed because we would
enter the range,during the night, but,the next morning, they were still a long way off.
The eir it so clear, it is dificult to judge tistances.

We entered the State of Oregon, near Huntington, crossing the Snake river,soon

after entering the mountain range. From there on, there was nothing but, mountains,

with an gcasional,small Valley, the train,winding around the mountain sides, through
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lay to the west of us, under the setting sun. There it was. A beautifull Valley,
fourty miles long, and about twenty miles wide,in most places. The Grande Ronde River
gtretching from end,to end, winding tributerys from the nain stream,to the foothills,
and streight,irigation ditches, carrying‘water'to the numerous farms. It was like a
beautifull painting,with a green back-growund,and sélver ribons stretched over it.

We were still,a }ong way from the Town of Union. We must travel around the side of
the mountain, down, down, until we reached the floor of the Valley. |

My Wifes Brother John,who lived in High Valley, a small Valley,six miles‘from.Union,
in the foot~hills, met us.at the train,and we stayed with his Famiiy,for a fiew days.

In the mean time, another Brother,"Sam, "who lived in Cricket Flat, fourty ﬁiyes
miles from Union, and ten miles from Elgin,which is located at the extreme lower end
of the Grande Ronde.Valley,yinformed the High Valley Brother, there was a homestead,
near his place,that could be bought,cheap,as the Home-steadgr had been murdered by his
Wifes lov;;;} It contained 160 acres of pine timber, and the widéw could not stay on
it, for sh:Ahad a date with the Sheriff. Being out on bail,atAthe time.

We went to Elgin,and hired a livery rig to take us out t§ Sens place,and,in a fiew
day; I saw the widow, and‘bought her relinquishment,for $25.00.

Leaving my Wife with Sems folk, I returned to High¢Va11ey, and boughtva ﬁeam,harnes,
and wagon. I bought the team of Brother John,end he agreed to help me brake them.

They were a pair of wild kyooses{( bronks) that had never had a rope on,except
when they were branded. They sure were wild. We had to harness one of them over &
teme horse. We hitched them up,one at a time,with a tame horse, ﬁnd drove them to
Union and backe.

The next morning,we placed the wagon in the road,headed in the direction I wished
to go, and by using other horses,as decoys, finaly got them hitched up.

I got into the wagon,got a good hold of the lines.and the men turhed them loose.

They started,on thie dead run,and I let them go;:In fact,that was the only thing
I could do. they ran for a mile or so,and decided to teke it a little slower, I kept

them going in the right direction,and when we reached iillow Creek, 20 miles,on our

way, it was noone 1 stopped,and unhitched them, gave them water and feed and found.
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"I had an entirely differant teem, from:the one I had started with,that morning.I let
them rest,for about two hours,>and hitched the up,agein,without much trouble. I let
them walk,the rest of the way to Sams placé; ariving thare,ebout eleven Oclock,with
a very tierd teem,and a very tierd driver.

Having obtained the release from the Widow, I was in no hurry to file on the place,
wanting to get .a house built ( there was nothing but a small cabin,on the plaée)and
a place to keep my team,and the cow, I entended to buy.

I went to the saw mill,and bought the necessary lumber, for $6.00 per thousand feet.
and after cutting down a tree,that was so closs‘to the location I had picked,fqr the
house, I was afraid it would blow dowh in it, we started the building, By the way,
that tree,was seven féot through, four feet above ihe ground.. We used an eight foot
cross-cut saw,for the job,end had a very short stroke,when near the cénter..

We vere getting along nicely with‘the house,when & neighbor came over; eerly one
mlorhing, end ask me,if I had filed yet. When I told him no,he told,another neighbor,
was going to = la, Grande, that very day,fo file on it,for his Son,who had just became
of age, This neighbor, I had only met once, his neme wes Risdom. I knew, - me buying
the relinquishmeht,'ii‘wduld notostop any one else,from filing,if they were mean enough
to do such & thing. There was only one train,to La gfande each dey,and that was due
to leave Elgin,in just one hour. I jumped on one of my horses,and headed for Elgin.
end when I got there, sure enough,there was Risdm,all ready to go.

Itknew,very well,he would be better aquainted in La Grande, than I, and that I .o
could beat him to the Lend Office only,by stratigy. I spent thenext.fiew hours,trying
to figure out,that stratigy. When the train stopped in Island City, a short distance
from Le Grande. I went up to the front,entending to talk the Engineer,into letting me
ride the rest of the way,with him. The scheem worked, and vhen we were nearing the
city,end going around a long curve, the Engineer, pointed out, the Lend Office. We
were nearer to if,than we woﬁld be,when the train reached the depot.

he slowed up enough,for me tdljump off, end when Risdom came into the land Office,

I wes signing the last of the papers.
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I never saw & more frustrated man,then he was. His face turned red,and then white.
Hé did not try to hide his feelings, éaying he could not understend how I had beten him,
but declaired,he would get even with me, if it took therest of his life, as though I
HENEXEXBXBHEXHUEXE was the oneIWHd had been in the wrong. This was & direct threat,
but I paid no attention to it. More about this man,later. |

Cricket Flat, belies its neme, there are some places on-it,that are nearley flat,
but they are véry fiew. There are canyons,running from the River, through it,in great
numbers, which are,:from fifty to two hundred feet deéﬁ;‘and,in meny places,the sides
of them,areynearly streight up. The only way one cen assend them,is to find a game
‘trail, that angleS%pp,énd is probably three or four miles long,and the only thing that
could be sure of reaching the ﬁop,would be a mountain goet.

In the spring of the year,tﬁese cenyons,become a raging torent,when the snow is
_ meiting. The aries that ere farmed,are nearley flat, in most places, and ere in patce-
hes, ranging from a fiew square yarde, to several hundred acres. There are rock draws,
rﬁhning through the farm land, in every direction, one could mistake them for natural
drainége,but they are not, there are no outlets,from them. The bottom of these draws,
are covered with shell rock. One would emagine,the farm soil had been dumped on the
rock, but;the rock do not extend under the soil. I am at e loss,to account fof this
unusual formétion.

The timber 1and,is‘good for nothing but the timber that grows on it. Even the
gréss, is so éaturatéd with turpentine, nothing will eat it, and if the timber is cle=
?red off, it requires several years for the turpentin to leave it’'enough to- " "
allowiény thing but pine,to growe.

There is & great deal of land that is neither timber,of farm land, an& this,is
the stock fange; where great herds of‘cattle. horses and sheep are pastured.

There is an everlasting feud, between the cattle men,and the sheep men. Horses,and
‘ cattI;,will graze over the éame fange, some times,in the seme herds, but,once a flock
of sheep, have fed,ovér it,'neither horses nor cattle,will touch the grass,until there

hes been a rain,end,in thet country,thet seldom heppens, so,the range is no good for

e
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eny thing bup sheep,until the next year.

There is aboﬁt helf the land,covered with timber, and perhaps a quarter of the . i
balance,is farm land.

_ Water,is a great problem,during five or six months of the year. There is no water,
except the springs along the sides of the canyons, and these springs are very hard to
ggt to,with anything, one'could carry large quantities of water,from theme I made a
cart, using the rear axle of a wagon, and put e front wheel on one side,and a rear yP;
wheel,on the other. Changingthem before starting,and again, after I turned around,
so the rear wheel would be on the down-hill side, going and comming, and dug a hole
for'the rear wheel, at home,so the tank would set level. I placed a four barrel tank
on it, and’.by teking the stqck to the spring every day,it wouléd 1#st for some time.
These springs never change their flow,winter or summer.

I made a cave_back of the house,to keep the food stuff in, and the first winterjit
filled wiﬁh water, frog the melting snow, and we moved every thing out,and kep£ the_
water for house use. It kept fresh,gs long as it lasted. So I decided to dig a res-
ervoir in the yard. I dug a_hole,six feet in diameter,and twenty five feet deep.
This,filled with water the next winter,and lasted us,as long as we lived there.

The men who bought the place, wrote me, he ren out of water,and dgcided to dig it
deeper, for more storage. After going down about four feet, he struck a vaﬁé of water
that ceame in so strong, h® was uneble to get all his tools out. He must have struck
one of the under ground passages, leading to some spring, it could not happen agein,
in a thousand trials.

The timber consists of white end yellow pine, tamerac,and white and red fir,
There is no fruit in the timbgr, exceot,a fiew dew berries, and quite many sarvis
berries. The sarvis berry thicketg,are & good place to keep away from, for,if the
berries are ripe, there will be bears there.

The greater part of the timber, is yellow pine,_which grows very largg, both.in
girth,and hight. There was fourty acres of yellow pine on my ciaim,that.one csuld
not drive a teem into,from any{side, for more than e fiew yards, and there was mnot a *

tree,less than four feet,in diameter, nor one,less than a hundred feet,to the first
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branch, end thiswas not at all, uncommon in that section. This typt of pine,grows -
closs togather, and grows very tall,because of that fact.There is more yellow pine,
than all the balence of the timber.comnines.

white pine,grows in more open spaces, consequently, branches more, and this: typey-
when sawed into lumber,is very knotty. It does not grow very tall.

Red firyis the toughest wood that grows there, it is called,hard wood, but is not
lealy, hard, by comparrison with Eastern,hard woods. White fir is a beautifull wood,
vhen cut into lumber, end is used very much,for interior decoring.,] 572;:/ St

The two specia of fir,look very much alike,to the stranger, but the néedels are
quite differant,and the way they are formed on the branch,ié quite differant,also.
The red fir,has their needles ,all around the brench, like a cats tail, while the
white fir, has the needles on each side of the branch, like a feather.

~* -~ Temerac is the most valued, localy, because 6f it being so easy to splite
It is usefl for making fence rails and clap-boards. The latter being used extensively,
to take the place of shingles. One may split a tamerac log,with a common axe, and by
using & frow, may split out a board,from it, as much as six feet long, a foot wide,
and,as thin as one quarter of an inch.

Cricket Flat, is 3000 feet above sea level, and also,is above'"fly" levels. There are
no flys,there at all, but the bed bugs are numerous. Lift a piece of loose bark from
any, pine tree,and they will be found,by the hundreds. Many of the natives, move out
of the house,in the summer,and sleep in the barn. We was never bothered with them,
however,and I do not think any one would be,if they were a little more particular.

I went to help a neighbor,do a job of work,and the Wife went along, she found the
bed bugs were crawling on the walls, like 1fies do, in the east., Netiie,made me take
off my clothes,before going into the house,when we returned home. -

There was a pine tree, in the Looking-glass ( a district,some miles back in the
wild country)that was 27 feet,in circumferance, six feet above the ground. It was
estimated to be more than a thousand years old.

The most hated animal, there,is the wolverine. Heated, alike,by man and beast.
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He will follow a line of traps for miles, eating every thing he finds in them, as long
as he can hold it, and tear every thing,to bits, after he can eat no more. Just plain
cussedness. A trepper will follow the trail of a wolverine, all day,and count the day
well spent, if he can distroy the varment. The trappers have cabins,scattered through
the forests,where thay may stay,for the night, if they are delayed in making their rou-
nds. No one cares to travel,in the deep woods, after dark. These cabins are always
stocked with salt, salt pork, sour doe and course flour, and are never locked. Any one
is welcome to stay in one of them,when necessary. All that is required,is to clean up
the place,before leaving, end to fasten the door,so the animals can not get ine

There are many mountain lyons, (cougars ) there, although one is seldom seen, they
may be heaied, most any nighte They sound like a big tom cat,on the prowl, if he were
meking his calls, through an excepionaly large, loud speaker.But, iﬁgyou ever hear their
scream,when they are making a kill,you.will never forget it. There are wild cats,and
lynx, a plenty, end there is a cat,that is just as wild as any wild-cat, that has a long
tail, like a domestic cat. . They are very large, and like to hang arcund the settlements.
I think,the origonated,from a cross between the wild-cat,and the domestic cat.

The domestic cats there, are the largest I have ever seen, and some of them are just
as feroclous as the wild ones..

There are a variety,of bear, from the little,brown and black ones,to the white faced
bear,which is much larger than the grizzly, of which there a great number, but do not
like to stey near the settlements. The cougars,préy .on:the domestic stock, mostly,
sheep. But they also kill cattle,and young horses. He does not eat the flesh,unless
the kill is too small to satisfy his hunger, in which case,he will devour some of the
flesh., There are professional hunters,in the Cities, who are called on,to get rid of
predetory enimals,that become too frequent with their killings. They have a pack of
hounds , end if called on soon enough after the kill, the hounds,will pick up the trail
and the beast,is generaly killed.

while I was there,these killings beceme quite frequent, in our heighborhoody:iis
averaging one,every third or fourth night. The hunters were called from La Grande,

but they arived too late,for the dogs to pick up the trail. They seemed to be confused,
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wgen taken to where the kill had been made, end the hunters had to wait for another
k%ll, which occured, two nights later,

There was something about this system of killings,that puzeled the hunters, as
- well as the doggﬂ Even,when the kill was a large animal, the throat was cut, as is
usual,with the cougar, but a portion of the hind quarter,was eaten away, also.
When the hounds were brought to the second kill, they,were again puzeled about the
scent. GSome of them wanted to trail in one direction,and some,in another. it was
found, the dogs that got their scent from the fore part of the animal, wanted to go
in one direction, and the ones that got it,from the rear, wanted to go,in another.

The hunters said, there,definately, had been two or more animals at the a#e-scene,
~ but all but one, may have been kyotes. The cougar, left his trade mark, and the hunters
knew, very well,vwhat they were after, when they tied the dogs that got their scent
from the rear, and followed the others. That after noon,the dogs treed the cougar,
and it was killed. but, a fiew nights later,there was another kill. This time, the
throat was not cut, but_the neck,was broken. The hunters,knew at once, they were on
the trail of a white faced bear,and a big one. The bear.seemed to have been following
the cougar, end getting a free meal,after the cougar had finished. But when the cougar
wag killed, and Mr. Bear became hungry, and wanted some more of the food,he had learned
to like so well, he was compelled to meke his own kill, and he did it in the approved
~fashion of his kind, which was '~ breaking the neck, with his huge paw.

The hounds,were of the same miﬁd now, and soon were on the trail. ThatkWas when I
became interested. I heared the hounds,about noon, and they seemed to be getting
nearet,all the time. Finaly,vthey were so closs, I decided it would be a good plan,to
get inside. Shortly after one Oclock, I heared a great crash, down the hill from the
barn, and an enormus, white faced bear, came loping through, between the house and the
barne If you think a bear can not run fast,ypu:should have seen that fellow go.

The dogs were not far behind,and they put him up a tree, about four miles from my place,
and the killings were stopped. |
There are hords of kyotes there, the seme specis as were in Iowe, but these,ran in

packs, and would tackle a two year old ®alf. Where,one would have trouble,catching a
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deer, the pack,would have less trouble, because,they would maeke the chase, in relays,
There were no rabbitgof any kind, probably, Yecause of so many predetoty eanimals,
There were afiew squirrels, but their flesh gould not be eaten, because they lived
on pine cones, and‘tasted so much of purpentine, it was very offensive.
| There was a little,squirrel like, animal, called the chip monk, who stayed around
the homes, and put in most of his time,tormenting the dogs. He would get on a rail
fence,and start his, chip-chip- chip, and the fool dog,would think he could catch him,
but,could never get the little fellow cornered. He derives his neme,from the sound
of his call,

There are but one kind of snake,there, that I ever saw. And that is en enormué,
rottle snake. They,sometimes, are as much as eight feet long. I had the good fortune,
to witness a battle of the wilds. I was out,hunting deer,and heared a noise,near by,
in o smell section,that was clear of timber. Advancing,with causion,I saw a deer,
prencing around,in a very peculiar menner. Ocasoinaly, he would spring into the eir,
end light,with all four feet, closs togather,and amediately, spring away.

Finaly, I saw a huge snake,make his strike, end the deer made his spring, lighting,
équarley,on the snake, before he could coil,for another strike. They were having a
battle,to the death, and the deer won, cutting the snake,all to pieces. I was hunting
desr, but I let that fellow go. I told some of the natives about it,and they said it
was comuon, that’ the two never meet, that one,or the other does not die, amd many times,
both of them.

Thers were numerous porcupines there, and they were safe,from man or beast. from
the other animals, because they were afraid of their quills, end from men, because,?
they are harmless,and are eisaly captured, when needed for food. It has been said,they
can throw;their quiils, but that is not so. Their quills,come out eésily, but will not
do so,’unléss the point penetrates some substance then,it will come out,and will be

" very hard to remove, because there is a small beard,or hook,onithe end, and will soon
cause trouble. They say, they are good eating, and I do not see why they should not

be, for they are a clean little animd, end are a vegetarion. They have saved the

lives of many people, who were lost in the forest,and ren out of food.
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There is very little rein,in fact,it seldem rains,at all. All the misture, there is,
comesyin the form of snow, which generaly starts falling, in the Month of September.
The first snow I sdw,éggaﬁthe fore part of that Month, and continued,almost without
stopping, until the next March. It started snowing,ebout four Oclock in the afternoon,
and the next morning, there was four foot of it. It was so soft, one could walk on the
ground, tﬁrough it. I soon discovered, one could not walk very far,nor very fast,
without becomming exheusted. I had to teke my stock to the canyon, for watér, I was
riding one horse and leading the other,with the old cow,following. The one I was rid-
ing;soon began to show signe of tireing,and I let him stop,to rest,and thé other one,
took the lead. Soon, he had had enoﬁgh,and stopped to rest also, and the old cow,went
by, end broke thé path,alf the wey t§ the springe
. The gréund never freezes. The sﬂowicomes,beore it is cold enough; and the snow
melts from the bottom all winter, the vater soaking into the ground, storeing mdisture
for the next summers crops. |

The natives ﬁere using snow shoes,about four feet long,to travel over the sdfﬁ 8now,
andwfhéy sank into it so deep,there waégndﬁslidingrgéxiéﬁ possible. I had seen pictu-
res of skis, end they looked to me, as though they were very long. I split two pieces
of tamerac, and trimmed them doﬁn,to about four inches wide, méking them, very thin, so
they would be as light as possible. They were eight feet long. I fastened them to
my feet,snd went out,to try them. They worked perfact,and I was making'skis,'all winter.

If the snow did not melt framiﬂh@bottémgthére would be 25 feet of it,by spring.

As it was,it covered the stakes,of a ten rail, steke and rider fence, in front of my
house, and there is no drifting, becaﬁée of the heavy timber.

The weather, is very changable,eVen in the summer time.I] have seen the thermom-
eter standing at. 85 degfees Feal-two,in the afternoon,and a white frost on the grouhd,
the next morning. They said,thax was the feason,so many'horses,die,bf the Mountain
féaver. One never starts on & trip, without & top coat, even,if he is going no more
-£han a fiew-milés, for,if the sun is obscured,for two hours, he will need it.

The nights,are very colds
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In Mgrch, the Chanook winds start bloy?ng,and the snow disapears like magié. These
wiads,are not strong, just a pleasant breeze, but'they sure mélt the snow. The second
day,after they stgrt, the canyons start roaring,with the snow water. They derive their
pame,because of blowing over the.Chgnook Indien Reservetion. In & fiew days, the snow
is all gone, and all the moisture we.are going to have,to grow the summers crops,we
alregdy have,The only crops raised there, is winter wheat,and ryeswhich is also plan-
ted in the fall, barley,for hog feed, end oats,for horsé‘feed. The;e is a grea£ deal
of wheat, cut while it is still green, for hay, there beiné no hay cropes

I tried to raise some sweef corn,but the frost killed it,before it was large - -
enough to ear out. T@ere are a fiew potatoes grown,for home use, but none for market.

Up to 1890, most of the grain was harvesied with headers, A machine:that cuts the
heads off the grain,and leaves the stelk standing. It cuts & 12 foot swath, and'elévaa
tes it into a header bed, that is located on a wagon, drivén along with the header,eand
when it is full, it drives'out‘to the stack,and anothef one takes'its place under the
~ schoot. The header is EEEEEQ by four horses, two,on eithe; side of a long sweep,
or beam, extending from the rear of theumagh;Pe. This besm,has & rudder wheel;under
it,. something like a caster wheel, controled‘by e lever.attached to the staff, that
passes through the beam. It is called,the jacob staff, and a man stgnds aétride of it,
guiding the mechine,at will. |

TAboutithentimewl*went’tﬁere,tﬁe%farmeisﬂwere beginingctofrea;izs the value of the
strew, and were changing to thé self binder,__ﬂ | . |
Denny Mgden, bought & binder,and the man came‘out,to set it up, and went back to Towne.
After a while,it stopped binding, and no one knew what Qas the trouble, so Dénny put a
men_on & horse and sent forjme. then I saw what was the ttouble,I ask if they had any
@wine, end that was the first the knew,what that st;ff was for. I threaded the machine,
and started it up, to see if it was alright, and Denn&,%ould not let me go home, he
insisted that I stay,and cut the whole crop. I cut 400 aéres of wheaf,for him, keep~
ing on the job, from sun up, until sun down, stopping to eat lunch while the meh chan=-

ged the teams. I never touched a horse,during the whole time.
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The men would have the team hitched up, when | got there in thémorning, cﬁange them
in themiddle of the fore noon, at noon,and again, in the middle of the after noon.
It was not so long, from sun‘up, to sun down,as you might think. .Thé mounteains were
on all sides, and wevhad more then en hour, éfter éayvlightﬁ before the sun came into
sighi, end the same length of time,after the sun went oﬁt of sight,in the evening,
before it was dark,

I seemed to be called on,to head every project that was launched. The neighborhood
wanted a School, and there was a/meeting called, and I was chosen to go #o Union,with
e petition,to the County,School Board,to find out what could be done.

After seeing the petitioﬁ,andliéarning the number of childrén;fhereawere to attend, -
they gave ﬁé“permission fb build & school house,but would not agree to shafé in the .-
cost of its construction, but would,agreejyto furnish a Teacher, after the building was
finishede. So,we chipped in, and pu£ up a nice little school house, and agéin, I was
chosen asvdirecter. I obtained a Teacher,and when she came, we had to board her.

‘The settlers,further back, wanted ﬁ road,to their section, and again, I was sent to
Union, to interview the County Boafd 6f Superviaors.

" This time,I hed better luck, the board agreed to‘do all necessary work on the new
. road, If, three teams,were hitched to three lumber wagons, and were driven over the
proposed road, each way, without doing any preliminery work on it and, this accompli-
shment being reported, to the Board,in writing, over my signature. They would, at such
time, ©" -~. declair it.a public highway,end amediately take steps,to do all necessary
‘work of impfoving same.

Ve mede the trip,but in déing so,were compelled to take dowm 150.féet of rail
fence, on each side of a fourty acre tract,which belonged to Mr. Milenburg.

He:wanted-us to go around it,which would make the road a half mile longer,and I
knew,the Board would not stand for that. ‘When we returned from the end of ﬁhe proposed
road, Mr. Milenburg,bad put his fence back up,and was sitting on the top of it,with a
rifle in his hands. He defied uf,to take it down agein.

Being quite sure, it was a bluff,and thet he would not attempt to use the gum, I

walked up to him,and after a fieww moments talk, he helped us take the fance dowe, and
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aéreed to leave it down. He, just did not understand.
bThe idea of requireing the teams to travel oyer the road,was due to the fact,there
are so meny canyons,traversing the country,in avery direction, unless this stunts
was done, there might be a road layed out,ﬁhet the cost of making it useable, would be
prohibitive, unless the surveyers were broubht the place, which,in thet country, is
very expensive, because §n the mountamous conditions.
Some pages back, I mentioned the men Risdom, who tried to jump my claim.
My troubles with him,were not over. My land, joined his,for three quarters of a mile,
end,there being no herd law,there, all crops must be fenced in, to protect them from
the range stocks I had crops in part of my land.that adjoined his,; He ceme to my - °
place and proﬁosed,we join fences, at each end of our mutual line, and save the three
quarter mile,of fencing, saying,he was going to plant barley,on his. This,was common
practice there,and I thought he hadforgatten: ﬁis gripe,and wanted to be neighborly,so
I agresd to it. He didunot plant barley on his,nor any thing else, but turned his
mllch cows in, and took particular care to have his glrls, drive them over my wheat,
at every oppertunity. I stood it, for a while, until.the wheat had grown enough to be
damaged,by the cattle tramping on it. I stopped the girls,one evening,and told them,to
go home and tell their Father, if he wanted the cattle driven over my wheat,any more,
tomdo the driving,him-self. They rode away, yelling like a bunch of Indians. 1In abshort
time, here came Risdom, and his 21 year old,Son, The old man, came by way of the road,
but the boyscame cross lots,and through my garden, I caught him in the middle of the
garden,and made him get off his horse,and lead it out,between two rows, andiby that time,
the old men,had climbed over the fence,and I made for him. VWhen he saw I was comming,
he c¢climbed bgck, and_to}d me,to come out into the road.
I started over the fence,when he saw Father,comming out of the house, and said he
would not fight the whole Family. I told him, if I had a boy the size of his, and he
could not handle that old men,I would disown him. But, they jumped on their horses, and
rode away, he, sayong he would meet me, some time,when I was alone. |
The next morning,which was Sunday, July the r&:{rtﬁ) I was taklng me cow to the

pasture,when I heared a horse comming. Looking around, I saw Risdom comming.
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He jumped off his horse, and grabbed up a rock,in each hand,and made for me.

I tried to talk him out of it, but he was like a wild men. I was not concerned
over the outcome, for when I saw he was arming himself with rock, I knew,he was a
coward. He was too mad,to have any sense,any way. When he was quite a wasy from me,he
threw one of the rocks at me,with his laft hand, thereby,informing me,he was-iaft
handed. He did not have time to transfer the other rock,to his left hand, and when
he struck at me with it, I knocked it from his hand, and landed,squarely,on the point
of his chin, with my fist. He went down, like a polled ox, and the fight was all out
of him. I lit, on top of him, not entending to give him a chance to re-arm him self,

I picked up a good size rock, grabbed a good hold of his hairyand turned his head
over,so he could see it, and told him, I realy believed, he had intended to kill me,
and probably would have, had I been soft enough to let him get the better of me, but,
now, it was my turn, and if he had any thing to say, he had better startitalking.

I believe, the poor devil,realy thought I was going to kill him. He promiced me
every thing"I" could think of, even to put up the entire liné fence, between us, but
all I wanted, was for him to keep his cattle off my wheat, and he promiced to do so.
Finaly, I told him to get up,and go home, but,he could not get to hie feet, and could
not stand,when I tried to help him, his legs were like rubber. I went to his home,
and told his boy, he had better hitch up & team,and go over by my pasture gate,and pick
up his 0ld man, who is laying over there in the road. The boy ask if I had killed him,
tut I told him,his dad was not hurt, just scared. But he insisted that I go with him,
8o I did,snd helped load the brave man,into the wagon.

I think,the truth of the mater was, he had,intended to kill me, end now,that the
ta$les were turned, he was afraid I would do the same. to him. He was not a murderer
at heart, but had an .uncontrolable temper.

Thet darned kid, rode all over the neighborhood, telling every one, the little
yenkee, thrashed hell out of Dad,this morning. seeming to get a great kick,out of ite

- The little yankee, was a neme I picked up,out there, I never knew why.
Monday morning, my Wife and I, drove to Elgin, where they were holding a belated

Independence day, celebration, we were riding in a two wheeled, mountein cart, end
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vhen we drove up to the hitch rack,in Elgin, a crowd of men and women, gathered around
use Some of the men, tied the horses to the rack, while others pulled me from the cart,

My Wife was very much scared, and I did not know what was up, but the women assured
my Wife, no one would be hurf,and escorted her intoucne of the stores,while the men -
carried me,to a near by, saloon. To my great surprise, they had Risdom,there, and
they made him get on a pool table,and meke a speach. I realy felt sorry for the’ poor
devil, but he did a prethy good job of it, and seecmed to satisfy the crowd, end they,
all took a drink, at his-expénse. When they were %hrough with him, he came to me,end
said he entended to keep all the promices he had made, and wanted to shake hands.

He told the crowd, as far as he was concerned, we would be friends, from then, one.
If I head have been a drinking men, I would have been stone drunk, a half hour after I
arived in Town. When we were ready to go home, I had my pockets filled with cigers,cs
and my Wife was loaded down with candy end hiok-nacks. These people were any thing but
cowards, but,for some reason, the men had them bluffed. It seems to me, if I were as
much despised,as he was, I would get out of the country,as fast as possible.

-I never had a better néighbor,than he wag,after that.

I have found, & great part of the bravado,of the earley west, was bluff., If a man
was ready to back up his woiBs, he did not talk about it. he went to work,end if his
aponent was not ready, it was too bad for him.

Many, if not all, that had their gun stockeé fiélled with notches, would not kill e
flea. If a man was exceptionly fast on the draw, he kept it to him self. If he did
not, and was fool enough to brag about it, he was sure to find some one who was fasters

I bought three cows, before I found one, that was tame enough to be broken to be
milked. [} kept her in a pasture, not far from the house, so I could find her,at milk-
ing time. I went after her,one evening,and ghg was not to be found. thinking she had
broken out,and wondered off, I rode the range,for the rniext three days, looking for her,
vut could not find her,and gave her ﬁp,as-loét. It never occured to me. she had heen
stolen. 1 had to make a trip to High Valley,and was gone for two days. when I reture

ned, the cow,was in the corral. My Wife said she heared the bell,the evening after

I had left, and when she went to the pasture, there she was,
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Nettie thought she would try milking her,to see if she had dried up,and she gave

her regulsr emount. When I heared that, I knew,she had been milked regularly.

Some one had stolen her, and brought her back, but I could not think,who it could beo

About & year after that, I was in La Grande, and went into a small restaurant for
lunch, end heared some fellows talking about a hunting trip. One of them remarked, he
would like to have a cow, like they did last year, and another said he had always felt
guilty,over that deal. He said,there was no telling,how much trouble it may have
caused the owner. That,was amplebproof,of who ‘had stolen my cow.

I wondered over to their teble, and told them I wanted to thank them,for bringing
that white cow,thay barrowed last year, back when they were through with hér, for I
kﬁew very well, some fellows would have turned her loose, when they were through with
her, and I would never have seen her again. When I said,white cow  they knew, I was
the owner, and one of them,wanted to know, how much they owed me. I told him how long
I had hunted for her, but,that I was so much pleased, they had returned her, I would
let them, set the amount they thought it was worth. One of them,wanted to know, If $25.00
would’be-enough?s. I tcld them, I would be glad to except that emound, under one cond=
itions They would not do the seme thing,this year, snd they promised, not to.

I built a log barn, and the greatest trouble I had,was to get logs,that were small
‘enough. I finaly located a pine thicket,where the trees had grown so closs togather,
they had grown,very tall,and slim. After cutting a road to them, I cut down three
trees,before I got’dhe, to the ground, there wes no room for them to fall.. [5

After making a logging cart, I hauled & lot of them home. They were about 8 inches
through,at the but,and when cut to a length of 70 feet,wereiishmut 6 inches through,at
the top I was building my barn, 30 by 40 feet, and one tree would make a .side log,eand
‘an end log. By notching them,at the ends,I’had,very neerley,a tight wall, I layed them
up,until the walls were 12 feet high.

There were some,very smell trees in this group, end they were just the thing,for
rafters,and stringers. I split temerac logs,into strips, to make the up-stairs floor,
and for sheeting, to nail the clapboards to, using the lattier,for shingles. In laying

up the walls, I cut in, logs,for partitions, and cut>out,logs,for the doors, and ...~



46,

left an opening,on one side, to drive into it. One end, had stalls for 4 horses and
a2 cow, and the other end, had a place to keep my grain and feed, also a place to keep
my chickens. wup steirs, there was ample room,to keep my hay. It required a long time
to build it, but when I had finished it, I had a real barn,and I was proud of it.

I wish to tell of en incedent that happened in thet barn. One night, I heared the
chickens making a fuss, and lighted a lantern,and went to the barn,to see what was
going one I went in the drive wey, and set the lenjern,inside the chicken room, and
could see the eyes of .some snimal,shining. There was & very strong oder of skunk,and
I removed the lantern,end hunted me a nice club. Going back,with the lantern, I could
see mr, Skunk, in the same position. Setting the lantern on the floor, I sneasked
around the side of the lighted space, and carefully, I raised my club, thinking I could
give him a good crack on the head,and get away, before I would get stunk up, I gave
him one whack, snd scramed,out of there.

The next morning, I went,to see my kill, and emagine my surprise, to find I had
, killed a wild cat. When I saw what it wes,my hair stood streight up. If I had have
Jmown what it was, money would not have hired me to go in there. The 3kunk oder,was .
still there, but it was comming from some other source,than the chicken pen. -

My vivid emegination, started working, as you will see,from the following;

The Blacksmiths, were using charcoal,in their forges,there being no smithing coaljavai~
lable. Charcoal,was selling for 25 cents per bushel. The reason for it being so high,
was the fact it was being cut into cord wood,before being placed in & burning position,
and spliting pine logs,is the devels own job. It wes then,stacked intc pyremids,and
covered with brush, end ‘seith. They did not dig a pit for it, as Father said, they use
to do,in Ohio.

There is where my emagination started working. I had never burned any charcoal, nor
had I seen any burned, but I thought,if a small piece of wood,would char,clear throughs
without burning up, a larger piece,would do the same thing, if kept in the heat longer,
without letting any air get to it. It was worth trying,at any rate.

I dug a.pit,12 feet wide, 14 feet long,and2 feet deep. I thought it would be easier

to controle,if it were in a pit. I hauled a lot of logs,from the same place I got my
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barn logs from, cut them the right length to fit the pi%t, rolled them in intil the
pit was full, and stacked them, a log between each itwo, below it,umtil they came to a
peaks - Not forgeting to teper them at the end,so they would have the seme slope on the
end,as the sides,so the covering would stay in place. I cut two logs, shorter then the
rest,and placed them in the center,at the bottom, so I could use the space for a fire-
places Vhen I had it all filled,.I covered it with pine bruah,an& onbtop of that,I
put piné needles,and lastly, dirt, leaving a hole in the rear top,for a sort of a chim-
neyys0 I would have a draft, to start it burning; and started the fire. It took a long
time to get it hot, but when it did,get hot, it took it a darnd sight longer,to get it
coole That pile of logs,was an inferno. After plugging all therholeb, there was an
untold number of fresh KBIEE ones,breaking through,all the time. Ve hﬁd to watch it
day end nighte Father,watched it part of the time,while I slept on the ground,near by.
I did not dare leave it,for fear it would get the better of Father. We spent two weeks
with i{;before it was cool enough,so we dare leave it.

When it was cool,I uncovered it,and the logs were just the same as they were when
we covered them. Except,they were black, end the first thing Father said was, there goes
snother one of your bright ideas. It certainly looked like a complete failure.

I told Father,they might be better,near the bottom,and rolled the top log.off.

When it struck the ground,it broke into several pieces. It was chared clear through.

And all the rest, proved to be the seme. Instesd of being a feilure,it was a complete
success,end was of the very best quality. I hauled a load of it to the Blacksmith in

Elgin, end he pronounced it,the best he had ever seen, and wanted to know how I got it
in 'such big chunks.

I prepaired to burn another pit, end by the time I had sold the first one,I had
another one cooling. I sold 600 bushel,from the first pit,and received $150.00.

Not bad,for an idea, If I could have kept it a secret, 1 could I could have made a
little money,while I was living on the claim, prepairatory to proving up. |

We tu;;ed the second pit out,with much less trouble,than the first,and it wasjmuch
larger. I figured to get 1200 bushel,from it,but we naver sold all of it.

The charcoal burners, all over the country were using my method,and the price had

AT



dropped to ten cents, and 1 gave up the whole idea.

There was no money to be made, on the small acreage I could farmyand the inconve-
nience of hauling =swatéry twéﬁar three miles,during the greater part of the year,hec=
aue tiresome,and when the chance game,to sell, at a reasonable figure,we decided to &
sell;

Aftef I sold the plgce,We moved to Union, where I obtained a position as night
Enginéer,at‘the_local power plant. The regular Engineer being sicke. I was there,: -
about six weeks,when the regular men r?turned.

It is a peculiar thing,how people will grab onto something,after some one -else has
shown them the way. thile I was doing nothing much, I drove away back,into the foot-
hills, to see if i coul@ find some fire woods I ran across & pine thicket, sometning
like the one,from where I obtained my barn logs. This one had been burned over, and *
the trees were all,déad. When pine,dies on the stump, it retains all of its pitch,and
mekes & very hot fire, and that, is what I had a load of. I had no more than gotten
into Town,when a fellow stopped me,and wented to knqw, if I would sell it, and offered
me, $5.00 for it. which was not bad,for a deys work,at that time, and I sold it to him.

I went back,the next day,and got another load,whicb_l sold,for §7.00. People were
crazy for the stuff. I kept on,hguling,for about'a week, selling it,es fast as I couléd
bring it into Town, without any trouble.

The next Monday morning,when I arived at myqpatch of timber, there were a half
dozen teams,there. loading,from the place I had ogend up. 0f course,they had just as
good a right to it,as I did, but it was a sneaky wey to beat me out of it.

One fellow had followed me, on Saturday,and told a bunch of his fgiends, about it,
so there would e bunch of them,in case there was trouble. I knew I did not have a chancee
The priqegﬁoon dropped to $1.50 per load, and no one could make any'thing. My little
business was gone. If they had have left me alone, I could have ha%,a nice little bus=
iness, but sowe one must but in,and spoil ;t.

We decided to go back to the States(this is an expression, used thiere: a great deal)

and having a note falling due in a short time, in peyment for the team I had sold, we



thought it would be better if I went first,esnd found a 1ocatipn,while my Wife 49,
would stay with her Brother Johﬁs folk,until she could collect the note.

I arived‘in Sioux City,on Friday,the thirteenth, And put up at & boarding house,
on fourth Strest. When I joined the rest of the boarders,for supper,that eveﬁing,
I‘found,there were nine Engineers,besides my self,and four of them,were out of worke
No? very ensouraging, and they advised me to move on,while I had the money to do so.
»Buﬁ I went out to look for a job,Saturday morning,and came home that evening,with a
job for myself,and two,to spare. I told the boys where the two jobs were, that I
could\not take, in case they wanted them. |

The first two jobs that were offered me,did not suit me too well,put i would have

teken one of them, had I rot have found ons that suited me better.

I had decided to taske the one I found last, which was an 1ndustry,belng installed
in anlgld shoe factory. It was to be.a tow, menufactureing plant.

The man I contagt,was a Belgin,and wanted the saﬁe race of people,to work there.
I could ses very plainly, if an Engineer were ﬁeeded any place,it was there, but the
old fellow who seemed to be in charge, said they did not need one. I surmised,there
was something wrong, and made it a point t§ find out who the big men was, and discovered
it wes Captin Geer, who was also Manager of the Sioux City Linseed 0il Mill.

I went,to see him,and we pad a lopg talk., The Captin;was a Givil Engineer, and
ﬁhile we were in differant fields,we were both,Engineers,and had many things in common,
which placed us, more or less, on the same footinge “

After giving me a short examination,end being assured,l could obtain an Engineers
lisence from‘the City,Board of exemining Engineers, he engaged me;for a period of one
year. He gave me & letteg, to present to Mr. Bossie, who was in charge of the plant.

The letter wes to inform Mr. Bossie, I had been engaged to install the machinery,
and to operate the steam plant,when the factory was rea&y to start operations,

The most important part of the letter,;in my éstimation,was the item that told him, I
would be,in full comand of the work,and would engage my own help,for the instalatién
worke |

The Bossie outfit,consisted of , Mr,Bossie, and his two Snes in law, Mr Heanset and

Mr. De Wals. They proceecded to make things as difficult as poésibie; but I attended

strictly to my own business, paying no attention to their slighting remarkse
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enyway,I could not understesmd,their general conversation, for,they talked nothing but
Frenchywhich I do not understand, On Thursday,the Ceptin came to the plant, and had
a long talk with Mr. Bossie. After that, I had a little more co-operation.

The plant was located in the notorious Floyd Valley, at the edge of the Town of
Leehs, & suburb, of Sioux City. I say, the notorious Valley, because of the distruc«
tive floods,that frequent the place. One of which,happened while I was living there.
Although,I lifee a mile from the twenty foot wide, Floyd River,I would come home in
a boat,and land in ny front porch.

In a short time,I had the machinery installed,including,the engine and boiler.

I obtained an engineers lisence from the board{which I still have) and the plant was
put into operation. Ubholstry tow, is the article we manufacﬁured. It is made from
flax étraw, by passing it through a system of corogated rollers,which break up the
straw, so the woddy pért,may be sepefated from the fiber, by shekers and screens.

"I used the woody part, ealled schiev, for fuel,under the boiler. And there not ..t
beihg enough to keep up steam, I used a small amount of coal.

Late in the fall,i ordered a car of coal,and when it came,the Bossies hauled some
of it home. I thought nothing of that, for it was common practice,for the employer to
furnish his men with their winfer fuel,at cost price. I had to order eanother car,much
suuner that usual, because of whét the& had teken, end Mr. Bossie was fool énough to
complain to Mr. Geer, I was uéing an enormus amount of coal.

I never could understand why he chose that particular time,to try and lower the
Captins opinion of me. If the coal wasvstolen.(which did prove to be the case)he might
have known,there woula be an investigation,and the truth would be learned, If he had
haive kept. his mouth shut,they might have gqt‘hen awvay with it.

r MreGeer, came to the plant,and ask,vwhy I had been using so much coal lately?
I told him,I was using no more coal than uéﬁal, end he ask why I had ordered another
car,so soon after the last one? Naturely, I told him,it was because of the Bossies
laying in their wintef supply. This,seemed to come as a great surprise to Mr. Geer.
He wanted to know who had hauled it,and I told him, Billey Harsha,he ask for Billey,

and when he came in, the Captin ask him; how much coal ha had hauled, Billey told him
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how many loads he had hauled to each one,but could not tell the weight,because they
had not weighed it, although there were a pair of wagon scales at the plant. Mr, Geer
was hopﬁing mad, foritwas piain to be seen,they had not entended to pay for it.

He called Mr. Bessie in and ask him about it,ana was told,they were goiﬁg to fepért
the next weék,and have the monéy to pay for it,taken from their éeveral,pay enveiopes.
But when Mr.Geer ask, how they would knoﬁ how much toube teken out, for it was knoWn,
'thewcoal had not been weighed, Mr. Bossie could not anawér,and:seemed to realise,for
the fifst time, he was caught, red handed.

Mr. Geersordered the plant closed down,and demanded all the keys,froﬁ.Mr Bossie.
He told me,to stay at the plant,and teke care of the shipping, end fired the whole
Bossie outflt on the spot.

~ About two weeks after the Bossie eplsode, the Captln ceme out to the plant.

I remember it so well, We set down,on the steps,leadlng from the boiler room,to the
engine room, end had a long talk. That,was when I discovered,the Caﬁtin weas ge%ting
sick of the Bossies, when I showéd up,at the Office,the first time, and wes wondering
what he was going to do aboﬁt it, when I appeared on the scene, looking for a job,
just in time to ansﬁér his quesfion.

Finaly,he ask me if I could get a crew tagather, to start the plant,{he next
Mondaﬁ morring? I told him,that would bé no trouble, but wanted to know who would be
in charge, and he seid, 1 woﬁld. I thanked him for the offer, but told him,all I knew
about-the tow bﬁsiness, i had lesrned in the short time I had been with him, but he
said he was in thé same bdat, gso lets learn it tOgathér. What can one do,with a man
like that, but his very best?.
| I was with the Floyd Valley Flax Company,for seven years. I installed many impro=
vements, saving much lebor,and improving the product,at the same time. I aranged ithe
ﬁachinery,so the material was fed from one.machine,intd the next,automaticaly, aranged
the bailing p;ess go it would charge,every third stroke, enabeling me to feed the tow
into itydirect,from the finishing machine. I installed & safty device,that would stop

the machinery, by pulling,:one;6f many cords, hanging in convenient places,around the

" mill room. This device,surely,saved a mens life, later,
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‘ The insurance Compant complained about me being awsy from the boiler and engine

room, too much of the time, leaving it in the care of a firemsn, and the Captin sent
a man from the oil m111 to act as foreman,in the mill room, under my“dlrectlonsg
Mr. Clark,had some ideas of his own,and some of them were very good, but,I had given
orders,to do mno 0111ng,wh11e the machlnery was in motion. He thought 1t was a waste
of t1me,and,w1¢hout consultlng me,ordered one of the men,to do the 0111ng, after the -
machlnery’had been put to work. The reason for thls order was, there were so many  pears
all of which,were under cavef, that,to lift the cover; while they were in motion,was
very dangerouss

The very first day,this order was put in£o exicution,Frank Brolin,who had beén ord—
ered to do the oiling, waé caught.in a large Eevelgear”on one of the breaks;. and his
hand mangled.to,above the wrist. The gear,caught his sleeve,aﬁd was, ruthlessly pulling
him into it, when one of the men, pﬁlled one of the safty cords, and the machinery. - =
stopped,amedlately. | ‘

then the alarm sounded I rushed into the m111 room. I could not get any of the man
to help me, they were so squeemish about the sight of blood. I had some alcshal in the
enginé roomy,and deluted some of it,and gave Frank a siﬁ,ocasionaly,while I wes working,
to get him out. I could not get the machinery apar;,and wes compelled to turn *it -
back,by hand,end pass his hand,back through it. It would not have been a long job, if
I would have had help, but to do it alone, was quite & job. In the meaﬁ—fimeglzhaﬂ~
seﬁt a man to the livery sfable, to order a carrage to 59 at thé plant,waiting, so I
could rush Frank té the Hospital,as soon as I could free him. I had,also sent a man to
Franks home,t§ tell his Wife of the accident,and hed told.him,to be carefull as possi=
p}e,and not scare her more then necessary,for I knew her)to be in a delicate'condition.

Frank stood up to the ordeal,like the’man,he wés,and when I got him loose,the team
from the livery stable,wes waiting, end we rushed him to the Hospital, in short order.

When we arived,the attendant told me to talfe him to the second floor. There were
no elevaiters, and I started up the stair,with him; When about half way up, he colapsed.
‘fi?ﬂid you ever try to pick up an umégnseioﬁsrzman?,lt was no easy matt er, but it

hed to be done, so, I did it, and carried him,the rest of the way up,and put}him in bed.
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Never in my life,have I seen a men with the nerv that Sweed had. He had stood the
intense pain,for so long a time, and had lost a considerable amount of blood.

.He mede me promice I would stay with him,until the operation was over,and I did so.

After Frank came out. from under the ether, he ask me to get his Wife, end I went
backcto Leeds.to find,his Wife had gone. One of the neighbors told me,she an€ the two
children,had boarded a Street car,about two hours before, and gone to the City. There
wes only two cars on the leeds line,and the first one I contact,wes the one she had -
toherto the City oneThe Conductor told me,she had gotten off,at fifth and Jackson,
and had boarded one of the cable cars. There were a great number of the cable cars,and
I antisipated a long search,but it was my only-hope. If the crews had not changed,
since she had made the trip, I would find the right one,sooner or later.

1 was very fortunate in finding the right one,on the third car I stopped. He said he
could show me,where the weeping Lady,and the two children had ieft his caryso I boarded
his car, and he took me,nearly to the loop,before giving me the signal. He stopped the.
cariand told me,she went up that path,and around that hill, designating the places.

I followed the path,and the first house I came to,I enquired for a Sweed Family,
that might liéve near. The man,knew of no Sweed Family in the neighborhood, but a
little boy,came to the door,and told his Father,there was a Sweed Family,moved into
thet house,right over ther, a fiew days ago,pointing to a house,near by,

Going to the place,I knocked on the door,and when it was opened,I saw Mrs Brolin
sitting at the oposite side of the room,end when she saw me, she went into histerics.

- None of the people there,could talk Bnglish, and I could not get her to quiet down,
until I slapped her on the fa ®.I was very sorry,to have to do it, but it wes the
only thing I could do. This brought her to her senses,snd she quited down enough to
understand, Frenk wented to see her. Frank wes not dead,which she hed emagined, and
‘had ask me,to bring her to him, after finding out,whet Miller had told her, 1 did not
bleme her so much. He had gone to her door,and told her, Frank was not hurt,but would
not be home,and walked away. She was alright,after finding,that Prank wented her to

come to the Hospital,but I told her what had happened,before teking her into the

Hospital,so she would not go to pieces again,at seeing what had heppened.

=
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After reporting the incedent to Captin Geer, I went home, end the next time I saw
Frank, he came to see me. I h8d wrenched my back,when I carried him up the stairs.

, Frank hed never saved any money, but of course,we gave him & job,as night watchman,
at the plant. He held that job,for about a year,when he quit,snd rented a small farm,
and started farming. The last time I saw Frank,he had bought the 40 ecres he had been
renting, and was doing quite gell. He had quite a lot of stock,and was feeling quite
prosperous. He confided in me, that the accident had brought him to his senses,about
saving.

. I made many trips,to Dakote (which was one State at that time)buying flax'straw,and
investigating the profpective flax crop. These trips were made,at the joint expense,
of the Floyd Flax Company, and the Sitoux City Linseed 0il Company.

W¥hile on one of these trips, I noticed, there were but fiew seeds in the balls,on
the flax. ( for the information of those who do not know how flax produces the seedy
there is many little balls,asbout the size of a- pea, at the end of the stems,and the -
seed is in these balls) Normaly,there are 30 to 40 seed,in each one of these balls.

. This particu;ar year, there were not more than 10 or 15 seed in them.

The market journals were reporting the prospect of a bumper crop, but I knew,they
were wronge. There were a plenty of balls, meking it look like a large crop,if the inve
estigation was not carried far enoughe. I had dreams of buylng a lol of flax seed,on
a margin, and making a fortune, but I lacked the nerve. However,l reported my findings
to.the Captin, but he thought the Agriculture dapartment could not be that, wrong.

.He told me. later, his @ompeny could have made thousands, if they had listened to me,.

In 1897, the Congress passed a bill,removing the tariff from the waste materials,
the linén mills in Europe, they .had-béen burning, - This material,was a better up-
holdtry medium,then we could meke from the raw straw. It could be bailed,and shipped
as balast, and any thing they could get for it,was clear profit. our business was comp=
letely killed. The cordage business had never materialised, and the Captin was compe=-
lled to close the plant down « I could tall of many things that happened, at that

place, after it was abandoned, but not many of them,would be interesting,to a stranger.
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One of them,was the disapearance of a streight flax thresher, I had designed and
built, togather,with several hundred Dollars worth of leather belting.

My Wife and I, had no children,and when we heavd.,there was a litilse girl,at onme
of the Hospitals,in the City, we went to see her. Her Mother,could not keep her,and
we were so pleased with the little darling, we took her home,sand adepted her.

Bhe was only two days old,when we took her. . This,was year of 1893, and she was born
on the third day of November,of that year. We nemed her, Hattie Ethel. She was a great
source of pleasure,to both of us. I made:a seat on the handle bars of my bicycle,
end she rode in it,many a mile. She was the best little youngster, I ha§e ever seen,
giving me no trouble,any time. Hattie (now Mrs. Ernie Strunk)lives in Phoeniz Arizona.
She is the Mother of two,fime men, and is a great Grand Mother.I receive letters
from her,quite frequently, and still have her picture, taken when she was a little
girl, the way I like to remember her,

After the tow mill closed down,I had no steady employament. Times were quite hard.
and I was compelled to make my own job. I started a feed mill,in an abandoned school
house, to get by, the first winter., It was while I was operating this mill, that I
discovered a way to extract the sweet, rich part of the corn kernal,and make it into
meal, for theshome kitchen. It was so delicious, I thought it could be,profitably
marketed, and delivered a fiew sacks,to some of the merchants,in the City.

After the people had sampled it, I could not supply the damand. My great trouble, was
to dispose of the balence of the: corn. I could get no more than 15 pounds of meal,
from a bushel of corn, leaving 41 pounds ,to be disposed of, as feed, and the ..feed
market was limited. While I was in the meal business,] mede a contract with a feed
dealer,in the City, for five tons of chop feed. This gave me & chance to produce
quite an emoudt of tlie special meal.: Naturely,I must have oats,to mix with the corn,
seven cents per bushel. The farmer,was to start making delivery, the next day, and
when he ceme,with the first load,; I noticed,there were several teaums.

He had ask some of his neighbors,to help him, for fear I would not take them all,
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if there was any delay. I mention this, to show what a bad condition,the market was in,
at the time. Grain,was selling at en unheard of, low price,and there was no market for
it,at that. those were the days,when Clxies army,came marching through the Country,
on their way to Washinglton. One could .buy the best coffee on the market,for nine cets
per pound, cured ham,was selling for ten cents per pound, and common labor,was getting
123 cents per hour, if one could get & job.. I use to go out in the fall,and get a job,
running a thieshey engine, and would get § 3.00 per day. Lvery one said,I was making
more than the owner. The only reason I could get that, was the fact, there was a law,
requiring a licensed Engineer,to be in gharge cof all steam aperatis.

I signed a contract with the Leeds Brick Company, to manufacture their brick,and
put them in the dry racks, for $2.00 per thousand brick. My Brother and I, put the
plant in first call order,as far as the manufactureing part was concerned, and started -
making bricke We had 4 hundred thousand in the dry-racks, when they colapsed,ruining
every one of them. The plant could meke 20 thousand,per day, so we had several days
work, represented, in the loss. The Company would not pay for them,although,the dry
racks were their responsibility. I was going to sue,when I discovered the Company was
insolvant, end eny money I paid,for Court action,woulg be, just that much more lost. I
could have gotten judgment,but that does not pay grocery bills,and that was what the
men I owed,were interested in. It was.customary,for the employer to meke arangements
for his help,to get their groceries, on his credit, and I had done just that,and owed
some large billsyas well as quite an amount,to the men,direct. I was completely broke,
and was nearlyy e thousand dollars,in debt.

I had an old threshing machine,I had bought for junk, and the local Blacksmith, who
I owed a large bill,told me,if I would haul the machine to his shop,he would help me
fix it up,and I could buy-an ehgine,on.time;end make.a.bid, . for the fall threshings:
i ThEhboys  who hedsworked for me,at the brick yard,wanted to clean up the mess,for
noihing, but,owing to the Companies finantial condition, I said nos Mr Goslin, the
Blacksmith, “and my 86lf; "repaired the old machine, made a water tank, and made an

extra-long stacker, emd I went to Lemars and bought a ten horse power, case engine.
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and brought it home, and let it be known, I was availaBle for the rye threshing,which
came earlier then the wheat,sand whicﬁ the large threshing rigs did not like to bother
withe My argument was,I had a small rig,and could get ovér the hills with more speed,
than the lerge ones,and the bridges the large rigs must go around, were no problém.

Tne reasonﬁl had bid for the rye threshing,was to become known,béfore the wheat
came in. I hired a good crew,and startéd the first five jobs of rye, and when we had
finished the last of these,there was nothing in sight. We felt pretty 1ow; when a
farmer who had 400 acres of wheat, came to me,ahd wantéd 1o know,if I would come to
his place and thresh one day,and hot expect to comeAback later,ioifinish ihe job?e

It was customary,for the rig that started the job.of threshing from the shock, was
entitled to come back later,and do the stack threshing.

| I told him I ﬁould,if he would agree to héve.enough helﬁ,to keep us busy,from sun-
up,to sun-down. He wanted to know,how-many teans I wanfedkin the field,and I told him,
atl least,six. He thought it was foolish to have that many,but‘agreed to have them
available,in case we needed theu, Thevgeneral idea,éeemed to be, I had a small rig,
and could not thresh,very fast,and I wantéd to prove, they were wrong.

We started at sun~rise. There were four teéms loaded with bundles,and by the time,
the last of them was unloaded, the first two,were not more than half loaded; I started
blowing the whistle,for more grain,and.the farmer, rushed two more teams into the field.
But, all six of them,could‘not keep us busy, and he rushed eﬁtfé pitchérs into the
field,to help load. By»this time,the whole crew had caught the feqver,and joined in
the sport. |

One of the neighbors came to me,and wénted to know, if I was sure,there was no grain
being wasted. I told him,that wes a éood question,énd ask him to get some of the
other farmers,and go té the back of the machine,end see if they could find any grein

)going over. They did so,and ceame,to report, théy could find nothing,.

He,finaly got enough hel?,to keep us going,most of the time. My men were on the

war path, for théy knew as well as I, this day,was the crucial tezt, and our perfore

mance, would determine,whether or not,we would have a successfull falls work,
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The only talk one could hear,at the dinner table,was about the wonderfull speed,
that little machine could get awey with the grain,and not the least of it was,that
it was not wasting any of it.

We threshed 25 hundred bushel of wheat,that day,and when I pulled the rig intosthe
yard,end stopped for supper, the farmer told ﬁe,he had changed his’mind, and would
like to finish the &hole jobswhile I wa; theres I was compelled to tell him, it would
be impossible,for I had booked enough work that day,to keep us busy, at least,fhree
weeks. All right,he said, I wiil stack the rest of it,end you can come back,later in
the fall,and finish it. No one else is going to thresh for me,if I can get you.

[} had ask Jomnie Crewmen, who had a large smount of wheat, for his job, erlier in
the fall, end he had answered me,with a loud gafaw,do you think ivﬁould have thét little
coffee mill, thresh for me?. Tﬁat remark,was heard by several people, and it gave my
?ig,the neme,of the coffee mill, He had done me,a great favor,fbr it went by that name
fhe balance of the fall. We had help,from all sideé; The wheat buyer,ét thé mill,Where
all the wheat was sold, Deciaired,he could tell, just where the coffee mill was at worl,
because the grain was cleaned,so much better. The loéal news paper, had an article
in every issue, concerning our progress.

We were threshing on the east bank of the Floyd River, when 2 deligation from a
) district,kﬁown as the Perry Creék district, were comming,to see if they could get us
to come to their sections They hadvjust crossed the River,when they noticed,we were
getting ready to move,from one éetting,to the next, and waited,to see how long it would
teke us. They hed heared,we were so quick on the move, they wented to see,for themselves.

After we were at work on the next setting,they came up, and the first question they
ask.was, were you moving,on a bet,or something?. i told them,If we were,I knew noth=-
ing sbout it, and ask,why they ask.such a question.One of them,wanted to’knwo,if I
knewyhow long we were, and I told him, I did not, but we were not in the habit of
wasting time,on the move, for there was no money couming in,ﬁhile we were éoiﬁgithaﬁga
He seid, they had timed us,and,from the time,the belt hit the ground,until :we were

threshing ,at the new location,was just eleven minutes.
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When one gets the people to talking about their good qualities, there is no better
advertising possible. By the wey, we threshed for Jonnie Crewmen, late in the fall.

We moved to Perry Creek,and threshed that entire district,which had elways been »
done, by Ben Dean.

" We pulled in, through a foot of snow, a Month after all the giherrfgﬁ@haﬂffiﬁiéﬁed.

We wede many friends,and if we made one enemy, I do not know of it. I Had adapted
the system of making a settlement,amediately after finishing & job,while every thing
was fresh in our minds, end teking a note,or the cash, which avoided any argument, later,

I offered two percent discount,for cash, and had no delinquent bills.

We had taken the best,out of the old machine,and when Mr. Miller offered me $500.00
for it, he bought himself u threshing outfit.

The only time we stopped,during the fall,was when I went to Des Moines,to see my
Brother,who had just came back,from the Spanish-American War,and was very sick,with
typhoid feaver,and I stayed with him,until my Sister Nettie arived.

I hed made enough money,to pay all my debts, and had enough left,to keep me from
worrying,about the comming winter. 4And,that was the end of a profitable falls work.

The next spring,I sew an add in the Sioux City Journal, wanting an engineer,to teke
charge of the City weter works plant, in Fonda  Iowa, and the applications were to be
‘considered,the very next day. I boarded the irain,the next morning,end headed for
Fonda, Ariving,there about ten A:M: and proceeded to' find oubt,who the Town Dads were.

I visited the Mayor first,and learned the nemes of all the Councilmen.

The Mayor,informed mé,that L.S.Straight,was Chairmen of the Water Committee,and he
was the first one I called on. Heyand his Brother Guy, operated a brick and tile
Factory, which was the only major industry in Town. We had & long talk,and he escor-
ted me all over the Town,meking me aquaintéd with the other Councilmen,all of whom,
ask me to be at the Council meeting,that evening. I attended the meeting,and was ask
to tell the Counéil,what my qualifications were. I did that.and showed them,a recom-
endation,that had been given me,by Captin Geer,when I laft his employ.

I believe,this recomendation,is the shortest,on record, it reads. The bearer, Clyde
A.Thorpe, @n,and will,do any thing,he says he can. Analize thet, and se if eny thing

should be added. After I had finished my talk, the Council,passed a resolution,.
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employing me,for a period of two years, and giving me. full charge of the entire
sys@gm. I learned,}ater,there were sixteen other epplications,for the position,and
my own,was the only one considered, which goes to thow,there is nothing like personal
contact.

Fonda,}}§ aqgggll Town,in Pocshontas County Iowa, at the junction of the C.M.& St. P,
and the Ill%yois Central R.R.

I moved there,at once,and essumed management of the system.

This Town of Fonda, is the biggest little Town, I have ever ceame in contact with,
And,it proved to be quite interesting,as well. If one,was on the level,according to
their gode, he would get along fine, but if he were inclined to teke any thing,from
one of their excepted members,dishonestly, he was in trouble. But,the method of aqui-
ing,that thing, made all dhe differance,in the world. If it were aquired,in a card
game,or any of their excepted forms of gambling, there would be no trouble at all.

I will aquaint you with some of their manuvers,later.

There were a great many retired farmers living there,and all they had to do,was to
meet every train,af either depot, and if the train was late,it gave them time to talk
about the grass hopper times, and to condemn the latest project of the City Council,
that would cost the tax payers any thing. I will now, relate an incedent,that happened
while I was there. There were two produce houses in Town, one of them,was quite a lar—
ge concern, owned by a Mr. Beswick, and known,as the Beswisk,Butter and Egg House,

The other,was a small concern,owned,and operated,byTommy Dunn, a little Englishman.

There was a law, prohibiting the killing,of posession,of prairie chickens.

Mr. Beswick,was a welthy men,and had a lot of influence. He would be notified,“ o
(through the grape vine)when the Game Wordens agent was comming,and would be prepaired
for his reception, but Tommy,was a little felow,and was not,of enough importance to
bother with,except,to collect from. There were no chickens found, at the Beswick place,
But, Tommy,had & couple,that had been left there by a friend. to be kept in cold stor-
age, wtil the owner was ready to use them. The worden found them, and made the misg-
teke of socking Tommy, $25.00, without the formality of meking an arrest, and teking

him before a magistrate. Thie was,surely a mistake in that Town, and he soon found it
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oute.
Tommy,let it be lmown, and that evening,when I came up Town,to play a little pool, I
noticed & crowd,in front of the Iowa Hotel, and stepped outside,to see iwhst was going
on. I had a billiard cue in my hard,and some fellow yelled, dont use a club, we can
hendle him, just let us get a hold of him,that's all we want.

The Officer was in the dining room,and this noise was ment,for his ears. Two of the
fellows,were in the Hotel,with the Officer. They had been chosen,to do the télking.
They ask him,if he could hear the comotion,and he said,he could,and wondered what was
the excitement, and when they told him it was beceause of him, collecing ﬁoney from
Mre Dunn,without due prdcess‘of law, &nd illegally, he became quite concernedy, and

ask the fellows,what they were going to do about it,and was told, if the crowd got

" "Rold of him, there was no telling what they might,do, and that was what they were

%here for,and if he cared to refund the mdney, they might,be able to keep the mob
away from ‘him,untill the train came ij, He agreed to refund the money,and ask for -
their protection. It was recognised, Tommy had broken the law, and if the Officer had
arrested him,and taken him before a Magistrate, he would have paid the fine, the owner
of the chickens,would have re-imbursed him, and that would have been the end of it.
But, the Officer had made the mistake of excepting the Money,without due process of
law , which, to those people, ment the same thing as robing him.

They walked him around the outskirts of Town,for Hwo-hours. umtil irain-time;. the:
mob,within hearing,ell the time, making believe,they were trying to find him.
knowing very well just where he was, all the time. And, strange to.say, none of them
were at the depot, when the train arived.

If any one,was ever glad to get out of a Towm, it was that Officer.
I knew of several stunts they pulled, comparible to this one.

"1 soon discovered,I had a problem at the Water Works.

' There was a four inch well,in the bottom af a fifty foot reservoir. This well,flowed

into the reservoir, whichrwas. six'fget_in dismeter,end was pumped from there,into the

mains. The water would rise to a depth of 20 feet,in the reservoir,
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To maintain pressure,and provide storage,there was a fifty foot tank, on the top'
of a fifty foot tower, making the top of it, 100 feet from the ground, which gave us
45 pounds pressure,to the square inch, when the tank was full. The pump would empty
the reservoir,in twenty minutes, and it required fourty minutes,for it to refill,
meking it necessary,to operate the pump, twenty minutes,out of each hour. I found,I -
could get a litile more water,by operating the pump,at a very slow speed, but I could
not run it slow enough, to keep it in motion,continuesly.

In the summer,the demand for water,was so high I had to keep the pump in operation,
twenty minutes, of each hour, during the whole twenty four hours, of each day; This
necessitated the hireing of an extra man, for I could not stay at the plant, all the -
all the time.It was appearant, the flow,was getting less and less, and in a short time,
there was not enough water,to supply the Town, although,we were on the job,continuesly.
Some thing must be done. vBy meking inquiries, I learned,the well had been finished in
S0ft sand rock,and a screen,had been placed atgthe bottom. It is a well known fact,
that a screen in the bottom of any well,will corode,and in time, stop it up,entirely.

I talked it ower,with the water Committee, and recomended placing a small dinamite
charge,at the bottom of the well. Telling them, it was entirely possible, it woung
stop the flow,entirely,\but the chences were were abiut ten to one,it would improve
the flow, temporarily, but would have to be repeated, ocasionaly. And there was one
~ thing they could be.surs.of. Theye would have to be a new well sunk, and that,before
very long. They gave me permission to place the charge, and I placed two sticke,at
the bottom,the next day,esnd shot it. The increas in flow,wgs amaging, we could
operate the pump, at full speed,until the tank was full.

This flow,kept up for a week,and gradualy lessened, and within a Month,we had to
place another shot.-

I met with the City Council, and gave them a detailed report,conitheir water sup-
ply, and advised them,to make arangements ,for sinking a new well, as soon as possible.

Mre. Straight, saw the situation,the same as I,and used his influance,to get the
project under way, .amediately. His factory,was dependant on our water supply, agd a

great part of the Town people,were dependant,on his Factorye.
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'Not;only that,But the Town had no water of any kind,that was fit to drink,except
the City'water,and it would jepordize the health of the entire Oommunity.'

The new well got under way,in a short time,in spite of the howling of the retired
farmer population,who could see no{hing but a raise in taxes they thought was sure to
coﬁe, if the City sold bonds,to finence the project. They did not reaiise,their insus
rence rates would increese morekthan their extra tax wouid'be,if {he weter supply was
inadiquet, for proper fire protection.

The former Engineer, had lost,stoled or distroyed,all the drawings, and other data,
ﬁertainint to the water plant,and sysiem, including the location of the shut-off velves,
that would be in the mains, aﬁd I had no way of locating them.I would not have known
where the meiyig wvere, if it had not have been for the fire hydrents. The water on the
‘back Street was very fouel, and the water supply, prohibited me from flushing the mains.

As the City furnished water fro the I.C. Railwey, I could not see, why the designer
would not have installed a line, running from the return mein, to the reilway tenk, .-
instead of, direct,from the plant. I worked,with this in mind,vwhen I made a dummy
drawing of the system;as I emagined the designer would have followed.

The Engineers itraining,causes them,to follow certain ideas,and procedures.

Mr. Straighﬁ and I, studied the plan, end he lined up with me. In a short tine,we
had most of the Council ,with us. The reason I went to all this trouble was, the only
ﬁay I could be;sﬁre, was to dig to the gemins,in several places, where I had located
these valves.on my drawing. The first place we dug,we had not gone along the'line,
more than ten feet,when we struck the valve,ieading to the I:0., tank. It was closed,
and when I openedAit,there was a rush of stagnate wetery into the tank,and the water in
thé back mains,improved.amediately, which was a great boost for my plan,of finding
vhere the several valves were.

‘The next thing I tackled,was water hammer that existed,all over Town, when the pump
Was operating.' The base of the pump,had an opening on each side. The pipe léading to
the mains,was attached to one side, and,the other was capped,with a'flange.

I obtained a large tenge boiler,eand ren a pipe from the capped side of the pump,
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base, to the bottom of the renge boiler, using it,for an air chamber,or cushin. The
hammer, was completely stopped. These accomplishments did me no harm,in tlie opinion
of the Public,and after all, that was who I was working for.

The bonds were voted,at a special election,and wefe sold, as soon as possible,and
%ﬁ was not long,befére there was a\drilling machine,on the job. They made good pro-
gress,with an eight inch well. The contract called for them to find a flow of 5000
barrels, every 24 hours,, and the head,not to fall below fourty feet from the surface.
h At sixty feet{ they struck a streak of Pirdilotez of iron, end drilled two weeks
going thrqugh e half inch of it.They could not ream the hole to take the eighﬁ inch +7
pipe, ,and ask permiSSion.to reduce the size, to take a six inch pipe,fyem~ there,down.

The Council callgd a gpecial meeting,and éfter a long discussion,ask for my opinion.
' I told them,the well being at a depth of sixty feet, and the contract called for a cer-
tain amount of water, to be available,at a depth oi fourty feet, that amount of water
musthbe available,at that depth, regardless of the size of the hole below it.

The results of reducing the size of the casing,was the responsibility of the drilling
Compeny. I they could not furnish the required amoﬁnt of weter, at the contract
depth, thgy would not be‘able to collect. Therefore, I would recomend,the Drilling
Company,use theil own judgment, and that,they assume all responsibility.

One Oouncilman,voted egainst it, that being Mr. Rock, of whom I will have more to
say,later. The well wes finished,and tested,to the best of our ability; And well eno-
ugh to assure us of the required amount of water,and much,to‘spare. It was finished,
in solid sand-rock,and required no screene. | ”

While we were testing the well,the man,who was fireing the boiler,threw hot cinders
too closs to the wall of the building,which wes & frame building,covered with sheet-
irone At one Cclock,the next morning,the fire alarm,called me out,and when I neered =
the water plant,the building weas a mass of flame. I couid not get inside,to start the
fire pump,and it burned to the ground. I operated the plant,in the open,fér some time,
and when the insurance.adjuster ceme, the layor sent him to me,with a seéled note,

saying,the Council would O0.K. any settlement, I saw fit to except. It was an eisy
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kind of a settleﬁeht, ihé Company haé allowed,and it would be the best of advertising,
for them,to be liberal. The insurance money, was enoﬁgh to put up a new building, not
of wood, but @ brick building,.ten feet wider than the old‘one,so it would cover the
new wel, .The City, gained very much,by the fire, but I was the one who lost. I had a
chest of tools,that could not be replaced for less than éZO0.00. My diploma,from
theﬁEngineering School, which I could not replace,for-the School had gone out of
.business,long ago. My Shop rélease,which gave the grade,underbwhich I was classified,
and would have lost my Engineers license, had i not have taken it home, to pﬁt it in
a new frame. | |

Mre Rock, of whom I spoke,some pages back, had bepame Chairman of the water Committee,
and his idea of repaying me,for the years of hard worlk, and worr&, was to inform me,
that,ow1nc to the 1mproved condition of the water plant,end the fact, it requlred less
time,to operate it ( my contract,called for me to be within call of the fire alarm, 24
hours of each day, seven days,each week)it would be nexesséry toAreduce the salary of
the present ﬁngineer or, replace him,with archeaper men. Of course,l told him to get
another man,and,in the meen time, I would expect, my regular salary.

He hired a fellows n;med Taylor, who was & comuon 1aborer,§hich was no discredit
to him as a man, byt certalnly was,a dlscredlt to him,as an Englneer.

Before turning the plant over to him, I ask him to examine every thing in the plant,
and be sure it was in good working condition. He did so, and I ask him to sign e
reléase, stating he had done thét, and found every thing in first class condition.

I,émediately, went to work for Straight Brothers, as Engineer, and Suvervisor of
their Fa&tory, at a salary,nearly double that I héd been receiving.

Shortly after Téylor took over at the water works,he decided-to change the leathers,
on the pump plungér, which were practicaly new,aﬁd would last at least, a year.

He pulled the pump cesing out of the well, Whlch was not at all, necessary, for the
plungel,where the leathers were located,could be removed from the cylinder,by simply
pulllng the pump rods,out,without disturbing the piping. There was 20 feet of six

inch pipe, below the cylinder, which he unscrewed, for some unknown reason, and dropped
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it, into the well. He had no£ the élightest idea, how to :recover‘'it, and no oné

els séemed to be able to help him. The bull-headed Rock,would not ask for infore
mation, and I offered none. I would have helped them out of théir trouble, héd they
given me the chence, for spitting on Rock,would not help the inocent people who uould
suffer,from the lack of water. Rock had hlred a cheap man,and already, that man had
proved to be,any thing but cheap. Rock wired the Qompany who had drilled the well,

and received the answer, They were on a job in Minnesota,and would be finished, within
two weeks. At that time,thqywoufdcome,and get thé pipe ﬁut; The coét would be $500.00,
plus the freight, both ways, which would be at least, another $500,00,

The storage tank was half empty,and would be entirely empty,within 24 h;urs, mless
the water was shut off,from the mains. If they did that,the City would betout oé water
and if they did not, the City woﬁld be at the mercy of any firs,that could break out,
any time.There were no wells in the Town,to fill in,for drinking water,and to use ihe
water from the near by,ponds,which was the only water;available, would be a direct
threat,to the health of the community, Realy, it was a desperate situation.

Fraﬂcf&drhoru, a banker,and at that time, Cuty Clerk, came fo the Office,and ask
Mr. Straight, to call me, eand we would talk the situation over, |

I made no coment,concerning their trouble. I was bound,to make'Mr. Rock, come to me,
or send for me. Bu{,when Frank ask me to make a suggestion, I could not refuse to say,
what I knew,was the only thing to do. I told him, there was but one thing to do,and
if they had had an Enginser, that would haﬁe been done, long ago, but what they had,
was ﬁ ditcher,who could not be expected to know what to do. The only thing to do,was
to bring the lost pipe to the surface, put the pump togather,and start pumping.

Frank wented to lmow,if I ment to say, I could get that pipe out?. and when I told
him, I could. He wanted to knOW,hoﬁ long it would take, I told him, it might teke 24
hours, bﬁf I did not think it would take.that long. Frank turned to Mr. Straight and s
seid, darnd if I dont beiieve,he can do it. and L.S. said. of course he can, did you -
ever see the credentials he carries?.I told them,the cost would not exceed $50o00,

including the tool I would have to have made,and the City should have that, anyway
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Frank took the proposition to Mr. Rock,and that gentlemen,turned it down,saying I
wanted to cause more delay,because of emj dislike for him.

That,was when the Town people took maters in their own hands,and declaired they:-had
had enough, and demanded, in no-mild terms, that Fock give the order,without further
dalay. PRock,seeing the temper of the people,and knowing what they were cepiable of
doing,in a case like this, gave the order,to go shead. But, it had taken the rest of
the day,to bring him to terms,and it would be just that much longer,before water would
be going into the mains.

then I finaly got the order, I was already to get to work,for I knew i£ would come,
and had engaged men,for the job. While I was getting the tool made,at the local Black-
smith shop, I sent them to gat a long cable,from the Tile plant.

We started the tool down the well,at ten Ocloek that night, and at four Cclock,the
next morning,I telephoned the Mayor, we were through,snd for him to get his(so called)
Engineer, to put the pump togather. He ask me to stey, and to keep my men, until he
could get there. When he arivad,he ask me to put the pump togather,for he would not
trust the men,Taylor,to touch-it. He would guarantee, we would be well paid.

Taylor had not shown up,during the whole trouble, and never did, come baclks.

We had water going into the mains,at six Oclock that morning,and I thought,for a '
while, I was going to be.mobbed. If there were a person that Town, that was not.at
the water works,that morning, they must have been sick; They-all; wanted to shake my
hend. The Mayor told me, if I would apply for reinstatement, he would see that it was
done, and at a substantial increase in salary. I could not consider it,for I was
under contractyto Straight Brothers, at a higher salary,than the Town could afford
to pay,and I liked my work at the Tile Plant, much more then the water workse.

But I recomended a good man, who excepted the job,and he was still there,when I left
the Town, several years later.

At the next Council meeting, they voted to give me $100.00, clear, after Rock had
declaired,the job was not worth more than ten Dollars, but he had agreed to pay $25.00

and would, but no more. Mr. Rock, lost his position,as Chairmen of the water Committee,

The Council declsired the position vacant, and appointed another men,to take his places
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Incedently, we put the pump togather,with the same leathers in it, that Taylor was
trying to change. Showing, it was an experoment.

That,was the end of my association with the Town of Marvin, Now called Fonda.

My experience, with the Commercisl, Ceramic Industry.

Through the center of the State of Iowa, there can be found,the most extaesive.
Building materials Plants, in the country, if not in the world, in a like area.

The reason for this,is the extensive deposits of Aluvian Shale, found, in the dist-:
ricte This deposit,is found, in the southern part of Minnesota, all through Iowa, and
a part of Missouri. Ending,at the Ozark Mountaing. Where there is a deposit of flint.
rocke This deposit, shows very plainly, it has been pushed.there,by some,great force.
There is layer,upon layer of this rock, laying at an angle of about 45 degrees, the
top, pointing in a southerly direction. All through this mass, there are caves. Some
of them are large,and som e are small. There is straems of water rumning through the
valleys, and. through the mountains,as well. Sientests tell us, these caves.are the
result of Ice, that was forsed along,with the rock, and melted,later, causing the caves.
Thisy 21l heppened,during the pre-historic, Glazier slide.

The shale,varies in make-up, some of it is soft enough to be worked into forme,as
it comes from the deposit, and some of it,must be ground into dust, before it may be
worked.

The deposits,very in width,also, some,are not more than a mile wide; They do not
appear, continuesly, but in spots. There will be a space of several miles,where there
is no shale,at all, then,there will be a deposit,seventy five,or more,feet deeyp, &s
though the flow, had filled up, & depression. There are many differant colors, from
a bright red, to a dull grey, and some of it,will burn to a differand color, from the
rav materials. Shale,is the best material known, for manufactureing building materials,
and tile. In fact,there can be shapes made from shale,that cannot be made from surface
clays. Surface clay, shrinks,in the drying process, but, none,in the burning, while
shale, shrinks in the drying process, not at all, but does, in the burning.

. Therefore, surface clay forms, must be dried,very slowly, to prevent them from crackings

while, shale may be dried,very rapinly, and in excessive heat,and étrong drafis.
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shale will vi?rify,ai a tempreture of 2200 degrees.F. vhile surface clay will not
¢ : .
vitrify at all, but will fuse,a£ that heat. Shale,will take a beautifull glaze,while
surface clay will not glaze at all. These are the reasons,the.building materials indu-
stries,are located on shale beds.

The general practice'is to mix the several strate,togather, unless some spacific
color is desired. It may'be formed into shapes,éuch as vasses, by mixing the several
strata, togather, Seperately, into a plastic condition, puting themn togather, layer
upon layer, Ikneed them lightly,before molding,when they are dry, senpaper them,with
fine sand paper, and they will have a beautifull marble appearance,when burned.

I designed,and built many’devices for improving the ware,as well as the method of
menufecture.

The clay deposit in Fonda,ﬁas of the surface clay,variety,and required much care in
the drying process. Large dry houses were required for this purpose, in fact,Straight
Brothers,had three buildings,all of which,were 100 feet Iong, 50 feet wideyand three
stories high. All floors were made of 4 inch boards, layed one inch apart. There were
no doors,except at on the lower floor,and they,were‘hung from the top,and were closed,
wnile that floor was being filled. It required seven days,for the ware to dry, in clear
weather,and if it were demp,or rainey,much longer,and there was much cracked ware, at
that. f mention these facts,to show how difficult it is, to manufacture the modern
Rbuilding materials,and kindred ware, the trade demands,with surface clays.

The plants that were located on shale deposits,could make a hollow tile building

block,without loss, even when the drying ﬁas done in excessive heat,and strong draft.

It is possible,to manufacturenthe ware,one day,end set in the kiln,the next, perfactly

dry;

In the old days, all that was made of clay,was brick. The ancient method,was to soak
the cléy during the night, work it into a plastic condition,with a puging device,
wheel it to the molders table,where he would force it into,well sanded molds,after
which it would be dumped onto a smothe,sanded lot, edged,the next day,and hacked, the

next, if the waether was dry,and would stay in the hacks,untill they were dry enough

to be set,in the kilnsjMany times, a whole weeks work would be distroyed, by rain stormse
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) When shale came into use,modern machinery was put into the game,and the Engineer,
wes néeded, for the first time,in the ceramic industry. It was a hard job, convincing -
some of the old fellows,that a trained Engineer, knew more about modern methods,than
the old fellowywho had never made a brick,with any thing,but the old,wooden mold.

The ever increasing demend for shapes for various Buildings,soon interested the
capitolests,and they knew the savings,an Engineer could make. I pot into the game,when
the use of shale first began,and grew ﬁp,with the industry. Naturaly,lthis was the
time,that new methods of accomplishing the various phases of manufactureing processes,
were being designed,end tested.

One thing that made progress slow,was,the seme old die-~hards that I mentioned.

If they did, hire an Engineer,and he saw a chance to make an improvement, he was requie
red to submit his plan to the fellow in the swivel chair,and nine times oug of ten, he
would be turned down. The boss, would rather take the loss of being without it, than
give his Engineer the credit, and after he thought it had been forgéten, would order
the same device installed, and he, would take the credit,for the idea.

I am glad to report,these old fellows heve been replaced,; . by the younger generation
and they are progressive minded. Sure. the old fellows made their pile,with tﬂe old
methods. But it was because off the near,slave methodé of getiing their manual labor
done. Man powerywas the cheapest poﬁer known, I am thankfull, that has changed,

I was ask to prepair and read a paper,at the Permanent Buildres Convention, atkAmes,
Towa, on the subject, of the Engineers problems,in the Brick and Tile industry,The regq-
uest of which, was proof,the problem‘existed. My great desire,was +to meke the laging
menufacturer understand,the value of his Engineer, who,if he is worth any part of his
salary, will be on the watch continuesly,for. T;vpossible improvements. He is not thin-
kdge of the credit he will get, for that, comes automaticaly,and he will get it,whéther
or not, the boss wants him to have it. aﬁd the real Engineer does nét have time,to
worry about what the other fellow is thinking,and will soon be in line,for planty of
credi@. I told the old fellows,the only difference between them,and the ancient

Egyptions,was they used strew,in:the making of brick, and you do not know how.

However, it has been my good fortumne to be employed be progressive men,who would
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listen eagérly,to any suggestion theip> Tngineer mede. and the never attended a conve
ention, thelr Engineer was not teken aléng,so he could see the latest ideas in machinery,
and compare notes,with the other Engineers in attendance.

When I first entered the service of Straight Brothers, I could see many things,that
were, sorely in need of improvement. The first thing I tackled,was a kiln conveyer,for
loading and,unloading the kilns. It could be wheeled into the kiln door,snd the ware
placed in it, outside the kiln, carried inside,and elevated to any desired hight.

It pould be reversed,and the burned ware,carried out,in the same menner. None of the
ware need be pitched up,or dowm,and it was not wheeled over the kiln floor,which
demaged the floor, very muche.. The plan,called for an electric motor,for power,and
there was none’inthe Towm, but they liked the idea so well,they told me to make it,and
they would order a small generator, which I could install in the engine rooms ;"

This machine,proved to be a great success,and was coppied,by many menufacturers.

When the oldest Son,of L.S. came from College,after finishing a course in Machanical
Engineering, the Company bought a plant, located on-a shale’deposit; near-idel” Towdsahd
moved me,there,to teke charge of the Engineering work. I had known Halver, since he
was. a little boy, in Fonda , and liked the youngster,very much, but I wondered whether
of not, his College education,without the necessary training, would wake him difficult.

he plant was badly run down,and there was much to be done. Sure enough, Halver and
I, could not see alike,in meny things, but I considered the fact, he was {resh,out of
College,which has a great deal of theory,in its teachings, and he would soon find,that
théorieg: .are the raw materials from which,facts may be proven,or disproven, and only
prepaired him, for the begining of his education, and not,the finish of it. I knew he
lacked nothing in the mathamatical proceedure of mechanics but, I also knew, he lacked
a great deal,in experience, which is a must, before bhecomting a successfull Engineer.
The profession of Hechanical Engineering, or any other profession,for that mater, is
like learning to drive an automobile. One may learn,all the parts, and know the prin-

cipals of the design, and know all the road laws, but,he is not a driver, until he

gets behind the stearing wheel , and herds the thing down the road.
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- If the College man,could understand, there are things that can not be learned,from

books,alone, he would be much better prepaired,when he enters the race for survival,
with the other fellow., Education,is a must, put, experience,is also a must.

Halver did not get along with his men,which is very bad, for one who is at head of
a concern that employes many people.He aquired the name of trying to run a Sunday School,
in whichgthere is no harm, if practiced in the proper invironment, but that place is
not in a brick and Tile Plant. there is a saying, there are but two requirements,to
qualify for the. job, a strong backsand a weak mind. 4nd, I want to say, right here,
Lhere were never, more noble men,than the rough class found smong them. I know,for I
worken among them,for many years. Another mistake he madeywas in telling a Herchant,
in the Town, the best way to get a lot of work out of the men,was to keep them afraid
of the boss. There was never a greater mistake made. Such things,are never kept secret,
and that‘remark,was soon knoow to every one on the job. There was not a man on the job,
that was afraid of Halver, nor any thing else. Their only fear,was for.their job, and
that, because of the effect it would have,on their Family. The'feélinhf the men have
after hearing such things, is one of revenge,and the only way they know, how to get
it, is by watching the boss, and killing all the time possible,when he is not there.

Halver,told me later, there were three men at the plant,when he first Btgrted, that
taught him more about handling his problems,than all his College education, and those
three were, my self, Ed Thoms,the Steam Engineer, and Will Smith, the yard foremen.
They, would talk back,to him,when they thought he was wrong,ér did not like what he said.
= 'Qur shale bank waw a mile from the Plant,and was transported in~&nall calsythal were
pujled by, a locomotive, constructed. by placiﬁg aﬁ old time gas engine on a four wheel
flat-car, the power being tfansmitted to the axles, by & link belt,through a friction
clutch. There waes no housing,of any kind, the operater must stand, or sit,on the thing,
in all kinds of weather, be it rein or snow. It was also,very slow.

I designed and built, an electric locomotive, that was entirely inclosed. Using a
three phase,alternating Motor, for power. The current being tramsmited to it, through

two trolleys,and the rails.
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it being three phase. It worked very well,and speeded up the transportion of the shale
vhich was needed very much,for we had increased the out-put of the plant, &0 9.

The shale pit, floor was so much lower than the surface of the ground, a long cable
was used,to pull the cars out of the pit.where they could be reached, with the locomotive.
This cable was attached to the locomotive,which proceeded up the track,until the cable
was tightened, so the car could be lowered into the pit, by it. This was too slow,and
required one of the men at the pit,to come out each time,to help the locomotive oper-
ater. I installed a hoisting drom,at the edge of the pit,and the operater could handle
the yhole procedure,without help.

I made three kiln conveyers, like the one at Fonda, except, I abondoned the link
belt, in favor of a gandy belt, with lugs attached,to carry the ware.

I think,the most importent thing I wmade, was an elevator,to handle the ware from
the second floor of the dryer,where the larger tile were placed,for drying. £hale is
very brittle, vhen dried,bui.not burned, and there was altogather,too much breakage,
in the process of lowering them to the ground,on their way to the kilns,.

This had been done,with two,balanceing elevators, YEEXYZXAEIXIHK, the loaded car. on
one elevator, bring the empty car up,on the other. This mechanism,was handled by men,
using a friction brake, to slow it,when it neared the landing. Carlessness,and bad
judgment, caused the cars to be lét dowm,too fast,and when they would strike the lower
lending, many of the tile would be broken.
. Btraight Brothers, had a Blant in Auborn, and Roy Wecks, a young fellow,whomn I had
trained,while he was taking a lechanical Engineering course, through cosrespondance,
was their Engineer,thfre,and he was having the same trouble. He had devised an
elevator,the operater rode on, thinking he would be more carefull, if he were on the
cage. It proved to be a failure,to a great extent, for the man,wouldmmisjudgevthe
distance,;ﬁst the same. This was the only time,while I was with them, that L.S.
could not see the advantage , of the design, from looking at my drawings. So, I made
a modle, using a piece of babbitit, for the load,and set it on the bench,in the store

room, and waited for him to come to the plant, when he did,come, I took him into the

room, =nd showed it to him. He played with it,for a long time,and when ha came out,

<
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he wented to know how long it would take,to get it into operation?. and for me %o get
at ityright away. I think,the main reason for not being convinced before, was his
desire,not to hurt Roys feclings, and he thought,if he insinuated: Roy's device was . -
not good enough, it would do, just that.I got itireadyto install,and had the old elevator
torn out,when my helper, dropped a schive wheel on my foot, breaking the arch bone; I
pulled off my shoe,and could see the bone sticling up, under the skinj 2and pulled my
shoe back onyso I could get home. Vhen the Doctor came,he said,I had set the bone,
periectly,when I had pulled on, my shoe,and all he had to do,was to put a splint cn it,
and wrap: it up. The next morning, I found a couple of old brooms,and using them for
crutches, hobbled over to the shop,and made me a wooden leg. There was a shelf on it,
where I could place my knee, and my Wife made a sling, to go over my shoulder, io hold
the weight of my leg, and I worked in that thing,untill my foot was well. Ue had the
new elevator instelled,in a short time,and L.S. sald, it saved its cost, every day it
was in operation.

It was difficult, working with Halver, I could have had muxh trouble. ¥y patients
was wearing quite thin. I could have helped him schieve his ambition, much sooner,if
he had been a little more co-cperative, but he knew it all, and would listen to no
advice from any one, any time. I put up with it,until my two years were up, and left
him, to paddle his own canue,for a while.

I excepted a position with the Rockwell City Brick and Tile Company,asSuperintandaiik,
...Yhile I was in Rockwell City, Straight Brothers had a bad accident, at their Auborn
plent, killing one men,instantly, and hurting enother, badly. The latier being my good
friend, Roy Weeks, of whom I have spoken. Their shale bank,was .on the oposite side of
the Coon River,from the plant, and the shale,wes transported, over the River, by means
of an areal cable-way, I had installed,some time before, consisting od two, 100 foot
towers5§§; each side of the River, with a cable, extending from the top of one,to the
top of the other. There was a skip, operated from this cable,that could be lowered,or
dumped,at eny desired place. This skip,wes controled by an operater, near one of the

towers. The two boys, had gotiten into the skip, to cross the River,to do some work

on the oposite side. When they were 70 feet,in the air, for some unknown reasonmg,the
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skip dumped. throwing both of them out. One of them fell to the ground, killing him
instantly. Roy was thrown against the tower, and lodged,in the V, of one of the X
braces, and hung there,until rescued. But,he had two ribs broken,and was badly brused.

The cable,running from the cable to the skip,was badly tangled, and the skip,could
not be lowered to the ground. I received a call, from each of the three Brothers, who
were in three differant places, when they had received the news. All of them seemed
to have the same idea,which was, to get Glyde,on the job,as soon as possible.

I told each of them,I would be in Auborn,as soon as possible, and caught the Pirst
train,to lLowerville,vhere I éhanged cars, for Auborn, ariving there, quite late.in
the evening, and found Guy, waiting for me,at the depot. We went to the Hotel,where
foy was, but the Doctor had given him so much dope, to kill the pain, ha was still
sound asleep. Guy gave me the details,as he knew them, but there was nothing we could
do,that night, and I told him,he had better go to bed,and get some rest, the job,was
nowyup to me,and I would probably spend the greater part of the night, figuring ways,
and means. 1 realised, it would be a hard matter for a man to sleep,when one of his
trusted,and trusting employees, had just been killed, on the job.

The next morning,we went to the River, which is a mile from the Town, so I could
see whet would be needed. I climbed up the tower,to a level with the skip, and made a
carefull study of the situation,and decided on & plen. Then, I returned to the ground,
and ask Guy,to take me to Town,where I could get the things I needed,for the job.

We hed breakfast, after which,I went to the Hard ware store,,and obtained a clothes
line,and a stout fishing pole, got by bag of tools,from the Hotel, and we returned,
to the tower, ready for action.

The skip was hanging,about ten feet from the tower,and about 30 feet from the cable
.above it.It was necessary for me to get onto the skip, in order to untangle the cables.
I had figured two ways of doing it, one yag,to go to the top,and go out on the main
cable, and from there, down the tangled cables,to the skip. But the cables .were
socbadly: worn, ithey would tear my clothes, to say nothing about my skin, so I

abandoned that idea.That is why I had goten the fishing pole,and the clothes line.
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I cut the pole the right length,to reach the skip,from the tower, wound the line
around my waist,and climbed the tower, again,and dropped the end of the line %o Guy, so
he could tie the pole to it, pulled it up, re-would the line around my waist, got a
‘good position on the tower,and placing the pole against the skip,pushed it'as far
from me,as possible,end let it swing back. I kept this up,until the skip was swing-
ing,almost to the tower. Picking a good place to grab onto the skip,I dropped the pole,
and the next time the skip came to the tower, I grabbed onto it,and swong out,with it.

After getting onto the skip,it was a short job,to get the cables untangled, and I
directed the hoist man, to lower the skip,amd my self,to the ground.

Guyyend my self,went back to the O0ffice,where,the first thing Guy did,was to call
his Brothers,to let them know,every thing was under controle, then,he ask me,what my
bill was, I %old him what my expense would be,by the time I got back home,and said for
him to pay me,what he thought the job was worth. He wrote me a chack,for $100.00,plus
my expense. I thougnt it was too much,and told him so. But he said, there was not eno-
ugh room on the chect, toc write the amount it would take,to get him to do,what I had
just done. He told me, he had been scared stiff, all the time I had been working on
the tower,and when I had swong out,with it, he thought he would faint. to the un -ini-
tiated, the work of a high man, 1s much more hazardus, then it seems,to the one who is
doing the work. When I had left home, I did not tell the Family,what I was going to do,
thinking they would worry, if they thought there would be some danger. II would have
better told them, for they had received the Des Hoines paper,who had a reporter on the
job,and he exagerated, my part in the progrem, greatly.

Shortly after this, L.S. phoned me,to meet him at the Depot, In Rockwsll City,
a8 he wanted to talk with me. I met the train,and we were not through talking,when
it pulled out,and he ask me to jump on,and I could catch the return train,at Lowerville,

‘I finaly went clear to Adel,and out to the Plant, and inspected it, from end to end.
Before I left, I had agreed to come back,to work for them. It seemed, they wanted,very
much, for me to come back,and offered me, most any thing I would ask. I told L.S. just
why I had left,and he promiced I would be working under no one,and could plan my own

program,at all times. They would meke satisfactory arangements,with Mr. Steinburger
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at Rocltwell City, for a release from my contract with him, would move me to Adel, furn-
ish me a house,with all utilities paid,for $100.00 per year, and would give my new Son-
in law a job,working with me,and my pay would start,the first of the present Month,
which was two thirds gone,at the time.

So, we were back,working with Halver. The plan worked quite well,for a time, but
gradualy,became the same old story. I was getting sick and tired of it gnd told the
young man,where he could go. Our assoclation was not very pleasant,after that.

I stayed,however,until me two year contract expired, and excepted a poéition with
the Belplane Brick and Tile Company, at e substantial increase iﬁ'salary;

On ariving at Belplane,the Manager ask me to except the position of Superintendant,
at another salary increase, and hire a iechanic,to work under my direciions.

There is a great deal more responsibility, in the position of Superintendant, if
he is also responsible for thiﬁggchanical work, which I would be,under those condi-
tionse I hired my Brbtherﬂigi ;as living in South Dakota,and wished to come back to
Towa. If I had have known as much about the situation,as'I later learned, I certainly
would have turned that proposition down.

This,was a surface clay deposit,with a shale working factory built on it;

There was a shale bed, near enough for shale to be shippad in, to temper the local
clay,and had been intended so, by the designing Engineer, but Management would not
bother with it. The Promoters knew nothing about the ceramic game, all they lmew,was
to sell more stock to the unsuspecting Public,by making great promices.

I experienced two of the hardest years of my professional career, in Belplane. I
tried,ny best,to get the Manager to let me ship in shale, but no.

They maintained an Q0ffice in the City,while the plant was two mlles out. when they
roped in, a sucker, they would telephone me, to start the plant, and when they arived,
we would be making fine looking tile,and trucking them into the dryer,and as soon as
the prospect had gone, we would bring them out,again,and pile them into the pugmill
bin,ready for the next sucker. We, positively could not ¢ry the material,in the dryer
that had been constructed,and what little we could nurse through, the burner could

burn it properly. He was a shdle burner,and knew nothing asbout burning by sight.
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There being no settlement,with the surface clay, in the kiln, he was lost.
}Some of it would be burned to a clinker,while some,would not be burned enough.

After I had gottenthe dryer changed,we did better,in the drying, but I was compelled
to let the old burner go,and hire a man who was a surface cley,burner,end one that
would listen to myradvice. About this time, the Manager,got into some kind of trouble.
in the Town,eand left, between two days, and the management of the whole plant, fell on
my shou;ders. That is when I learned of some of the crookgd work,that was goirng on,
but not all of it, as I learned later. The President of The Coumpany,lived in Waterloo,
Iowa. His name,was Haryy Lew. Harvy, came to the plant,and proposed,that I become the
Official Manager. I excepted the offer,thinking I would be able to ship in shale,which
would allow me,to malkte a perfect ware, bul, soon after, Harvy came again, to tell me,
that under no conditions, must the plan® make,more than expenses, for the next year.

Knowing the finamtial condidion of the Company, that gave me,something to think about.

The Promoters had sold, two hundred thousand Dollars worth of stock, to farmers,
Business and Professional men, taking 40%, for theip commission paying the active,
salesmen, only 10%. so, they had annexed sixtyhthousand Dollars, for their own bank
account. Then, not being satisfied, they had ba¥rowed sixty thousand Dollare,and had
issued a sixty thousand Dollar,first mortgage bond, and(something,I was not supposed to
know,but didy the Laws,had bought ths bond issue. It was plain to be seen, the bonds
had cost them nothing, and if the plant was sold,to satisfy the indebtedness, and they
saw fit to, they could own the entire concern,for nothing,flat.

I would not be a party to this swindle,and told Mr. Law,to get himself,another
Manager. In a couple of weeks, he ceme back,to tell me,he had hired a manager,who
would be on the jobythe first of the next Month,and after finding,who the new Hanager
was to be,I told ir. Law, I was handing him, my resegnation,now, to tgke effect, the
new Manager took charge.

I knew the man, and his reputation. He had wrecked two plants,that I knew of,and

would double-cross his best friend,for a lousy Dollar. I would have nothing to do

with him.
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My contract with the Company,called for me to leave a certain amount of my salary,
each lonth,for purchas of stock,which would be paid back, at face>va1ue, should I be
discharged,or resign, any time.

vhen the new men came, and~wes’duly installed, I demanded my salary,and all the money
I had paid for stock. The new Manager issued me a checl,for the whole amount,without
a murmere. Tahis check,was for quite a large amount,and I expected an argument, about
paying it,all at once,for I knew thare was not enough Money in the bank,to meet it.

I also knew, the new Manager was as anxious to get rid of me,as I was to leave,
for I knew,that he knew, that I knew too much about his past. |

¥nowing the Iowa banking law,and also,knowing the Cashier at the bank was the
Treasurer of the Company, and very closs to the Laws. I decided to use the yhmest
precausion. I walked into the bank,but did not present the check,for payment, and they
playesd into my hand,nicely. The Teller told me, lr. Ermins wanted to see me, and I
went into his private Office. He informed me,the Company did not have enough Money,
on deposit, to meet that check. I ask him,what check he was talking about,and he said
he knew I had a large check, that had been given me, by the Manager. 0, I said, that
check 7. UWell, HMr. Ermins, I did not present it for payment, and I will not do so.

I knew there was not enough to meet it, so I decided to do a little scheeming,on my
own hook. Yhen the check is,presented, you had better pay in, or your bran-new Manager
is going to jail, and I might add, it would not be the first time. I know him,and he
knows me. In fact,the first time we met,was in a Court of Law, concerning some machi-
nery, Iwas-called on,to identifiy, prooving he had stolen it.

The Iowa check law, provides; If A, issues a check,to B, and B, presents said
check, at the bank of issue,and payment on said check is refused, for any reason,
said B, has no recourse,it law, and said check is of no value except, as a promisary
note but. Should said B, sell said check,to an innocent person, and sald innocent
person, presents said check, at the bank of issue, and peyment id refused, for reason
oi no account or, insufficent funds, said innocent person may deliver said check, togat-
her with a statement of facts, to the Sheriff of the County, in which said check,was

issued, and it becomes the duty of said Sheriff, to place saidﬁag under arrest, and
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keep him in custody, until the Court, shall hear the case, and make a dicision.

As you can see, Mr, Ermins played into my hazd nicely. He tried to bluff me,
saying,he would notify every one in Town, that had enough money to buy that large a
check, before I could get to them. Do not worry about that, Mr. Ermins, suppos I have
sold it to my Brother, just across the Street?. He said, your Brother hasent enough
loney to buy that check,and you know it. Mr. Ermins,I said, you seem to forget, that
check was issued to me, and I can do exactly as I please,with it, If I want to sell i%,
Tor twenty five cents, it is none of your businéss, but, the men who bought it, will
demand, face value, and you had better pay it. Good day Mr. Ermins. ind I stafted for
the front door. But, lMr. Brmins, came to the front, from behind the cages,and stopped
me,at the door.

He said, he had decided to advance enough Money to the Company, to meeit the check,
and 1f I would indorse it. Mr. Ermins, I seld. the way you and your new lanager has
tried to bull-doze me, I would not ‘trust you,te even look at it, if I had it.

If you care to. céunt;the. proper amouht of loney, inte my hand. I will see if I have
the check. He ask me to come into the 0ffice,again,and he would pay me, and he did.

If the check had have been paid,without so much fuss, I probably would have let the
matter drop, but after they tried to eucure me out of the Money,that was justly mine,
thereby proving I had been dealing with a bunch of crooks, it appeared to me, I should
tell some one,in athority, how maters stood.

_Dr. Williams,was a good friend of mine, and a large stoclkholder,in the Comapny.
I did not want to see him,nor,his friends,get swindled out of their Honey,without a

chance, so I went to his Office,the next morning, and gave him the whole story,as I
had found it. The reason I had quit the plant, the past history of their new Manager,
and his general charictor, and what I had found out,about the bqnd deal,

He ask me to say nothing about it,so he could keep,what he had decided to do, from
reaching the ears of the Laws,and the bank, until the bonds were put up for sale.

Sure enough, one year from that time,the plant was put up,for Sheriff sale, to

satisfy,the bonded indebtedness, and went,clear to the auvction block, but the Tuctor

had taken the other stock holders into his confidence,and they had raised the loney,
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to pay it offs The Laws, got their 60 thousand Dollars back, but were completely out
of what they had, in the plant.

The new Company,wanted me to teke charge of the plant,but I was imder contract
with another Company, for four more years. I told them about shipping in,shale;and PRt
they were sconymalking a very good product, and were seeling all they could meke.

When I quit the Belplane plant, I decided I was entitled to a vacation, and pianned
on taking a trip,but jir. Votau, who was sales manager for the Fate-~Root-Hsath Odmpany,
wrote me, saying, he understood I had severed my connections with the Belplane people,
and was thinking of taking a vacation,and wanted to lmow,if I would like to make it
a %éégtion ?« They wanted me to go to Minnesote,and cell on a Gentleman who had inf-
ormed them, he had found a very valuable, shale deposit,on his farm. I went,to see it,
e had a very good quality of shale, but there was a large deposit of the same grade,
along the rail road tracke, right in the Town,and a very desirsble place tfor a fact=
ory site, while the other fellow would heve to transport his, shale, across a lake,

I reported it,as I found it,and never heared any thing further,about it.

On my way back from Minnesota, I stopped in Adel,to see some of my 0ld friends, and
on my way,out to the plant,I met Halver. He was going to Town,on his bucycle,and I
wondered if he was going to forbid me going to the plant. He had told me,when I had
left, never to set foot on his prperty again. When I met him,he jdmped off his bike,
end came toward me,with out-streched hand, snd the first thing ha said was, boy,am I
glad to see you. Knowing Halver, I knew,there was something in the wind.

He went back to the plant,with me,and showed me all over the place.lthen we wound
up,at the Office, he broke the news.

He told me,ha had designed a shale shaver, and they had been talking about me,wonde-
-ering if they could get me to come back, and take over the job of directing its
construction?.

I ask him,what they were going to do with Gary Burges;.who had taken my place,vwhen
T had left. He said he had talked it over with himjand-that he (Gary) was very much
pleased at the prospect of my comming back. But, I wanted to talk to Gary,and did so.

gary told me,he knew he could not build the machine, and any way, the machine would
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nét be built, unless Halver could get me to come back. L.S. had informed Halver of
that fact. So, that was why Halver was so glad to see me?.

Halver had designed a manmouth mechine, to work in £he shale pit, called a shale
shaver. This wmachine would stand, sixiy feet high,and would weigh,in the neighborhood
of thirty tonse It would have a three point bearing,on the ground. Two rollers,and a =
pivot.‘The rollers would travel on a circular track,and the pivit would guide their
course, end hold the machine against the shale bank. He promiced,not to interfear

with my work, and off'ered me,quite good pay. g, once more,I was back in Adel. But

‘this time, with.a definite purpose,in view, and wondered how long it would last, after

that purpose had been accomplished?.

This machine,was a large ﬁndertaking,and when I had studied the plans, I ventured
to suggest some chénges. He said, it might throw the whole thing out of balance, and
it could do, just that, if it were carried too far. So I decided to follow his plans,
to the letter, but determined,to call his attention to the things I did not approve of,
and do so, in writing, keeping a carbon coppy, of each objection,in case it should
become necessary, to show it.

The first thing I called his attention to,was the track,rollers. They were four feet
long,and one foot,in diameter, and were to be made,in two pieces, with a peuy inch
shaft, through them. They were to travel on a single rail, and would bear on the
rail, at all points, at differant tinmes. ﬁy contention was, the rshaft would spring,
enough,to force the rollers apart. But, he was sure the large shaft could not soring
enough for that.(Number one) These rollers were to be driven by an electric motor,and
were Lo be geared down,to a very slow speed, before reaching the rollers. they were to
be reversed, by reversing the motor.

The pivot,was equipped with an advancing screw, to keep the cutting mechanism, agai-
nst the bank, and advance it,perodicaly.

The cutting mechanism,was to be a detachable, link belt, with knives,énd buckets, -
attached to it, alternately. The kniveg wer to be attached to the chain, with a
long bar, extending,from either side, to & guiding groove, and a roller,fitted on it,

that was ‘o run in a groove,extending from the top,to the bottom of tha machine.

T
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There were bound to be small pieces of shale, fallingkall over the sch§ot,and they;‘a
could catch,between these rollers,and the guides,they traveled in,causing the bar,to
be held back,at one end,which would throw the chain in a twist,and would havé a ten—
dency to break it.

I called his attention to this fact, but he could see nothing to my fears. (item 2)
The buckets,were to carry fhé-shale to the top of the machine,and dump it info a
ldng schoot, leading to a storage bin,located over the pivot. This bin,had car tracks
undef it,for the clay car to come infqver, for the purpose of getting the shale that

Hﬁd accumulated in the bin. These ﬁracks,were in line with the track,leading into
the pit, only at one point, as the storage bin, moved,with the shaver, it must be in
one exact position, to line the two pair of tracke,so the clay car could come in, and
must stay in thai position,until the car was 1oaded,‘and pulled out. I called his
-atention to fhis,and for a wonder, he could see the mistake,and ask for a suggestion.
I proposed putting the binson a trailer that would fdll@w the shaver,as it advanced,
and it was built that way.

The first trouble wé had with the machine,was the track rollers. my prophesy, about
the two pieces spreading, came true,at.once. But,Hslver had a remedy for it, so he said.
The rollers being just the right size,we Eould shrink a twelve inch pipe over them,
and our troubles,in that 1line,would be over. I had doubts about them holding, but I
was willing to give it a try. We did that,and when the pressure came on them, the pipe
pealed off, like it was card-board. After this long time, he ordered rollers,cast in
one piece, and to have them cast from Mangenese steel. I thought that was going a
little too far, but they would surly hold.

when we got the machine into the shale bank, and it started cutting, the chain
broke,and pilled up,in & heap,at the bottom of the schoot. It was a days work, to get
it back on the sprockets, énd it had not operated five minutes,when it broke again.
end kept breaking. The reason was obvious. One of the rollers caught in the guide,and
gént it, to such é position, it could not get loose. This trouble went on,for a couple

weeks, and Halver,would not give up. Finaly, L.S. came down,and ordered the machine

stopped. He was so mad, he suggested,we throw tha damn thing in the River.
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; I realy, fslt sorry for Helver, he had put in,an awful - lot of work on the project,
but, if he had teken a little advice, he would,at least, had some one to bear part of
the blame. His theory was not at fault, but,once again, there was the proof,that one
must have experience, to finish ones education.

It was quite a blow,to Helver, but I was sure we had not heared tﬂe last of the
shaver. But I was very much surprised,when L.S. came up,with a bright idea.

In my opinion, it would be subject to more trouble,than the one we had just built.
His idea,was to install two, upright shafts,with knives attached to them, that were to
do the cutting, by revolving,in oposite directions. These,would tend tp pull the mach=
ine,to one side, especialy, if one was culting, deeper thanvthe other.cAnd,as they
would be cutting on the inside of the circle, the farther tﬁe machine was pulled to
one siae,the deeper they would cut. It was an impossible proposition gnd I tried to
talk him oult of it,‘and he tried, just as hard,to convince me it would work. He knew
Jery well, I would not santion it, unless I was ready to go the whole way, and I would
notido so. He started me, making paterns for the castings that would be needed, and I
worked on them,for almost a week., Halver,was just as sure as I, it would not work,
but that little devil, was quite happy, thinking,his Father was going to produce ano-
ther failure. I believeshe was aflter revenge.

One day,a’ter Lea had reached home, he phoned me,to stop work on the paterns, until
he arived,the next day. When he came into the shop, I greeted him with, have you gotten
cold feet?, He allowed, I had frozen them,with my lack of seeing things,his way, I
want your santion, he said, before we go any farthef. But‘I told him I could never-do
that, for I was sure it would be:a failure, and I can sée no satisfaction in being able
to tell you, I told you so. As a rule, Lea w;s not very demonstrative, but he came to
me, layed his hand on my shoulder and said. Clyde, I believe you can make & machine
out of the wreck, that will Qork , and I want you to do it. Order what you ~need; =7,
and &t will be forthcoming. I tried to tell him,what I proposed to do.but he stopped
e, saying,he did not want to hear any thing.about it, until I wes réady for a demons—
tration. I knew,if I excepted the éhalange, I had better make good, but I was so sure

T could do it, I told him I would tackle it. This had came to me,as a complete surprise.
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I had no idea, it would be put up to me. I told L.S. I could use all of the frame, of
the old machine, but most of the machinery,abo&e the base,would have to be scrapped.
Nevertheless, I want it understood, I have learned a lot, from Halvers mistakes, most
which, I foresaw, and worned him, as I can show,by the carbon coppies of the changes
I proposed. I want to give Halver credit,for a lot of good ideas , and after the machine
is made a success (if it ever is), it will still be Halvers HMachine.

The confidence placed in me,was touchihg, and to Halver, it was a slap in the face.

I strippéd the machine,of every thing,above the bass, eXCepf the frameyand put a
double sprocket, above and below, using two chains,instead of one. The kﬁives and
buckets,were Tastened, between the chains, with spacial castings. One chain could not
get shead of the other bécause, the two sprockets were keyed to same shaft, above and
below, and if one turned, the other must. The‘machine was nearly the same,as it would
have been,had Halver listened to my suggestions,when we were building it.

Halver should heve had some of the credit, bul as far as his Father was concerned, he
would get no credit,at all.

We started the machine,with my self,at the controles,with an understudy,standing;
bye. It was a continues operation, except,when the bin was full,and we had to wait for
ihe clay car, to empty it. The operater of the clay car, never saw the machine in
6peration, except,while cutting thé first load. I would not start it,until he had
reached the pot of the grade,for the tork of starting the big machine,vwould lower the
voltage,until he would have trouble, getiting to the top of the grade.

After the machine had been in operation for some time,and hed proven its self.

L.S. told me, one day,to be at the depot,the next day, prepaired to go to QOkoboja,

for a two weeks rest. I thanked him for the invitation, but the work at the plant,had
gotten so far behind,while I had been busy with the shaver, I did not see,how I could
get away, just now. In about an hour, ke ceme back to inform me, that now, that I was
through with the shaver, I was,again under orders. I aclnowleged the fact,wondering

what he was driving at. I soon found out, You go home,and pack,what you will need,for

a two weeks stay, and be at the depot, this evening,when the Spiret Lake train arives.

There will be a ticket waiting, that will carry you to Spiret Lake station.
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I am driving home,this morning,by way of Storm Lake, but I will meet you, when you
arive, at Okoboja station, this eﬁeﬁing. He wa; very merry,about the whole thing.

Vhen the train arived at the Lake, Lea was there, and ssid I could stay at his
cottagé, or at the Lake front, Hotel. I begged his pardon, but told him,as I was there
for a rest, I would prefer to stay at the Hotel.

He had a speed boat, and ask me to come to his cottepge,by steamer, the néxt morning,
and get it, and thg boat was mine,as long as I was et the lake. 411 he ask,was for me
t; leave it at his boat-house, if and vhen I was through with it, at night, and to
replemish thé gas, at the filling station,at the draw bridge.

I got the boat , ;nd had a wonderfull time,with it; I used so much gas, I was ashem
med of myself, and th;ught I would fill up,at another station.ihen the fellow had it

filled, I ask him, how much, he said, Nr. Straight had told him, in case I came there
for gas, to charge it to him. The old fellow, knew me quite well.

When I had been there for a week, Halver called me. by phone, saying,the electric
power plang had broken down, and he weuld like for me to come home,and install gasoline
kotors on the kiln cdnveyers. I told him I would be there, thinking the sutuation
was serious. That afternoon, Lea called me,and said he would pick me up, in time
to catch the train. He picked me up, alright, but headed for the open country.

I told him, he had better get to the depot, or I would miss the train. He just laughed
at me, saying, it would be, just too bad, if I missed that train.

There will be no gasoline motors instelled on the conveyers. He had called the
power plant, and found, the current would be on, before I could get there, and that I
was going to stay, the two weeks, if the plant had to close down.

It seems that Halver,was looking for an excuse,to get me back to the plant, and
Lea,was just as determined, I would stay, the two weeks, and finish my veacetion.

Shortly after I had returned to the plant, Halver,bought an electric truck, to carry
the burned ware from the kilns to the Zoading track, or to the piles. It had an elev-
ating platform, and was powered by storasge batteries, that must be charged, all night,
and boosted, during the noon hour. He had a mercury-arc charger installed, that did
the job real well,unless the current was interupted, in which case, it would loose

its arc, and must be rocked, to start it again.This, necessitated the presents of a
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mew. gith it at all times,and  that men,having nothing else to do,would go to sleep,
end we would often find an under charged battery,in the morning.

Halver ask me to install a motor-generator set,which was worse than than the arc, for
if the current went off, the _gensrator would reverse its self,becoming a motor,and
we would find the battery, completely discharged, in the morning;

The General Elctric, sales man called on us,each Month,and the first time he called,
I ask him if their Engineers could not find a way to controle these charging outfits?.
He said they had been working on it,for some time,but had came up with nothing yet.

I had an old Cutler Hammer clutch magnet, and I also had an idea.-
I placed the charging outfit on a shélf,installed & knife switch,so the magnet would
throw it into contact,when the current was on, and hung a weight at the oposite side
of:it,that would pull the switch,out of contact, when the power left the magnet,
thereby, breaking the connection,between the charging motor,snd the batteries.
When the current came back on, theLmagnet,would be activated,and overcome the weight,
and the charging line,was’ ~ connected.again. One of the feed wires, was passed through
the magnet coils,vwhich would activete the magnet.

It was a simple, but crude,arangement,but it did the work, perfectly.

The next time the Generel Electric men.came,l told him I did not think much of
their Engineers geﬁious,and showed him,the device I had installed. He said his Company
would not be interested in a thing like that,and! walked away.

A short time later, I thought of something I had forgoﬁen to order,and went to the

Office,to see if he were still there. He had not gone,for his bags were there, and I .

‘had a hunch, I knew where I would find him. I went to the charging room,and,sure

enough,theie he was. He had a note book-and pencil,and was meking a sketch of my qharg—
ing outfit.

I thought your people would not be interested in that junk, I said. Ane if you
changed your mind,the least you could have done,would have been to ask my permission,
to make a sketch of it,which I would have given,and I would thing a lot more of you,
had you did thet. He said he tried to find me,but could not. Which made it wors® for

I had been in the shop,ail the time, and what he said, was an uncalled'fof, lie,
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1 When their next bulletin came out, there it was. Their new circuitbreaker, designed
to protect,motor-generator batterie charging outfits. Patent applied for.

My egperience has shown me, many of the devices these large Companies are manufa=
cturing, under letters patent, were discovered through their agents in the field. There
is an-old saying, that neceésity, is the mother of invention, and my protecting device
was an example.

There was a great demand for hollow tile silos,and the regular,streight block,giq
got make a smooth wall,when that wall was circular. Beldg circular,the corners would
stick out,all over the fmee. There were meny devieces for bending the blocks,after they
had been formed,but there was a tende@ncy for them to streighten,again,during the drying
and burning processes.

I experomented with dies, and found,the blocks could be formed,with the curvefmade
at the die, and they would stay that way,until finished. But,there must be a machine,
to cut them the right length,and at the proper agnle.

I finaly coumpleted a cutting table,that would the trick,and do it,automaticaly, by
using a power drive, through a friction clutch,tc helpy the friction of the stream of
clay,on the cutiing table, measure the proper length.

I built one,and put it to work,at the Adel plant. This,was the enitial cause of .~
more trouble with Halyer.

If no one else,had such a machine, no one could compete with him,for a perfect silo
block, that could be used for building & silo,with a perfectly smooth wall,inside and
out. The‘Carlisle Brick and Tile Oompany,wanted&one of the machines,and ask me to maké
them one, before I had made the Adel machine, and I had told them,the cost,would be in
the neighborhood of $:00,00,which,they had said,they would be willing to pay.
vBut,after T had put the Adel machine to work,Halver said I should charge the Carlile
people,at least 5600.00. I had entended to-have thelr machine made,at the Eagle Iron
Works,and give Halver,half the profit,but when he said,to not sell it for less than
$600200,I did not know whether or not,they would pay thay much,and decided to go to
Cerlisle and see them. Just before I sterted,Halver told me,I had bettef raise that‘

price,to §700.00, This,was too plein a case of, if you want one of these machines, you
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mugt pay my price,and I entend to make that price so high,you will refuse to pay it.

I told Halver,there was $300.00 profit in it,at the price I first quited them, and
I would not raise the pfice again, just to keep them from having one. The Carlisle . -
people are honest folk,and are willing to pay a fair profit,but would know,any thing
more,would be extortion.

I sold them a machine,and built it in Halvers shop,giving him half the profit.

I did not ask them to pay $700.00 for it, nor $600.00,but the $500.00 I had quoted them
ofigonaly, and I was very glad I toolk that course, later.

The Manufacturers Equipment Compeng,of Desyton Ohio;heared of the machine,and wrote
me, asking if I would sell the rights,or allow them, to manufacture it,on a royalty?.

I turned the letter over to Halver,as I considered him,as a pariner. After waiting,for
a long time, I ask him if he had heared from them,and he said he had,but they were

no longer interested. I was a little skeptical,about that snswer, for they had seenmed
guite interested. So I wrote them again,and.did not receive a letter from them,but a
télegram,stating,they were fery much interested,and would like 1to meet me,and for me
to let them know,when and where. I wired them,that I would meet them at the Elliot
otel,in Des Moines,at any date they cared to set. 4nd received an answer,meking the
date, five deys after thé-:datecef this wire.

I met them, and drovem to Carlisl,where the good people,were not malking silo tile,
at the time, but,obligingly, changed dies,and set the table in place,and started iﬁ,
so the visitors could see it in operation. We went from there,to Adel, but Halver,
flatly refused to give them a demonstration, éo we went back to Des Moines,and to my
Lawyers,and had a contract drawn up, giving them the right to manufacture the machine,
on a royalty basis, in which I agreed to Dayton,on a salary of $250,00 per month,plus
all expenses,ﬁo assist them in geting it into prdduction. I was to go,as soon as my
contract with'Halver,expired.

then the shaver had been made a success,they had it patented,ang gave me & quarter
intefest. ngch ment nothing at all. For there were none to be sold, and when I had

perfected the cutting table, I told Halver I would give him half interest,if ha cared

to pay for the patent expense, He agreed to it,and told me to make the patent Office
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\ drawings,and file them,and he‘would pay for them. T made the drawings,and filed
thém,togather with the briefs, and paid for it. When the Patent was allowed, there .:
was no Money fourthcomming from Halver;so I,also paid for that.

After the Equipment people had Teft,and I had returned to the plant, Halver came -~

. out to the shop,with some contracts he had drawn up,and ask me to sign them. He said

he thought we should have our understanding,in wri£ing,and assured me, they were no ::

more ﬁhan we had agreed on.

He had not consuited me,in any w;y, and had mervt tovthink I wowld sign them,with=-
out telking the time to read tﬁem, but he certainly was mistaken there. After he had
lied to me about the Equipment people ect. I would not trust him,that far.

fhe farther I1.read,the madder I became. Among other things, there was a paragraph,
stating that we, not neither of us, could sell,sr’ offer for sale, this machine,without
the writen concenf, of the other. | |

In the case of the shaver, I had no éontract at all, just Halvérs word,and I had
came to the point,where I placed little confidence in that,unless it ﬁas to his adva-
ntage. He had lied to me about the Equipment people, had failed to keep his word,
concerning the payment for the patents,and many other fhings. 8o I made up my mind,then
and there, to settle the whole businéss. I signed the shaver contract, and handed them
both,back to him, saying, Halver, here is Qhere we disglve partnership, once and for
all. He folded them up,very carefiillly,and walked out, as though he was very well pleased
with himself. I was greatly surprised, for I had thought,he would.at least. put up
a fighte I told him nothing about my agreemént with. the Equipment Co,and did not -
intend to, untill I was free from the contract with him.

then my contract did,expire, I told Halver I waé through,and was going to Dayton,to
get the cutting teble into production. He gave me & broad grin,and said. You can not
manufecture that table, for you can not sell it,without my concent,and I will not give
it, under any condition. Halver,I said, If I can not seli that table, I would like to
know why?. He said, because you signed an agreementystating, neither ¢f us couldydo
you not remember?. Halver, you had better get thosé éontracts out, again,and léok them

over. I am afraid,you misjudged my wisdom,when you thought I would sign my right away
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He want to the safe and got them,and after looking them over,he said. Well Clyde,
this is one time,I am compelled to acknowlege, you put one over me.

No,Halver,I said, this is one time, you must admit, I kept you from pulling a fast
one on me, I met his Cousin,in Des Moines,a fiew days after that, and he said, he
wanted to shake the hand,of the man, who beet his Cousinygto the draw.

That was the last of my association with Mr. Halver Straight, in a business way, but,
he never ceme within 2 or 3 hundred miles of where I was located,after that, that he
did not come to visit me. And I must say, after all the trouble we had, I liked the
fellow. He was a worthy adversary, and I remember his good pionts, much more vividly,
than his bad. He has gone to the great beond, now,and I am sorry.

Five years ago, I visited the old Town of Fonda,and upon making inquiries, discovered,
Mre. and Mrs. Guy Straight, still were living there,and called on them.

He,and his good Wife were at home, and we had a wonderfull visit, about the first
" thing about old times,that Guy brought up, was the case of the tangled cables,at Auborn.
Whem we parted, both of us, had tears in our eyes,Remenber what I said, in the begining
of this story. must of my employers,seemed more like associates,than bosses.

They were quite old, but they were in the best of health. I have not heared,from them
since, I would have stayed longer, but I was not alone,snd could not keep my partner
wailting for me.

Getting back to our story. We finaly got started on the table, being delayed very
much, because of priorities, this being at the time,world war one, was in full swinge

After it was in production, I went on the road,selling it, and other articles,the
Company menufactured. It has been seid, it is eaiser to sell to people,with whom one
is aquainted,but in my case, this was not true. I was well known,alright, and when I
hended my cerd to the Lady at the outer desk, I would, emediately receive an invitation
to visit the Lyons den.vNot because 'of what I had,to sell, but because they wanted
information. There alﬁays,was something wrong at the plant,and they had been waiting,
ever since they received my card,stating I was on my way,for thay knew,how much I had
done for the industry,and was sure I could help them out. they were not interested in

what I had,to sell, but in my ability to shoot trouble
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The Company wanted me to make a list of all the Brick and Tile Factories in my
teritory, and I thought I could get a more complete list, at Ames College,and went
there,for that purpose. 1 met my old Priend, Proffesor Cox, and we had a pleasant
visit, and he gave me ,free run of their library, and to my suprise, I had a more
complete list, than they; I gave the Proffesor the advantage of my greater list,for
which,he was very thankfull.

This was during the great flu epedemic,and it was very difficult to get accomo-
dations; Meny -of the Hotels in the smaller Towns,were closed,and the rooming houses
did nét like to take in, strangers. One night, in southern Minnesota, I slept in the
waiting room of the depot. I did not like the job,anyway, so I resigned,and went back
to my old love, Engineering.

For the past several years,I had been afflicted with stomagh trouble, and had gone
through several clinics, trying to find, what was causing the trouble.,but got no
relief. One Doctor said T had poison in my blood stream;and finaly decided it was commn—
ing from my teeth, and ordered all of them extracted. I had that done,the next day,
having 22 pulled,at one setting. My gums were so badly deseased, I had to wait a
whole year, before I could have plates fitted. My stomach,was much Worse.

I entered into a contract,with mr. F.M.Hubble,who was the owner of the North Des-
Moines Clay works, to convert his clay shingle plant, into = Brick end ?ile plant.

It was more work,removing the shingle machinery,{hen it would have been, to build a

new plant, for we had to tear it down,and then,build it again. After completing the
plent,and building a shale shaver:(this was not a coppy of the Adel shaver) he retais-
ned me,for some time, as plant Superintendant. I was with the Des Moines Clay Works,

for three years,and while thare, I developed a new texture,for face brick, wanted by
the Architects who were planing several new school houses, in Des Moines, and the agents
could not find,the desired texture, short of Ohio.

After doing a great deal of experomenging,I ceme up,with an entirely new face.

I called it, the saw-tex, because I produced it,by placing a power hack saw blade,on
the stream of clay,as it came from the die,in such a maner, it would turn a small

furrow, at every tooth,and when rolled down, with a cotton covered roller roller, it
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it made a very fine texture,on the face of the bricks |
jpeﬁbompanyﬁspl@,%ﬁrbhgh*aﬁ sales agency. The Twil City Brick Company. This agency was
héﬁ piéése@ wiﬁh the new tekture, and refused to show it to the Architects. I was sure
it was what the Architects wanted, and finaly perswaded one of their salesmén, to take
a sample to the City Office.,where the Architects could see it. He took them to the
6ffice, but did not take the trouble to set up a sample wall, just threw them in a
corner,and forgot them. I have always thought, the Agency was getiing a more fancy
profit from the Qhio people.

Hr. Proudfoot, of Prowdfoot, Bard and Rawson (the Architects) came into the Office,
and while waiting for some one, was looking around,and spied these brick. He ask the
Clerk,where they came from,and was told,it was an experoment, I had made. He wanted to
know,if they could be produced,and when told,they could be, he said, you may take my
order for, for five hundred thousand, right now. Mr. Sauder, the plant Manager, had
told me, no one cduld perswade him to meke those brick, but Mr. Hubble. When he got so
sick of hearing me sing their praises. and when he gave the HXH&¥XXux the Prowdfoot
order, I could not help but, ask him, if Mr. Hubble told him tc do it.

:The plant coulc make 20 thousand per day, so it was quite an order. Udnly, they
were not,the Sai=-tex, any more; They were,now, the Twin-tex.

One day, werwere at the County Cqurt house, helping an employee get his natural-.
ization papers. We were talking woth the Sheriff;and the subject of the new sqhools,
came up, and the Sheriff wanteﬁ to know, where they got the brick,they were using, and
Mr. Sauder said, they were baing made,at his plant, but were origonated,by the Twin~
City Brick Company, Emagine that, and right before me. I ask him, point blank, why
he thought it was necessary to lie about it, when the Twin City Company had to be
compelled to show that brick, and then,had stolen the name?. I am at a loss to know why
you‘will deliberately, sit there and tell the man, a bafe faced lie., It took him by
surprise, and he nearly blew up. but I was telling the truth,and he had no argument.
Finaly acknowleging, 1 was right. Then, the Sheriff; jumped all over him. I wonder why

some people are that way,?
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There were a great many school buildings in Des lMoines, built from these brick,
end their design,was worth a great deal to the Company. And that,is what the Engine
eer is for.

After completing the North Des Moines Clay Works, and getting it into successfull”
operation, Mr. W.J.Goodwin phoned me. and ask me to come to his Office. I went there
the next day, and he told me, he had heared,I was through with the North Des Mbines
people, and wanted to know if I had any plans,for the amediate future.

Mr. Goodwin,was the chief owner.,of the South Des Moines Tile and Brick Company,
end the Redfield Brick and Tile Company. The Redfield plant,was 30 miles north of Des-
Moines. He wanted me to go to Redfield with him,and look over the plant.

It was a very old plant, practicaly obsolete, except for the press room, the dryer,
end the kilns, which had been re-build a couple of years before. The rest of the plant
was in a deplorible condition. He wanted to know, how far I could go toward meking
a modern plant of it, with 30 thousand Dollars. I ask him,if my salary would come out
of the$30 thousand, and he said no. He would expect me to put in,a part of my tinme,at
the South Des Moines plant, and they would pay, half of my salary, the rest,would be
taken care of, by the Redfield plant.

I told him I could meke a vast differance,and could make it pay a larger dividend,
if I might presume,to have my own way, to en extent. He said I would have my own way,
completely, for that is what he was hireing me for. If he had not thought, I knew my
business, he would not have contact me. He said, he did not know what the plant
needed, and did not wish to be bothered with the deteils.l had learned, long ago, it
was better to know in advance, just what is expected,and if there is going to be any
competition, from any source, before committing.ones self,to any task.

We closed the deal,on the way home,and I ask him,when he wanted me to start, and he
said I had aiready started, your salary, started this morning. You are now,on the pay
role of the Goodwin Industries. He emphasized,, I was on my own,and he did not wish
to be bothered. Order what you need,and charge it to the Red Field Brick and tile
Company, or the Goodwin Tile and Brick Company, which ever it is for,and we will pay

the bills.And for me to come up to the Office,and he would give me a letter of credit.
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I spent the next two Months,over the drafting board,making en ocasional trip to
Redfield to get neasurements,or varufy old ones.

When I hed ny drawingé done,and blueprinted,I took them to the Office, to show them
to Mr. Goodwin. I spread them on his desk,and started to explain their functions,but
he stoppea me, saying they were pretty. I ask him if that was all he could see, and he
said,that is all I care to see. He modified that remark,by saying, I know,you Engineers
must put your plang on paper,before you can do any work,and when the planing is done,
and the actual work starts, you have nothing to do,but follow the plans?and that is,
as it shoupd be. If that is what you want, go ahead with it, and the best of luck.

They had an Eagle Iron Works shaver, and the improvements I made;were.

An all steel clay storage shed,with car tracks,leading from the shale pit, entering>
it, just under the roof. Two clay feeders, one for each dry-pan, the speed of these
feeders,was adjustible,so they would feed the proper amount of shale,according to its
condition. An all steel elevator,that would discharge into either of the bins,under
wnich the féeders were located. A button conveyer,under the shale storage floor,which
dumped the shéle into the elevator,mentioned above. An electric clay car,with double
trucks,so it would negociate the sharp curves, and powered with a motor of sufficient
power,to climb the steep grade,enﬁering the storage house. The bottom of this car,was
an inverted V, with a door on each side, . hinged from the toP.These doors éould be opened
by the operater stepping on a tredle,inside the cab,and closed, automaticaly.

It was powered with a three phase, induction motor, driving:from both ends,through~. .
shafts,equipped with flexable couplings, to a shaft on\each truck, the latter, driving
an upright shaft,through a bevel geef,to another bevel geer,to a cross—shaft, with
diamond’chaine, from there, to the axles. The upright shaft,passed through the center
pin. The current,was transmitfed,through twe trolleys and the rails.

A loading bin,at the shaver,with a bélt conveyer,to carry the shale from the shaver,
to it. The bottom of this bin, had a two foot,square,gate,that was opened, by the car
backing under it,end closed,as the car pulled out. The most of my work,had been done

in the shale handeling and grinding department. As I have said,the rest of the plant,
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was in fairly good condition,including one of my silo cutting tables.

There was some work to be done,in other parts of the plant, such as transfer tables,
at the kilns,an electrlc car pusher,in the drying tunnels,ect.

It had became a habit, for most of the tile nanufactureing plants, to neglect thelr
clay handllng facilities,to the debtroment of,all of the balance of the plant.

I took my drawings for the clay car,and the converor,at the shaver, to the Eagle
Irom Works, for them to construct. Had the steel,for the shale storage,fabricated,at
the Pittsburg-Des Moines-Compgny, who,also fabricated the elevator parts. The feeders
were mede by the Globe Machinery Company, and the balance of the materials were ordered
dlrect from Chicago.

At this time, I drove to Redfield,nearly every day,to supervisé the construction
of the clay storage building,end the instalation of machinery.

Host of the work had been done,during the winter,and in the Month of March, I had -
every thing on the ground,and most of it, installed. Every thing,so far, worked as ric
plenned,and I had only used 26 thousand,of the 30 thousand Dollars,allotted. |

Theré wvas one incident, I must mention. When I had gotten the clay car,on the
track, ready for testing, there was no steam in the béilers,consequently, no electric
power. The Engineer, sald he would have steam,the next day, so I could have current,to
make the test. I called Mr. éoodwin,that evening, to tell him,l was going to tes£ the
car, some time,the next aa&,and he ask me to pick him up,when I was ready to go;and he
would ridequp there with me. I stopped at his residence,the next morning,and picked him
upe It was & bitter cold morning., but old Tohm,had steam up,by hoon, the sun came out
meking it a nice day, but it was quite cold,and Mr. Goodwin had been sitling on a pile
of ties,near the track,watching proceedings, all wrapped up,trying to keep worm.

I got into the cab,and applied the power, rﬁnning into the storage house,and back,
when one of the bearings,on the ferward truck, set. I had to jack the car up, run fhe
tru;k out,where I could get to it. I went to a garage and barrowed a shafi puller,
pulled the shaft out,and scrépped it to a fit, put all of it,back togather,and went to
dinner. iir. Goodwin was sitting at one of the tables,when I entered,and I ask him,

what he thought of the car. His answer, got my goat, he said,i guess it is half good,
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and got up,and walked out.

For the life of me, I could not see,why he should give me,that kind of an answer.

I ate my dinner,and went back to the plant,and gave the car,a thorough testing.

It responded to every trial,with plenty,to spare. I was very much pleased with its
performance. I tgied, opening and closing the gate, under the shaver bin,and the
double trolley, switches,I had designeds I noticed that Mr. Goodwin was watching,
from secluded places, but paid no attention to him. When I was ready to go home, the
Office force,told me, he had gone home, by train.

The next morning, I went to Redfield agein. The boys were cleaning up ‘the pit,after
a winters freeze, getting ready to start the shaver. In fact,they were getiing ready

ﬁo start the whole plant.I used the car,most of the fore-noon. Mr. Queal,the local
Menager, put one of his men,in the cab,with me,so he could learn to handle the car.

We hauled trash from the pit,and dumped it along side of the grade,and just before
dinner, they started the shaver,and we hauled shaleyand dumped it in the storage house.
When I went to dimnner. Mr, Goodwin was sitting at his regular table,but instead of
sitting at his table, as I usualy did,I went to another table. After I was settled,he

' called the waitres,and had her, move his dinner,to my table. When he had sat‘down,

‘he said, Clyde, I want to apolegise, for the ramark I made yesterday. There is nothing
wrong with the clay car, nor any thing else, you have installed,as far as I can sec.

I ask him,why the sudden change,and he told me of some talk,that had been brought to
himywhile I had been bullding the clay car, concerning its design.

The Engineer at the Electric Equipment Compeny,had told him,it was an entirely new-
design, in a double truck car,and he was afraid, I would have trouble with it, the
idea of driving a double truck car, from one motor,was revalutionary,and he was afraid,
I was meking a mistake. The draftsman,at the Eagle Iron Works,had t0ld him,it was a
very foolish idea,and I should have known better, fqr it was impossi@le,and would
cause me,a lot of trouble,and, eventualy, I would have to install two motorse.

There was a third person, but he said,we had ‘had some trouble,and he did not wish to
stir up any ©6ld troubles. He mighﬁ,just as well,have told me,who it was, for there

only one Engineer in Town, I had had words with,and that,was the Western Electric man.
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and I me% him,on the street,a fiew days later,and heXSXXX, he offered me an
apology,which I excepted.

I went to the Electric Equipment Company,eand their Engineer met me,in the middle
@f the shop. The first thing he said was, what size hat do you wear,and insisted,that
I go,wifh him,to the Globe Clothiers,end he bought me a fine stetson. He told ne,
he had not veatured to predict, the car would not work, all he had said was, it was an
entirely new idea,and he was afraid I would have trouble,and added, he had no business
to say that much,which was very true.

Whét the Eagle Iron Works man had said,would have been bad enough, comning from an
enemy, but,comuing from a men,whom I had made it possible,for him to hold his job,for
the past two years, by doing the work for him, he was unable to do, made it much worse.

Bruce,was doing the drafting, on the shaver designs, for the Eagle,and there were
two, long braces,that were at such an angle, he was unable to figure their lengths,or
the angle of their fastenings. Each shaver,they put out, was a differant hight,former
ones, Q&kiﬂg these angles,located at a different angle. and he would call on me.

I determined to wait,until he called me,and I did not have long to wait.

They had taken an order for a machine,to go to Ohio,and iﬁ was the tallest one yet.
I went into the O@ffice one day,on other business,and Ted told me,Bruce wanted to see me.
" I'went up to his Office,and he met me, like a long lost Brother. I knew,he was in ° -
trouble,for the greeting was too exagerated. He told me of the new machine,and seid
I would have to help him out.

Bruce,I said, you should have thought of that, before you tried your best,to injure
me,in the eyes of my employer. You were talking of something,of which you knew nothing,
All you knew was, the Street dars have two motors, and you thought you couid show =
etployer what a fool I was. I am afraid,you will have to learn to do your own wqu,or
get another sucker,for I am through.

My Son,inlaw, was-erecting Engineer for the Eagle,and when the machine was shipped
to Ohio,and he was sent there, he found, the braces mentioned, were no cut to length,

nor bent,and drilled. Hé was compelled to hoist them into place, to get their length,

teke them to a shop,and have them cut, return them to the location, hoist them again,
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This was an expensive job,and must be reported to the home Office,and during the
argument, Bruce lost his position.

I found out, earley in my career, it is much better to keep ones nose out of bhher
peoples affairs. Even,when one is ask for advice, one must be absolutely sure, he is -
right,before giving it, for if he should be wrong,.he will be blamed for any thing
that might go against the person, to whom 1% was givens -

The dry-pan feeders I had made at the Globe Machinery Company,were a new idea,and I
neglected to pick up the blue prints,after they were completed. |

There was a Brick and Tile Factory,at Shady Oak, near Ft. Dodge, owned by Snurr
Brothers. They had two kinds of shale,that must be mixed togather,to produce the best
results, and a pair of my feeders would do that job,to perfection,sé, the first time I
was in Ft. Dodge; I called at their Office,and endevered to sell Mr. Snurr, on the
idea, but he could see no advantage in them,and would not buy. I hapened to be in
Shady Oak,some time later,and discovered there were two of my feeders,at work,there.

I said nothing about it,until I had visited the Globe Machinery,and talked with
their Superintendant. I ask him if he had made them,and he said he did,and that they
were very well pleased with them. Yes, I said,that is why I am here, I want tonick
up the prints,before some one else steals a patern from them. George,was quite put
out,over the deal, he said, Snurr had told him, they had your permission, to use the
prints, that he did not ask,to see their athority,because,ha had always considered Mr.
Snurr, a Gentleman. I picked up the drawings,z2and took-them home.

I went to Fte. Dodge, soon after that, and called at the Snurr Office,and presented
them with a bill,for $100,00,for the use of drawings,to have two feeders built,over
them. Mr. Snury told me,if I thought I could collect that, I was crazy, but I told
hinm,I woulé be in Town,for the next two hours,and before I 1éft, I would call again.'
My advice, Mr. Snurr, is to see wour Attorney,before making a decission. Just tell
him the truth, nothing more. When I returned, Mr. Snurr was not there, but thers was

a check waiting for me.
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Mr. Goodwin loaned me to a firm,who had erected a Brick and Tile Factory, in
Brownsville Texas, that was not doing so good, and they shipped me,down there,to see
if I could be of any help. It was the same old story. A shale working Factory,had
been purchased,in the north,and shipped down there,snd erected on a surface clay dep~
osit. A northern Engineer, Claud Smith, had built the plent, and pulled out,when he
found he had produced a failure. I amediately told them ,to forget their drying
tunnels,and build a dry house on the foundation, but they did not wish to spend any
more money. S0, I told them I had just as well go back home. But they begged me to
stay, the three Months I had been loaned for,and baybe,I could help a little,by rebu-
ilding the tunnells. I am afraid, that was one time, I did not follow my judgument,;
It was a pleasant place, just across the River from 0ld Mexico, and I was feeling so
much batter,phisially,then I had been, I let these facts worp my judgment,and stayed.
I did,help them,to a great extent, but it was not a success,and never would be.

When I left, they were saving about 80 percent of their ware.

_when I returned home, I met my Doctor,one day,and he seemed to be surprised at me
looking so well. He sald he never saw me looking as well,and I had better get myself
a job, in Texas, and move there.

In less than a Month, after I returned, I was in the Hospital, for an emergency
operation, for é ruptured stomach.

thile doing some repair work,at Redfield, I was teken with severe pains,in the stom-
ach, I went to the Hotel for lunch,and ordered a glass of milk,and a raw egg, nothing
more. I was supposed to go back to the plant,but instaed,I got into my car,and headed
for Des Moines,and home. I had some trouble with my car,on the way home,and left it in
a garage,down Town, for a check up,and took a Street car home. Iy Wife was ill,at the
time,and my Cousin was keeping house for us. She gave me a dose of bycarbonate of
éoda,and it eased the pain,to some extent,and I slept a little,that night, but,the
next morning, I was again,in great pain.

I kept some guina pigs,as & hobby,and went into the basement of the garage,to tend
to them. I had cleaned one hutch,and closed the door, when something struak me. I

actualy thought I'had been shot, and looked around,to see'where it had came from, of
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course,there was no one there. I had gone down,when it had struck me,but I finaly
got to my feet,and into the house. As I passed my Wifes bed room,she called to me,
saying she was cold,and wanted me to f£ix the fire. I went back into the basement,
and stoked the furnice,and back,up stairs. When I got back into the house,I was in
very bad shape, but stagered into my room,and fell on the bed;

I heared Mary call my Daughter Hattie,and tell her to get a Doctor,as soon as pos-
sible; for I think your Father is dying.

She called my regular Doctor,but he was just goéing into an operation,and could not
come. Then,she called Dr. Kelley,but he was tiéd up,with a patient, ans sent an under-
study. Vhen he came, he gave me a shot in the arm,watched me,for a fiew moments,gave
me another,and went to the telephone. VWhen he came back, he told me he had called an
ambulance,to take me to the Hospital. I ask him,vhat Hospital? and he said,the Meth-
odest. I ask,why not the Mercy,and he said,there were two reasons, the lMethodest was
two'blocks closer,and Dre. Kelley was there,waiting for me.

then I arived,the little white wagon was waiting for me,and they wheecled me to the
operating room,where,the Doctor was awaiting my arival. Dr. Kelley,told me he was
saving two out of five, that were in my condition,and wanted to lmow if wmy business,
was in a condition, for me to leave it?. I told him,I was gding to be one of the two,
end for him to get busy,and get it over with,and while you have me down, fix that rupture.

I do not thing,it will be necessary to say, the operation was a success, but it
came very near not being.

My Wife, passed away,while I was in the Hospital;end they kept her in the Morgue,
several days, waiting for me to join her. They finaly burried her in the beautifull
cemetary,in Bemen Iowa, beside my dear Hother.

One year from the time I had finished the re-comstruction of the Redfield plamt,

I was invited to attend a dinner, given every year, following the anual,étock holders

meeting. I was told,they had just, declaired a dividend,of 20%. 1 remarken, if they

kept that.up,they could soon recover the Money I had squandered, this brought a great
. laugh, and I ask for information,as to what caused the levity,and was told, the cost

of reconstruction,had been paid,before the dividend had been declaird.
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I had returned to work for the the Goodﬁin people,but my health was not good,
The work was not hard on me,and I was unable to take on,any large Engineering project.

About a year,after I had left the Hospital, I wrote to a very nice Lady,I had met,
while in Brownsville, and after quite a long correspondance, perswaded her to become
lrs. Thorpe. On the twenty ninth day of July, 1926, we were married.

My Wife,had a Son, John, whom I adopted,end am now living with.

My health was getting no better,and we decided to take the Doctors advice,and move
to Texes. It was a bitter pill,for me to swallow. My reputation,was established,in
the north, through all the years of hard work,and equaly hard,study. There were no
industries in the south,at that time, but my Wife said, my health was of more importance
than my business prospects. I think she was just a little home sick,any way, for memma
and Brownsville.

So, we moved to Brownsville Texas, at the rower end of the Rio Grande Valley.
There was an electric power plant at San Benito, just a fiew miles from Brownsville,
and they were installing another unit. I obtained work there, for a while, helping
install the machinery. After we had finished that work, Mr. Miner/the Engineer in
charge) ask me to make a set of drawings of the steel frame work of the building.

It had been a sugar mill,and the origonal drawings had been lost.

After I had finished that job,there was nothing else for me to do,and I could see, I :
must create my own job, as in the days of yore. I thought I could see an opening for

a machine shop,in Brownsville, and aranged for a building to be erected,at =z place;g“

I thoughf would be a good location,equipped it with the necessary machinery,end opened
it,for business. I had a partner in this venture,who had a Son,that was supposed to be
an expert welder, but said Son, proved to beyno welder at all, ahd after a fiew trials,
gave it up, and left.Business was very slow,for a while,and my partner, also got sick
of it, and quit. I hung on,and did the best I could,for the fiew customers that did,
come, and soon had enough business, so I was compelled to hire halp. I hired a Mexican
fellow,who claimed to be a machinest, but I had to train him,for some time,before he
could do the work, up to my standards. He lived in Matewmoros Mexico, just across the

River from Brownsville,and was the cause of me getting quite a lot of work,from there.
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His name,was Pablo Ramos,. Pablo,was with me for a long time.

This was the time for me to celebrate. My Wife presented me with a fine Son.

We nemed him,Clyde Thomas.

He was a healthy little fellow,and sure,was welcome. He now lives in Wilmington North
Carolina, having moved there,from New Orleans, in September, and is on the staff of
the Wilwmington Morning Star. He has a little boy,of his own,now,ané they named him
Clyae Thomas II,which pleessed me,very much. Thomas and Val, have two little girls,
that were Vals, by a former Marriage, which Thomes adopted. more ab;ut he.and John,
later.

There was a great amount of ornémental iron work,being used in the Valley,as well
as in old Mexico.The Mexicalt Mechanics,are tops,in that line. This is a big business,
in old Mexico. I studied it, even went to Montersy,where there is some of the finest
’examples of that akt,I have ever seen. I saw some of their work. at a bank eﬁtrance,
I do not know,how it was done.It consiéted of four bars of éne inch square, steel,
braided into a.perfect, four stran braid, used for =a coluﬁn.,and was made before the
arival of the acetyliﬁe torch, so,must ﬁave been made in a blacksmiths forge.

I proceeaed to equip my shop,with the necessary machinery, most of which,I madé,

- and made a bid for that class of work. My work,made a hit,and I had all I could do,
for some time. In fact, until the depression of 1930 came,which stoppen most of the
building, and ornamental iron work, depents,entirely,on the building industry.

There were some comical incedents,connected with tha{ worke

‘A Carpentering firm,were building - = home,a short way from Brownsville,which had
a side entrance,with a small éortico,in front of the door,and the owner,wanteé a rai-
ling on either side. The Carpenter ask me to make a sketch of éomething,l thought
would be appropiate for the place,and he would show it to the owner. I went to the
place,to gat an idea, and made a pencii sketche When the owner saw it, he was not .=
pleased,and sent it backe I knew,it was the right thing for the place,and that he
would like it, after it were installed. so, I inked,the same drawing,and sent it backe.

This time,it waé just what he wanted,and I made it.
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Another time,I went to a home that was being built by a clothing Merchant,and
noticed, Lazpart of the front porch was being partitionéd off,ana learned,it was to be
used as a consevatory,and that there was to be no partition between it,and the living
room. ‘It was an ideal place,for a smell colonade,on either side, with double,swinging
gates in the center. I went vback to the Office,and made =a drawing of the proposed
project,and showed it to the owner. He could not see any thing beautifull,about it,
and did‘not want it. The next day, I was at:the seme place,on otherrbusiness,and the
Merchants Wife was there. It'seems, the Carpenters had told her of the drawing,and she
ask,to see it. I went back to the Office, and got it. She was very much pleased ﬁith
it,and the next day, Mr. Aziz called me,and wanted to know,how much,that darned gate
would cost him, and remarked,he thought I was a pretty good salesman,bﬁt did not like
my tactics. I told him what the price would be,and he said he was compelled to order it.

I finished the piece, after house' had been Ffihished, .in. Pact,the:Pamily had moved °
in, before I could install it.

I went there,shortly after lunch time,and Mr. Aziz was at home. He and his Wife, sat
there, and ﬁatched me install it, neither of them saying a word. I could see,there weas
a differance of ovinion, and all I éould do, was to hope for the best. After it was o
done; Mr. Aziz,got up,and walked through them, tufned,and watched them close, walled
through again, and a large smile spread over his face. He told his Wife, you win, I
realy think they are beautifull,and I would not have them removed,for ten times what
they cost, but, he could not see their beauty, until they were installed,and workinge
Mrs. Azigz,was very much pieased with the final decission. She told me, he had fought
the ides,from the start/

I designed and build turbin pumps,which were very desirable,for ﬁumping irigation
waterlfrom resachg;of'which there are many,there. I also manufactured irigation pipe
and foot valves, in fact, irigation supplies of all kinds. I opreated this shop,for
26 years, finaly selling,tc the Brownsville Caster Bean Company, who were prepairing
t§ cultivate caster beans,and extract the oil from them. My main reason for selling,
was the fact, I was badly hurt,while erecting a radio tower,for the Brownsville, broad—

casting Company,when a dope fiend, removed a safty bolt, causing the tower to fall
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wuth me,crushing my right ankle.

The Caster Bean Company,was an uncertain concern,owned by, Mr. Arthor Davis, of
the Aluminum Compeny of America,and managed by a Mr. Van Over, a would be chemist,who
was very uncertain,in his ideas. There was one thing he could dg,to perfection,and
that was to spend Mr. Davises money,which seemed to be alright with Mr. Davis.

He had some of the craziest ideas, I ever heard of. He was a nut,for buying old
machinery,and endevering to repalr it. He did not last long,however, being replaced
by a Hr. Mc Cuen, a drunken Lawyer from Washington D.C., who had no, cragzy ideas, in
fact,he had none at all, except for the consumption of hard liquor.

then Mr. Van Over bought my shop, he said,the price is alright,if you come,with it,
but if you dont, I dont want it.

After I went with them, they moved their plant,and were putiing up new buildings.

I designed,and supervised the construction of two,large buildings, thal were constru-
cted,entirely of two inch pipe, for tha frame work,:sided’and roofed with corrogated
asbestos sheets. All the pipe,was cut to correct apgles,and milled to an exact fit,
and electric welded. One,was for a manufactureing building, with shop Offices,and
the other, for caster bean storage,and a room for the extracting machinery.

Mr. Mc Cuen ask me to manufacture something, that coﬁld be readily sold. The idea
of this,was to have something for the men to do,while waiting for the bean business to
materialize. This was the first thing he had suggested, that had merit.

The only thing I lmew of,that could be sold,"localy" with any assurance,was iriga-
tion equipment. There was always a market,for pumps and pipe, 1f they were dependable.
I lmew,very well,the farmers would be pleased with a pump,they could move from place
to place,without the use of a derick. One that could be installed along the bank of
the River,and moved,after that particular piece of land had been irigated.for,the
Rio Grande, is subject to flash floods,thet cut into the bank,vhere that bank has been
dug into,and if the pump is left there,when one of these floods comes, it will be
washed away,and lost. The heavy,cast iron pumps,are hard to move,especialy,when they

. . ) .
have been set on a shelf,dug into the side of the bank,to get them near enough to the

water,to operate successfully. With this in mind, I designed a steel pump,that could
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be handled by two or three men. I designed two sizes, a six inch,and an eight
inch,which were the sizés mostly used in that section. The sale of pumps,creates a
market gor pipe,and foot valves. While I was in my own shop,l discovered,that the
spiral welded pipe,qas the most rugged,and had designed a machine, for, Porming: 11-
I had not used the machine long,when I received notice,from the Illinois Steel Co.
they had letters patentyon the design. I had never heard of it before,but I junked
it, and designer another one,on a differant pattern. The first one,formed the pipe,
by forcing the sheets , inside of a cylinder, while the last one, formed it, by wrap=-
ing it around a colapsible form. The latter,was much faster,and easier to handle.

g
This machine,had came with the shop,and was already to go.
I aranged the shop,for mass production of these articles,and started their meanuf-
acture.

Mr. Mc Cuen thought we should have a salesman,and hired a fellow,name, Dan Calvin,
to sell them. He got out, advertising material,some of which,I still have. He ask me
to build a demonstrating unit, so I made a portable outfit,consisting of a six inch
pump, powered by a V8, Ford engine, direct comnected to the pump, ; The whole outfit,
was mounted on an automoblle chases, that he could trail behind his car. It was tested
out,at the plant, very successfully.

All of this time,we were pilling up, pumps and pipe. I have hea?d it said, a mean
must know his product, before he may become an afficient salesmen. Dan, did not know
the first thing in the world,about pumps, pipe,foot valves, nor,for that matier;iriga=
tion.

This was during world war two, and I had some trouble getiting priorities. I make
three trips to San Antonio,trying to convince the Board,that irigation pumps,were

aggential to the war effort, and went to the mat with them, several times. If farm
products are not assential, what in this world, is?.
On my third trip,I ask one of the fellows,if there was any one in the Office,that knew
any thing about priorities,and he said, not that I kmow of, but followed that remark,
by saying, if you will go Alemo Iron Works,amd contact their priority man, he can

give you some pointers. I went there,and discovered their priority man,was a fellow

g
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I had knowm in Brownsville. He produced a blanlk priority request,filled in a fiéw
places,ask mé a fiew questions,and told me to take it to 2 éertain men,at the priority
’Office. I contact the gentleman he had mentioned,and was informed, that was all I
needed,exdept,they would require nine coppies of the origonal request. I went to a
public stenographer and had the nine‘coppies mede,handed them to the proper Official,
and I was all set, for all the meteridls I might need.

Thtee weeks-from the time;Dan had started his sales vampaign, I had sold,and deli-
vered two pumps,to patrons Lwho héd came to the Factory,to.buy them, togather,with pipe
elbows and foot valveé, I had sold,and deiivered five thousand feet of six inch, spiral-
welded pipe, the latter,to one man. Dan had sold nothing.

I suggested to Mr. Mc Cuen, he gek ano{her salesman, and he was very much put out,
over the suggestion. He told me, may be I thought I could do better. I told him there
was no doubt about that; It did not require a salesman,just some one to show the pumps
to the proper persons,and they would sell themselves.People do no{ know,there is such
a thing as a light weight pump on the market,ahd Dans main job,is to broadcast that
informationy, I knew why he did not like to hear any thing against Dan,;

There was no liquor,on the U.S., side of the River,and it must be smuggled across,
if one wanted it,and Dan was a past master at that.

The next day,Dan came to my Office,and we had quite a row,and when he ~went back to
the main O0ffice, Hc Cuen came out,and ordered the manufacture of pumps and pipe, dis=-
continued, untill séme of them,were sold,and suggested I\go up the Valley,and try my
luck,at that job,if I tﬁought it were so easy . I would find,the farmers ,don't want
them. I went out the next day,and came Back that evening,ﬁith orders for three U S,
and all the extras,that go with them. I was to stay at the Office,the next day,énd
make the deiiveries,és each of my customers,were to come to the plant,to get them.
so I stayed at the Office, made all the deliveries,and received the cash,fer-it.dll.

Ten days from the time I started selling,we were out of pumps,and almost out of
pipe. I had even, s0ld the demonstrating wnit, to a farmer who came to my home,%to see
if it were for sale. I %told him,it was,and the price,was $700.00 cash. The only arg-

ument he put up was,when can I get it?,and I went to the Factory and helped him load ite.
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Mf. McCuen had installed Dan,in the Office,as head book keeper ,where thare were no
béoks to keep,except the time,for my men,and that was handed in,each week, recorded in
a standard time book. The farm Manager, kept his own béoks,and there was a lady Steno.
in the office,with nothing to d§,but write a fiew letters,each week, for Mace |

After the pumps were all sold, Dan,informed Mr.lMc Cien, he had discovéred,l was
oﬁerating at a loss,and demanded my Books,to prove it.

My booke showed every purchas,and every item of expense of the shop, including the
effortis Dan had made,in the selling (if he made any). My salary was included,and I did
a great amount of work, outsidé the Factory,for the farm Manager.

This record is considered.excellén} if. & new busiﬁess is started, as a new business
often operates at a loss,therfirst six Months.

then my books came back; Dan did not bring them,but sent the 0fi'ice girl out with
them,and I think iﬁ was a wise thing for him to do,for if he had brought them, some one
wauld have been hurt. Every page in my books,was scratched ofer,with ea.seft lead pencil.
No ower could see, what had been iﬁ them. If I ever had an inclination to murder,it was
then. I suppose I should have sent them to Mr. Davis,which would have started an inv-
estagation of the whole affair, but I was so disgusted with the drunken ouffit, I thou-
ght it would be better,if I left them to their own devices,before there was sone trouble,
that would be hard to exlpain in Coﬁrt. There was no use trying to operate a business,
under such concditions. I knew I was manufactureing an article there ﬁas a great dem~-
aﬁd for, and at a profit,30 %. But,this was just a little too much,and I haided in,my
recognation.‘ The works,closed down,and the last I heard of Mr. Mc Cuen,he héd gone
back to Washington. Dan had perloined énough,from Mac, to buy a resoft,Hotel,in Port
kIsable. Had gone broke within three Months,and left the country, leaving his wife;
behind. She told me, she had not the slightest idea,where he was.

And, that was the and of a profitable business,which went to the dogs,because of

dishonesty, greed,and rot-gut whiskey. A business that was very much needed at the time.
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I had entended to retire,but when I went‘to the junior Clllege,to start Thomas,in
that institution,the Dean saw me,and ask me to come to the Office,with him.

They were starting a vererans trade School,and wanted me to teach the Mechanical
Engineering class. I had taught a night class,at the college ,and was aquainted with
most of the Faculty. They were erecting a new building,for the venture, that would
be finished,within a Month,and wereugetting the necessary machinery,from the Government.

I excepted their offer,and instead of retireing, I was back in the harness.,

vhen I first started,there were only two students,and the new buildingsnot being
completed, I held classes in the main building.

By the time the new building was completed, there were 32, in my class, they ranged,
from second graders,to College graduates. We did our practice woek,such as learning

to handle the various machines, Electric,and acetylihe welding, and bench work, in the
mew building, taking the class to the main building ,for a two hour session,in_drafting,
and trigonome%ry.

It was interesting work,and I liked it,very much. It was gratifying to note, how
egervthey were to learn. Most of them had been over seas,and knew the hard knocké
they would encountér,whén they faced the competition of the world. I had two,in my
class,that were enclined to make trouble,but I soon got rid of them,by sending them
to the Dean,with a secaled note,telling of their actions,but recomendingleinency.

T never saw either of them, again.

After Thomas finished the two years,in junior College,we were taking both of the
boys to College,and they had decided on Loyola University of the South, ay New Orleans,
ahd I was compelled to resign my position,at the Vererans School,and we all moved to
the Créscent City.

My Wife had suffered a stroke,a year before we left Brownsville, and had partialy
recovered,but was not able to do esny house work, so I took over that job,to the best
of my ability, for we all,knew,lother should dc no more than necessary, but no one,
could keep her quiet,very long at a time. Her Brother,lived with us, and he was in a
very bad phisical condition,requireing much care,and Mother thought,no one could do-ii

it,but she.
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VFThe boys took their Mother out in the car,a great deal,which seemed to gquiet her ..
nerves,to a great extent, but she did more than she should have.

We sent her Brother the Hospital,where he passed away, and we did not dare to tell
Mother about it. We made regular trips to the Hospital,the boys going in,making belie- .
ve they were visiting Osker,and when they would come out,they would give their Mother

a rotine report kaiodgxyof his supposed condition.
| Mother suffered another stroke,from which she never recovered, but lingered on,
suffering greatly,with the nervous condition. Naturely,we did every thing possible?
but.realy,there was not much we could do,except give her the loving care.she deserved.

The night of March the fourth, 1952, after being very restless,during the day,and
fore part of the night,finaly told me,she believed she could go to sleep, if i would
help her turn. She was gquiet,for a long time,;nd being very tired, I dropped off,to

sleep. When I awoke, I found that our Dear Wife,and Mother,had passed away,in her :l:
‘sleep. It was a great shock,notwithstanding the fact,we were expecting it.

We would miss her very much,but I think I am the one who missed her most,and still
do. The boys are young,and must have other interests in life,to claim their atten-
tione Their lives are ahead of them,vwhile my own,is in the past. but, there is one -
thought,thet penetrates the gloom, her suffering is over;:That is life,and we must take
the bitﬁer with the sweet.

The boys finished their School, both of them graduating,with Honors. I kept house
for them,until John married,

They entered the motion picture business,and I did the Ofiice work for them, until
Thomas entered the service of the New Orleans Item,and moved to . himself, after which,
John and I, operated the business, me doing £he developing,and keeping the books.

then they sold the business, I had nothing to do,and being tired of living alone,
and,with their consent, moved in,with John and Aline,where I still am.

John and Aline,have a little girl,who is,just past two,and a little boy,who will be
one year old,in November of tnis year ( 1958).

Ann and David,are a great comfert to me jand I love them,very muche

Thowmas 1s married,and is no longer,with the Item,that paper having terminated
g H H P p o ‘
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its publication, and he excepted a position,with the Wilmington Morning Star, in
‘Wilmington North Carolina,and moved his Femily there,the fifteenth of September.
Thomas merried a young Widow,who had two little girls,whom he adopted,and now,

they have a little boy,who was born, a year ago, last August the 23rd. He is a healthy

Val had 2-

little fellow,and they named him, Clyde Thomas II,which pleased me very muchs aAs
C’l"

I did not get to see them,as much as I would have liked, when they lived in Slidel,
)and now that they have moved so far away,I do not suppose I will see them for &
much longer times I am happy to know, they are,both happily married.

John,is teaching, at the Delgado Trade School,and doing special,Televission work,
for an advertising firm.While I have nothing to do,but sit here and write about my
past life, for those who will, Zs, read.-

I have left out,many things that have happened in my past life, thinking they
would not be interesting,to my readers,nor important,as amatter of history.

I have endeversd to chronical the more important things,as they appeal to me.
I believe I have lived through the most important,and interesting pericd in History,
masured by the progress of the human race.

This has surley been the Machine age. What the future holds, is the concern of
those who will live,in that futureWe have done our best,to leave a foundation,for
them to build on.

When I started life,the only way of creating artificial light,was by the use of
the tallow candle,or the wick lamp,that burned whale oil. This lamp,was a dish, some=-
thing like a gravy boat,with a wick protruding from the spout,and lighted at the end.
This gave a better light than the candle,but must be extinguished,before the oil was
) all burned,or it would stink, something awfull. When it was to be extinguished,it must
be pinched out, like snuffing out a candle,to keep it from smoking.

I have molded many tallow candles, using a six place mold. Placing the candle wick,
through the mold,heating the tallow,and pouring it into the molds,and after it was
cold, dip it into hot water,so the candles would slip out.

There were no kerocine lamps,until I was none or ten years old,for petrolium had not

been discovered,until recently,and the fefining process had not been perfected.

e
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While steam had been knowm as a power producer,for some time, it was not in general

use, axcept for a pumping engine,or an ocasional,steam boat. They were operated at such

low steam pressiire,that it required a manmouth machine;to produce a smell amount of

poweryand for thal reason,they were not easily portable. of course, wind, has been
used for powerysince pre-historic times, but it is not very well adapted for general
uses The only power that was portable,was animal power.
Water power was used for sawing lumber,and grinding grain into feed of flour.

This power was ildeal for sawing lumber,for it could be located,down stream from the
natural forests,and the logs floated down the stream,and recovered at the saw mill.

The first threshing mechine I knew of,was called the seperater,which was an improvem=—
ent,on the old chaff piler,vhich consisted of a cylinder,with teeth, passing between
other teeth, aranged in a concave,the threshed straw,chaff and grain,being thrown out,

obking it dbver o slatted floor,: The seperater attachment,

H

togather,and seperated,by
did all this work, by power. This power being derived from several horsed,hitched to

a niachine,called,the horse power,where the horses were hitched to a system of aweeps,
and traveling around and around,thamsmitting their power,through a system of gears.

In my youth, the harvesting of grain,was accomplished by an attachment to the mowing
machine,that held the grain,as it was cut,until there waes enough to make a bundle, and
was dropped where the man doing the binding,could pick it up. There must be, four men,
following the drop-rake,for it must be bound and trown out of the way,before the team
came around again. This device was followed by the Harvesting machine,which cut the
grain,and elevated it to a table,before two men.who were standing on a platform,attac-
hed to the machine. They would bind the grain,as it was elevated to them,and throw it
' off,and another man,following,would pick it up,and place it into shocks,so it would not
be damaged by the weather.

Then, came the wire binder,which bound the grain,with wire. This,was short lifed,for
the small pieces of wire,left in the straw,killed many cattle. It was soon followed, by
the twine binder,which was a success,from the start,

Shortly before my time,all harvesting had been done,with the cradle. There was an

old cradle,around the plage,when I was a boy,but I never saw it in use.
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They were like a sythe,with fingers‘aranged,on the snath;to catch the grain,as it was
cut,and carry it to the left,where it nwoﬁid be gathered up, by the binders.

Mother,had an old spinning wheel,also,but I never saw her use it.

Father told me,of harvesting grain with a cradle, for 25 cents per day, after the
Cival war, working 12 to 13 hours per day.

The machine age,was just begining,at that time,and inventions came very rapidly,
after that. It secmed,that one invention, gave some one an idea,for another.

At this tiﬁe,the steam locomotive,had became quite a machine,and was soon to be
.draging long trains, across the Contenent,in competition with the dusty freight wagons,
over the Union Pacific Rallway, west of the Missourl River, and pasinger trains,
consisting of a bagage car, one or two pasinger cars, a Soldiers car,they being
taken along,for a gard, and a car for the work cfew. This was not a pleasant trip,
but was far shead of the old wagon train,with its Indian fights,and massacres.

”These trainé were quite a puzel to the Indians,until they discovered,the train could
not ruvn,without a track. They caused much trouble,after that. The passage could be made,
in ten days,if there was not too much trouble. It sounds odd, now,but it was a great
accomplishment,for that time,

I remember.quite well, when there was a rail road built, from Gladbrook,to Liscomb,
a disteance of 20 miles. The Company ran out of money and credit,before they had bought
steel rails, or a locomotive, so they layed wooden rails,and used horses,to pull the
cars. There were no pasinger service, nothing but freight.

Later, they fastened steel strips onto the wooden rails,and obtained an old locomotive,
and starfed a pasinger service,and did quite well, until one of the steel strips, came
loose,and ran up,through one of the cars. There was no one hurt,for a wonder, but they
could get no one té fide with them,after that,and finaiy,gave up, the whole venture.

i am not making light of these things, they were wonderfull,and most of all, they
were the begining of biger and better things,to come.
When petrolium was discovered, it opened the way,to the greatest period of inventive

progress,the world has ever lmpwn. First, the way of lighting the night,by the use of
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kerocene lamp. Do not laugh, it was wonderfull. The idea of having a lamp,that
would turn a whole room of darkness, into dey light,was a pleasure to behold.

The steam engine,that had used nothing but tallow, to lubricate the inner paris of
the engine, could ﬁow have a lubricant made from petrolium,that would stand so much .
more heat, the engines:power could be tribbled, by higher steay pressure,snd hore:
speeds neither of these factors could be att;ined,when tallow was the only lubricant,
for both high steam pressure,and high speed, mean more heat,and tallow became usless,
as a lubricent, after the tempreture reached the point, of 400 degrees F. |

CAscvimprovements were made in machinery,as welllas the knowlege of refining the petr-
‘olium increased,there came the possibility of increasing speed,and pressure,until an
engine that would develop twently hspsepower,was no larger then its predecessor,that
could only develop a half horse powver,

Other machinery,that had had no£hing but vegetable oils for lubricant gould now,have

one that would legt ten *tinmes as long,ﬁould stand more hestand could bgaspde the right. con-
sistency,to serve the differant iypes of wmachinery.

Flour mills, that could be located on some stresm only, could now.be erected-at any
place that would be convenient for transportation, for the Corless engine nad came,
that,not only used the advantage of high steam pressure, gut.also used a condenser,
that csused the machine to operate under a practical vecum,thereby, taking advantage
of the netural expansion of the steam,and would develop a greatbdeal more power,with
a given amount of fuel,than had ever been dreamed of being possible.

As refining ﬁeohnique advensed, gasoline was produced. First,as a by-product, and
later,as the main product of the crude oil. This brought the gasoline engine.

Like. most, new discoveries,they were very crude,at the begining. No electric spark,
for ignition, but & hot tube, petruding through the wall of the cylinder,that must be
heated with a torch, before attempting té start the machine,and after it became hot,
if one had the luck to get the thing started, ﬁould stay hot, through the heat of the
explosion. There were no timing d;vices on them, bﬁt the pressure,caused By the piston,

would cause the mixture to explode.It was thought necessary,to have an expert,within

call,at all times. One great disadventage, was the very large size of the machines,

e
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required to obtain the desired amount of power. Exactly the same trouble,as had been
experienced with the first steam engines. But they were a start in the right direction,
and improvements,wgre sure to follow. Better methods of coocling, better methods of
ignition, hetter grades of gasoline and higher speeds, until the e¥%ceedingly high speed
of the present machines was reached, and the Areo plane,and the automobile,were the - =
results.

411 of these wonderfull things were bound to come, after the discovery of natures
great storehouse, of potential power, hiden below the surface of the earth.

This discovery. made véssible; -thedeveopuéiit ~of tthe ‘thousands of ddern
power plants, fram your little lawn mower, to the monstrous descel engines,that drive
the wheels of progress, thrdu@ﬁthe length and bredth of the world, and the end,is not
.yet,for now that men have discovered the attom,and the way to split it,who kmows,what
will be the result?. It seems, if the world will not explode,of it® own devices,
men,will endever to help that process along.

The latter sentence, is exectly the same remark. ,that iyag heared,at the begining
of every new discovery,and in my opinion,should be taken as falts prophesy.

I have lived to see tle passage from Europe to the western world, reduced in time,
from, six to eight weeks, to as meny hours, from the ox cart,to the hundred miles per
hour (plus) automobile. From the sweltering heat, indoors,to the air conditioned
domicile,that allows us to make the weather,as we wish it.

I believe,I have done my share of improvements, that were in line with my chozen
profession.

Life,as a whole, has been good. Yes, I have had my troubles,but I know of many
people who would have been glad,to have had as fiew. I have always enjoyed my worl,
andbelieve I chose the right profession,for me to have a happy life.

It heas agreed with me;for I am exceptionly healthy, for my age, and still enjoy
life,to the Ffullest. That is all there is, there may be more later,who knowse
P.S. This book was finished on October the twenty fifth, 1956.

I celebrated my ninteth enhiversary, the twenty seventh of last Month.

the end.
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APENDIX; Septe30the1959
Since I finished the book(this is my life)there have been many things hapen that
proved,this was nor all,of my 1ife; So II wlll endever to chronical some of those
hapenings.

On the fifteenth of June, 1958, the Delgado group of the Golq_en'_ age club,m'a.dee a
teip to po?ington;f_qr a pic:}xflo.. I was a member of that g?:oup,and was_Secretary of
ity On the bus,going over,there was & lLady sitting across from n':o,s.‘fll.pne‘._. I was also
alone,end the attendant npticed;_(the;.l. situat_ion and ask th_e L?.dy why ?he was _n"t ocupying
th‘a sea.t_ with that Gen'_tlema_ntl _‘.l‘hlo La.dy ;fepliad, she_ was not aq_uainted‘ wi}:h him,and
did'nbt sit with strangers,but,{ha attenand seld,this will not _t_l_o,'a‘t_.__ai_l,‘and ask my
whet my neme was, and when I told her,she literaly,dragred the good Lady to my seat,
and introduced use.

We spent the entire day, togather,and when I left the bus,at -t.hg‘ west and section,
I told her,we will meet again,end got her ‘address. I was going to write her,but
unfortunately,I lost the address. Some time later,one of our nnrtual friends,gave a
lunchen party,end invited both of us, Elda arived at the party fira_'l'._,_and when I
arived,she came ‘o meet im’@a (she telle me)I put my arm around her and gav;a_ her
a loving kissy 1 ahouj.d have Ii:ad: my face alapped,.t'or my famili_a.:"i_ty,btxt._mda,did
not seem to mimd it at all,

.m-aoEld@ Clegg, lived _ﬂth_. one of her Grand Daughterg,in Jaclafﬂor; m.sstiagippi.

We corresponded for_eorﬂo time,and it seemed,we were very congonial,_and when I
proposed marriage,she excepteds

The Mississirpi law,provides,there must be three fays,after __o!atainitig:_'l?ho license,
and peforming the _marrj.agotperemom',but the good Judge,sispended the rules,and
we were married,the a@ day,which was January the eighth, 19594

That evening,l ¢alled my Club,and told them we would not be there,because we
were so tierdybut the-élub Présideht,said we must come,if we had to coui'e' in an

'ambulance, B0 we mua-terdenough courage to take a taxi,and gos



They had aranged a beautifull recetion for us,withca lovely weding cake,with all
the trimings;inélﬁdiﬁg'a‘ statue of the Bride end i}x;oom,and\ we received the good
wishes of the entire%asembly. It was a great hon;.\_r,'ﬁnd' e were’ very much §leaaed.

The next Bunday.John and Aline (my Son and his Wifg) ask us to attend a diner,in
honor,and thare ua.a 'y crowd ‘there who' gave us a li.vely rnception.

We spent’ the’ naxt week, 1ookin,g for a place to live, and ﬁnaly found it,at. 5580
Layrel at}aet. | MOTT Quuit GIFFLG L S R0 U IR e T e

There is & oa:' poi-'t'ibe"aide the house,which 1s perfect,for a hobby shop,which I
must have, for Tbmstkeep busy, I &n hald.i:g'.doll furniture,at the freaaﬁt time, for
the Christmas trade,”

Elda and I,have & lovely home,end neither of us would go back %o single blessedn
under and circumstances,for we are iery haﬁpy. and nothing could part us but death,

We hfaxe' had mawt honors hesto’wed: on 'uﬁ;be'cnu'éia of 'ou'r' advs.'nc'e‘d age,

We ‘were :'a.'"s.lc' to stand and be fecog:ai;sbd: béf‘ore 'a‘ c'oﬁgregatipp 6? more then a thow
people,at i-bh.-e ffi};t Bij:tiat 'bhdrbh; and feceived a gro&tﬁ mﬁbﬁ;&

The Neu Orﬁ.eans Recreation Depart.ment, sent a man, to “take our pictures and they
were puhlinhod 1n 'l;..b.e local pa.per,a.nd we received copies of ‘the orig,onal photos

My birth dahr occurad.the 27th,of Septmbar (last Smday)and our Minister Tecogni
us,end annonced to the congroglation,tha}t I was ninty dne years gld,‘but ‘said ‘nothin,
about Elds,who isonly seventy six,end not old emough to be 8 curiosity, -

The Scott ‘group of the Golden Agers,ask us to attend their meeting,on Tuesday,
last,and we recoived a big..ovation from them.and the Delgado Group,who were in-
atiandaﬁce',’tvritlﬁjtﬁe-{scotﬁ grouﬁ{.'

Mey "b‘a,’twé are fdt-:liali.btit we like it,and I ‘am of “the opinion,that any one,would.

Glydn and Eld’ai




